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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 Name and Address 

 

The Issuer’s full corporate name is “EA Education Group Inc.” and its addresses are as follows:  

 

Head Office and Mailing Address:  3190 Steeles Avenue East, Unit 305, 

Markham, Ontario 

L3R 1G9 

Registered and Records Office: 
 

Suite 1780, 400 Burrard Street, 

Vancouver, British Columbia  

V6C 3A6 

 

2.2 Incorporation 

 

The Issuer was incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under 

the name “1156261 Ontario Inc.” on November 21, 1995. The Issuer changed its name to “Croesus Gold 

Inc.” on July 19, 1996, and continued into British Columbia pursuant to the Business Corporations Act 

(British Columbia) on November 17, 2006 under the name “Croesus Gold Inc.”. 

 

On June 20, 2008, the Issuer changed its name to “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.” (“Kenieba”) that was listed 

on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading symbol “KEN”. Its principal business at 

the time was to acquire, explore and develop mineral property. 

 

On February 18, 2015, Kenieba acquired 100% ownership of EA Education Group Inc. (“EAEG 

PrivateCo”) by issuing 120,000,000 common shares to the shareholders of EAEG PrivateCo. This 

resulted in the previous shareholders of EAEG PrivateCo obtaining control of the combined entity and 

constituted a reverse takeover. Subsequent to the acquisition, on February 19, 2015, Kenieba changed its 

name to “EA Education Group Inc.” and on July 30, 2015 continued into the federal jurisidiction under 

the Canada Business Corporations Act and thereafter amalgamated with EAEG PrivateCo Issuerretaining 

the name “EA Education Group Inc.” and its stock symbol from in CSE changed from “KEN” to “EA”. 

 

The Issuer provides international educational services. The address of the Issuers’s corporate office and 

principal place of business is 3190 Steeles Avenue East, Unit 305, Markham, Ontario, L3R 1G9.  

 

2.3 Inter-Corporate Relationships 

 

The Issuer has a 100% owned subsidiary – EA International Education Co., Limited. . 

 

2.4 Fundamental Change or Proposed Acquisition 

 

The Issuer is expanding its education based business to include e-commerce branches of its education 

based business which does not involve any fundamental change or proposed acquisition. 

 

2.5 Non-Corporate Issuers and Issuer Incorporated Outside of Canada  

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer as it is a Canadian federal company.  
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3. General Development of the Business 
 

3.1 General Development 

 

2015 to 2018 

 

EA has historically delivered to international students (all of which are from China and most of them are 

teenagers) certain advisory and complimentary services that assists them to undertake and improve their 

education experiences in both China and Canada. These historical EA services have been focused on: 

 

(a) The student‐housing services offered in Toronto for international students staying in the Great 

Toronto Area and elsewhere in Canada. 

(b) Education program & services that has provided off-campus education programs  through 

opportunities for junior and senior high school students in China to explore and expand their 

career interests, English skills and knowledge related to Canadian culture and education system 

and help them prepare for their future oversea studies. 

(c) Educational and cultural exchange conferences/events/camps in Canada that aim to promote 

international education and culture exchange between Canada and China. 

 

EA has established a new business product – Education Blockchain E-Commerce (“EBEC”) – to actively 

pursue a new blockchain‐based growth strategy, through the creation of an education platform (the 

“Education Platform”) that will provide a link between service providers and users/customers across the 

education industry in North American and Asia. 

 

EA’s founders are Mrs. Wen (Wendy) Xu and her husband Mr. Weidong (Tony) Wang  (collectively, the 

“EA Founders”). 

 

Both of them will be instrumental to the operations of the EBEC business and serve in executive and 

management capacities. 

 

3.2 Significant Acquisition 

None. 

 

3.3 Trends 

 

As of the date of the Listing Statement, the Issuer plans on developing its business in the private 

education market, as described under the heading “Narrative Description of the Business” as well as any 

other schools or businesses it may acquire from time to time. The financing and development of the 

Issuer’s proposed business is subject to a number of factors, including laws and regulations in the areas of 

taxation, permitting and others, hiring qualified people, and obtaining necessary services in jurisdictions 

where the Issuer operates.  The current trends relating to these factors are favourable but could change at 

any time and negatively affect the Issuer’s operations and business. Please refer to “Narrative Description 

of the Business” for risk factors affecting the Issuer.  Other than as disclosed herein, the Issuer is not 

aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events which are reasonably likely to have a 

material effect on the Issuer’s business financial condition or results of operations. 

 

4. Narrative Description of the Business 

4.1 General  

(1) Issuer’s Business 
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The Issuer's principal business is to begin by serving the education industry by building an e-commerce 

platform to:  

 

 Create an international education community e‐commerce platform (the “Education Platform” or 

the “Platform”) to allow the seamless connection between merchants, agents, educators, students 

and others to buy and sell services. 

 The Education Platform can timestamp and watermark contracts, agreements and any piece of 

intellectual property or cryptocurrency. 

 Embed and execute smart contracts on a blockchain basis. 

E-Commerce Market – China 

The China General Chamber of Commerce, the Expert Committee of the China General Chamber of 

Commerce, and Fung Business Intelligence together released the report on “Ten Highlights of China’s 

Commercial Sector 2018”. 

 

The ten highlights forecast for 2018 are as follows: 

 

1. A key principle of China’s 19th Party Congress: China’s distribution industry to evolve from big 

to strong; aims to meet people's desire for a better life through innovation and transformation; 

 

2. New commercial input and innovation sustains consumer market growth; technology brings smart 

advantages; 

 

3. Business innovations become evident, embracing “New Retail” strategies to attract consumers; 

 

4. Artificial intelligence facilitates the creation of new retail formats; smart business models become 

the next digital frontier; 

 

5. Convenience stores see robust growth; technological innovation a key driving force; 

 

6. Distribution sector supply chain integration: leading to optimal supply demand matching, national 

supply‐side structural reform; 

 

7. Rural areas become a new powerhouse for e‐commerce growth; e‐commerce plays a larger role in 

agricultural upgrading, alleviating rural poverty; 

 

8. Demand for localized lifestyle services surge; growth rate far exceeds consumer goods 

consumption; 

 

9. Physical retail market rebounds; transformation and innovation are imperative for the future of 

China’s commercial sector; and 

 

10. Digitization facilitates transformation and upgrade of China’s agricultural produce wholesale 

markets, with electronic clearing and settlement systems.  

 

 

 

Blockchain is the technology driving the next revolution in education by removing institutional and 

financial barriers. This is the idea behind the Platform that aims to provide agents, service providers, 
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merchants, learners and teachers with a flexible educational hub where they can directly connect, plan and 

confirm services. 

The Platform uses blockchain, the distributed ledger technology that enables operations and exchange of 

digital assets without the need for gatekeepers and intermediaries. Blockchain enables the Platform to 

remove parties and systems and institutions that stand between merchants, students and service providers. 

Removing such traditional intermediates will reduce intermediary fees considerably, which means that 

customers and students will pay less for their education and merchants will earn more. But more 

importantly, there won’t be any party to impose rules on how parties can share their knowledge and 

expertise, and how students can secure educational services and/or programs. This is especially important 

when you globalize education, because many learners can’t conform to the requirements imposed by 

higher educational institutions in other countries. The result is an ecosystem involving the sharing of 

services and knowledge. The business model is centered around the following: 

The Issuer will be engaged in the business of providing its own proprietary blockchain transaction 

platform (the Education Platform) – via its on-line E-Commerce model – so as to facilitate EA’s 

education-based members (“EA Members”) the opportunity to be able to purchase and/or sell trusted 

products and services to EA Members either online or offline. 

The Issuer’s principal initial market will be China and will, therefore, be a solution for EA Members the 

emerging convergence between online education and the traditional offline educational marketplaces. The 

EA Founders and management plan to have many trade shows, conferences and corporate seminars to 

recruit consumers via education agents and service agents as its base. 

The Issuer plans to target and invite as many successful entrepreneurial-type business people and strategic 

partners – i.e., merchants - as possible to build out the operations model in three phase (see page 8 

diagram); after which, to expand this throughout all regions of China. The Issuer will support each 

customer using its management experience and online e-commerce Platform. 
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The Issuer will develop a massive database of services that education users (e.g., students and teachers) 

will be able to browse to find the items they need. This database is stored in the Cloud to optimize speed 

and accessibility. The Education Platform will use artificial intelligence algorithms to quickly peruse the 

data and find the best solution for each user. In addition, service providers and users and customers will 

be able to remotely coordinate terms and conditions and payment processes that will use smart contracts, 

software that runs on blockchain and obviates the need for centralized application servers. Every service 

will become a smart contract. At the beginning education service merchants will provide services and 

users will deposit payments from their EBEC Education Wallet (the “Wallet”) to the smart contract. 

After the service is delivered or completed (or based on the agreed terms) the smart contract automatically 

releases funds to the Wallet. Every completed service and payment transaction is stored on the blockchain 

with minimal fees involved. Without educational institutions or other middlemen standing in the middle, 

the Education Platform will need a mechanism to make sure users receive the quality service they expect. 

This is where blockchain’s transparency can help. 

Blockchain  records  are  immutable  and  public,  which  serves  as certification for education service 

merchants and users. Users earn an undeniable proof of having received a good/service while merchants 

and providers develop brand awareness from the services they perform on the Education Platform, all 

transparently available on the blockchain. Blockchain also prevents the creation of forged documents and 

certificates and gives users and third‐party auditors a chance to review the background of all service 

providers. 

(b)  Significant Events/Milestones   

 

The critical objectives of the Issuer over the twelve and twenty-four months following the re-listing of the 

Issuer on the CSE are outlined below: 

 

The objectives that the Issuer expects to accomplish using its estimated working capital as at June 30, 

2018, and other Offering to undertake the following milestones: 

 

1. Build-out Education Platform. By July 30, 2018, completed project planning, team building and 

establishment of the Platform. By October 31, 2018, complete the Education Platform technology 

development and internal testing. Cost: $200,000. Complete when possible. 

 

2. Achieve invitation of ten (10) regional/city agency investment and fifty (50) promotion agents. 

Complete when possible. Cost: $10,000. 

 

3. Launch the Education Platform. Secure the target group of initial one‐hundred (100) educational 

merchants and the first group of services/products offering. Complete when possible. Cost: 

$10,000. 

 

4. Adjust and Stabilize the Education Platform. Complete when possible. Cost: $10,000. 

 

5. Setup and Outfit Support Facility regarding the Education Platform. Complete when possible. 

Cost: $10,000. 

 

6. Registration of 10,000 members/consumers. Complete when possible. Cost: $10,000. 

 

7. Expand total number of merchants with more available services/products (region and category) 

and get more than registration members/users. Complete when possible. Cost: $10,000. 

 

8. Expand and enhance Smart Contract work. Complete when possible. Cost: $20,000. 
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9. Expand Joint Venture with Payment Processor. Complete when possible. Cost: $20,000. 

 

(c) Total Funds Available 

 

As of February 28, 2018, the Issuer had a working capital deficiency of $ 37,081. 

 

(d) Principal Uses of Funds 

The Issuer’s estimated working capital to be as at June 30, 2018, is intends to use the funds available as 

follows: 

 

Notes: 

(1) The estimated general and administrative costs for the next 12 months are as follows: 

 

Wages $40,000 

Professional Fees $20,000 

Administrative Fees  $20,000 

Management Fees $60,000 

Maintenance $10,000 

Total G&A $150,000 

The Issuer estimates that its current working capital will fund operations for at least 12 months. 

The estimated total capital and operating costs necessary for the Issuer to achieve its business 

objectives for the next 12 months is $500,000. 

Principal Purpose  

Education Platform $200,000 

Build-Out Services/Agency Groups   10,000 

Launch Education Platform – Secure Initial Merchants   10,000 

Adjust/Stabilize Education Platform   10,000 

Set-up and Outfit Support Facility 10,000 

Registration of Initial Education Platform Members/Users   10,000 

Expand number of Merchants and Members/Users   10,000 

Enhance/Expand Smart Contracts 20,000 

Establish Joint Venture with payment processor 20,000 

Capital market costs              0 

12 month estimated general and administrative costs (1)    150,000 

Unallocated working capital      50,000 

Total 

...................................................................................................... 

     $500,000 
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 (2) Services Offerings 

 

The Education Platform will source relevant products and services and will work to provide a 

downstream set of services to users – both online and offline. The Issuer aims to become the dominant 

provider of an integrated education-based and online specialty business. We will use social, corporate and 

our eCommerce platform to facilitate merchants/membership growth and transactions in various vertical 

marketplaces. The primary focus is to provide a secure and diverse environment that allows EA Members 

and users to come together to enhance the efficiency of buying and selling of educational related services 

and products. 

Our Education Platform is one of our technology platforms that, when coupled with our expertise and 

services, integrates and links together three critical areas that make up effective user and merchant 

recruitment and marketing programs – i.e., effective prospecting tools, management tools and full product 

marketing and distribution. Hence, our Platform will be a full service management provider tool focused 

on enhancing our customers and merchants and strategic partners to connect together. 

We plan to combine state-of-the-art online and eCommerce technology blockchain systems with revenue 

generating merchants/customers to create a high level of interactivity between our users and suppliers. 

We plan to help our clients create connections, build relationships and establish revenue streams where 

none previously existed. We will stay ahead by listening and being responsive to our clubs, chapters and 

membership, by subscribing to constant innovation, by sharply focusing our collective knowledge, 

expertise and passion of our people as well as truly believing in our corporate mission and vision. We 

believe that our Education Platform will be one of the most effective on the market. Our technology – and 

our business model – will create a paradigm shift which will revolutionize the way users interface to 

education providers. Our systems and solutions will also be socially and business-friendly and will better 

interface to merchants so as to provide users better products, at better prices, faster and with more 

information regarding their own products/services. We are also planning to create a specialized incentive- 

based purchasing platform where members can belong to it and then their purchasers and services (which 

are recorded through our Platform) may earn them extra incentives. This will enable EA to track all 

customer purchases and to better integrate all of our suppliers and will provide certain active members bonuses 

and incentives. The Education Platform users can place requests for specific educational services (e.g., courses) 

and match them with resources (e.g., teachers) directly to requests. 

This can be any type of service such as a short introductory session about quantum physics or a complete 

months‐long class about object‐oriented programming. We can arrange both online and in‐person courses. 

 (3) Production and Sales 

 

EA has started to develop a series of unique education platforms that can help most merchants to users 

and organizations with their educational initiatives, through fully integrating online and offline channels 

together. We plan to be a world leader in integrating users and merchants in with new media blockchain 

platform within our enhanced marketing system that enables complete, secure, interactive solutions. 

This education e-commerce model can solve one of the problems lying ahead as technological 

developments continue to transform our world. As the automation of human labor picks pace, old 

education models might no longer be able to respond to the needs of constantly changing economies. For 

instance, by the time you earn a four‐year higher education degree, much of the knowledge and skills you 

acquire might have become obsolete because advances in artificial intelligence might have automated a 

huge chunk of the work you’re learning to do. We’ll be needing models that will enable people to learn in 

small and quick increments. 
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 (4) Competitors 
 

NTOK-X, Rita, Latvia. This firm is the world’s first ecosystem for tokenizing talents and sharing 

experience in the EdTech arena. This firm states that NTOK-X is more than an educational platform. 

That’s the trend of getting skills, investing in education and crowdfunding. We cover the whole process 

from basic peer- to-peer lessons to investing in the most prospective talents and personal development. 

With the help of NTOK-X infrastructure you can launch your personal Token Sale and raise funds for any 

purpose that increases your potential, earn money by sharing your experience and learn something new 

from ecosystem members. 

 

ODEM, Chiasso, Ticino, Switzerland. This firm claims that it is creating the first of its kind global, 

decentralized education market place and platform to deliver complete end-to-end custom education 

programs and experiences. On the ODEM platform, anyone can list, discover, and book unique education 

experiences around the world. 

 

Udemy, Inc., San Francisco, California, United States. In 2010, Udemy was founded with a mission to 

democratize education. Udemy is an open, online marketplace where anyone can upload and sell a class. 

Most classes range in price from $20 to $100 and teach saleable skills, like iOS app developing or how to 

use Excel. There is real money to be made with a good class. Some sell more than 150,000 enrollments. 

 

Aside from taking a commission on its marketplace sales, Udemy has also become a platform for 

corporations to create customized training courses. This stream of revenue -- from clients such as 

Goldman Sachs ‐ ‐  has set Udemy apart from other online learning sites, like the non-profit Khan 

Academy, and propelled its rise in the EdTech world. 

 

Coursera, Mountain View, California, United States. Coursera is an online education company that serves 

over 20 million registered learners by partnering with 140 of the world’s best universities and education 

institutions. On Coursera, anyone, anywhere can access over 1,000 online courses and Specializations in 

dozens of fields in order to achieve meaningful career, educational, and personal enrichment goals 

throughout their lives 

 

 

(5) Lending Operations 

 

Not applicable. 

 

(6) Bankruptcies, Receiverships and Similar Proceedings 

The Issuer has not been involved in any bankruptcies, receiverships or similar proceedings within the 

most recently completed financial years. 

 

(7) Restructuring Transactions 

 

The Issuer not been involved in any material restructuring transactions within the three most recently 

completed financial years. 

 

 

(8) Social or Environmental Policies Fundamental to Operations 

None. 
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4.2 Companies with Asset Backed Securities 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

4.3 Issuers with Mineral Exploration Projects 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

4.4 Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

5. Selected Financial Information  

5.1 Annual Information 

The following tables set out certain selected financial information of the Issuer for the periods indicated. 

Please refer to  management’s discussion and analysis attached hereto as Schedule “B” for a full 

discussion of the data, including, among other matters, the comparability of data and changes in 

accounting policies. 

 

 Six Months Ended 

February 28, 2018 

($)  

Year Ended 

August 31, 2017 

($)  

Year Ended 

August 31, 

2016 ($)  

Year Ended 

August 31, 

2015 ($)  

Revenues  $309,391 $816,964 $1,178,207 $1,606,346 

Net Income (Loss)  $ (267,235)  $ (912,814)  $ (1,460,477)  $ (2,013,909)  

Basic & Diluted 

Income (Loss) per 

share  

($0.00) ($0.01) ($0.01) ($0.02) 

Total Current 

Assets 
$ 869,665 $447,948 $1,274,112 $2,414,686 

Total Assets  $ 883,599  $ 1,246,585  $2,339,877  $ 3,197,502  

Total Current 

Liabilities  
$906,746 $1,000,456 $1,179,943 $875,576 

Long Term 

Liabilities  

Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil  

Working Capital 

(deficit)    
$ (37,081) $ (552,508)  $ 94,169  $ 1,539,110  

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for years ended August 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 

are attached hereto as Schedule A.  The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

  

 

5.2 Quarterly Information 

The following table summarizes information derived from the Issuer’s financial statements for the each of 

the eight most recently completed quarters: 



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
June 2, 2018 

Page 12 

Quarter 

Ended  
Feb 28 Nov 30 Aug 31 May 31 Feb 28 Nov 30 Aug 31 May 31 

Year  2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 

Income  $ 155,732 $ 153,659 $ (13,448) $ 267,877 $260,599 $ 301,936 $ 211,823 $ 226,560 

Net 

Income 

(Loss)  

$(145,972) $(123,174) $(421,493) $(159,737) $(176,443) $(130,941) $(942,599) $(337,716) 

Basic & 

Diluted 

Income 

(Loss) 

per share  

$ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $( 0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) $ (0.00) 

 

The unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the six months period 

ended February 28, 2018 is attached hereto as Schedule A.  The financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with IFRS. 

5.3 Dividends 

 

Although there are no restrictions on the Issuer’s ability to pay dividends, the Issuer has not paid any 

dividends in the past and has no plans to pay dividends in the immediate or foreseeable future as it is in 

the development stage.  

 

5.4 Foreign GAAP 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer.  

 

6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 

6.1 Annual MD&A 

 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the Issuer for the audited years ended August 

31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “B”. The MD&A should be 

read in conjunction with the Issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended August 

31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 together with the notes thereto, which are incorporated by reference and 

attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “A”. 

 

 

6.2 Interim MD&A 

 

The MD&A of the Issuer for the unaudited financial period ended February 28, 2018 are attached to this 

Listing Statement as Schedule “B”. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Issuer’s unaudited 

condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the financial period ended February 28, 2018, 

together with the notes thereto, which are incorporated by reference and attached to this Listing Statement 

as Schedule “A”. 

 

7. Market for Securities 

 

The Issuer’s shares are listed for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the trading symbol 

“EA”.  
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8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 

The capitalization of the Issuer consists of 174,256,868 common shares issued and outstanding with with 

no share purchase warrants or incentive stock options outstanding. 

 

9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 

As of the date hereof, there were nil outstanding options to purchase securities of the Issuer.  

 

 Number of Common Shares underlying 

Options
(1)

 

Options held by executive officers, directors, past 

executive officers and past directors of the Issuer as a 

group  

Nil 

Options held by executive officers, directors, past 

executive officers and past directors of all subsidiaries of 

the Issuer as a group  

Nil 

Options held by all other employees or past employees 

of the Issuer, as a group  
Nil 

Options held by all other employees or past employees 

of the subsidiaries of the Issuer, as a group 
Nil 

Options held by all consultants of the Issuer, as a group  Nil 

Options held by any other person or company, including 

any underwriters 
Nil 

 

10. Description of the Securities 
 

10.1 Description of Capital 

The authorized capital of the Issuer consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

The holders of the common shares are entitled to vote at all meetings of shareholders of such common 

shares, to receive dividends if, as and when declared by the directors and to participate rateably in any 

distribution of property or assets upon the liquidation, winding-up or other dissolution of the Issuer.  The 

common shares carry no pre-emptive rights, conversion or exchange rights, or redemption, retraction, 

repurchase, sinking fund or purchase fund provisions. There are no provisions requiring the holder of 

common shares to contribute additional capital and no restrictions on the issuance of additional securities 

by the Issuer.  There are no restrictions on the repurchase or redemption of common shares by the Issuer 

except to the extent that any such repurchase or redemption would render the Issuer insolvent. 

 

10.2 Debt Securities 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

10.3 Not applicable 

 

10.4 Other Securities 

 

This section is not applicable to the Issuer. 

 

10.5 Modification of Terms 
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(a) Alterations to Rights of Common Shares 

 

The rights and restrictions attached to common shares of the Issuer may be modified, amended or varied 

by special resolution of the shareholders, unless otherwise specified in the Canadian Business 

Corporations Act. 

 

(b) Other Methods of Modifying Rights of Common Shares 

 

None. 

 

10.6 Other Attributes 

 

No other class of securities ranks ahead of the common shares of the Issuer, nor are the rights attached to 

the common shares materially limited or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities.  

 

The Issuer is permitted, pursuant to its articles, to purchase or otherwise acquire any of its shares at the 

price and upon the terms determined and authorized by its directors. No such purchase or acquisition of 

shares may occur if the Issuer has reasonable grounds for believing it is insolvent, or may become 

insolvent if such purchase or acquisition is made. If the Issuer purchases or acquires any of its common 

shares and holds them, the Issuer is not permitted to vote the shares at any shareholder’s meeting, pay a 

dividend in respect of those shares or make any other distribution in respect of those shares. 

 

10.7 Prior Sales 

 

Within 12 months prior to the date of this Listing Statement, the Issuer issued no common shares 

10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

 

The table below provides the monthly or partial monthly average high and low prices and the total trading 

volume of the common shares from May 31, 2017 to June 1, 2018: 

 

Date Close Total Volume Traded 

Partial month of  June 2018  $0.025 N/A 

Quarter ended May 31, 2018 $0.025 52,050 

Quarter ended February 28, 2018 N/A N/A 

Quarter ended November 30, 2017 N/A N/A 

Quarter ended August 31, 2017 N/A N/A 

 

11. Escrowed Securities 

 

As of the date hereof, the Issuer did not have any of its common shares subject to escrow restrictions. 

 

 

12. Principal Shareholders  
 

At the closing, to the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Issuer, the following persons 

beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over, common shares carrying 

more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the securities of the Issuer:  
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Principal Shareholder 

Name 

Ownership Number of Shares 

Owned 
(1) 

Percentage 

of Shares 

Owned 
(1) 

Wen Xu Of Record 72,000,000 41.32% 

Weidong Wang Of Record 28,800,000 16.53% 

Notes 

(1) Based on a total issued and outstanding of 174,256,868  common shares 

To the knowledge of the Issuer, none of its voting securities are held, or are to be held, subject to any 

voting trust. 

To the knowledge of the Issuer, no principal shareholder is an associate or affiliate of another person or 

company named as a shareholder. 

 

13. Directors and Officers 
 

13.1 Name, Address, Occupation and Security Holdings 

The following table sets out the names of the anticipated directors and officers of the Issuer following the 

closing of the proposed Transaction and Concurrent Financing, the province or state, and country in 

which each is ordinarily resident, all offices of the Issuer held by each of them, their principal occupations 

and the number of common shares of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned by each, 

directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised.  

 
Name, 

Municipality of 

Residence, Position 

with the Issuer and 

Date First 

Appointed 

Principal Occupation During Last Five Years Number of 

common 

shares held 

in the 

Issuer 
(1) (2) 

Percenta

ge of 

Class 

Held or 

Controlle

d
 (1) 

 

Wen Xu 

North York, ON 

Chair of Board, 

President and 

Director 

February 18, 2015 

Director and Chair of the board of EAEG since February 

2012; Chair of Jiuding Education Inc. from August 2010 to 

February 2012; CEO of Ji An Chang Sheng Real Estate 

Development Inc. from January 2007 to August 2010.  

72,000,000 41.32% 

Weidong Wang 

North York, ON 

CEO and Director 

February 18, 2015 

Director and Chief Executive Officer of EAEG since July 

2013; Director and Chief Executive Officer of Hong Kong 

Cool See International Group from 2009 to 2013. 

28,800,000 16.53% 

Zu (Michael) Zheng 

Scarborough, ON 

Director 

February 18, 2015 

Executive Director of Skyone International Securities 

Corporation, a boutique Canadian consulting firm, since 

January 2009.  Prior to founding Skyone, he served as the 

deputy head of research and director of QFII team at 

Shanghai-based Haitong Securities Co., Ltd.  

Nil  N/A 
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Simon Tam 

Hong Kong, China 

Director  

August 22, 2006,   

President (June 4, 

2007 to June 27, 

2014) 

Simon Tam has been a businessman since 1986 and is 

President of Elite Vantage Development Ltd., a management 

consulting company since 2004;  Director of DGS Minerals 

Inc. since September 2007 and President since January 2008; 

President, CEO and Director of E-Energy Ventures Inc. 

since May 2005; Director of Gem International Resources 

Inc. since August  1996; President, CEO and Director of 

North American Potash Developments Inc. since November  

2008; Director of Quanta Resources Inc. since February 

2009 and President since February 2009; Director of 

Rochester Resources Ltd. since April  2009; Director of 

United Coal Holdings Ltd. since May 2006; Director of 

Xemplar Energy Corp. from August  2006 to April  2013; 

and Director and President of Xenex Minerals Ltd. since 

June 21, 2007. 

Nil N/A 

Stan Grunzeweigh 

Maple, ON, 

Director 

July 6, 2015 

Mr. Grunzeweig is a Director at Skyone International 

Securities Corporation, an Investor Relations Firm for 

Financial Communications, Listing Services, M&A and 

Media portal for Mining Data and News.  Services include: 

Venture Capital Introductions in Canada and China, 

Translations, Events and workshops. Mr. Grunzeweig 

worked at the TMX Group, Global Capital markets for 

Toronto Stock Exchange for 7 years. Mr. Grunzeweig 

launched a TMX event in Shanghai to assist Chinese 

companies and Chinese institutional investors to explore 

financing and trading opportunities to Canada’s Toronto 

Stock Exchange. In 2010, TSX First Capital Markets 

Seminar in Shanghai attracted 165 financial Chinese firms 

including banks, investment companies, and Securities firms 

using the services of Skyone International. Mr. 

Grunzeweig’s prior experience includes 12 years in Sales 

Management of real-time access of marketable securities, 

foreign exchange and treasury data, and back-office trading 

platforms, at Dow Jones-Telerate (Owned by Thomson 

Reuters). 

 

Nil N/A 

Yongbiao (Winfield) 

Ding 

North York, ON 

CFO 

April 29, 2016 

Mr. Ding is a chartered professional accountant of Ontario 

working mainly as board director and officer of public and 

private companies. He currently is a director and Chairman 

of Audit Committee of Changfeng Energy Inc. and CFO of 

Sparton Resources Inc. In the last few years he served as 

CFO for a number of other TSXV public companies. He is 

an MBA graduate from the Chinese University of Hong 

Kong. 

Nil N/A 

(1) Assumes no exercise of outstanding share purchase warrants.  Includes shares held directly and indirectly.  Based on an 

issued and outstanding of *** shares. 

(2) The shareholding amounts are as reported by the respective individual and as to be reported on the System for 

Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (www.SEDI.ca) 
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13.2 Term of Directorship 

The term of office of each of the present directors expires at the Issuer’s next Annual General Meeting. 

Each director elected or appointed will hold office until the next annual general meeting of the Resulting 

Issuer or until his or her successor is elected or appointed, unless his or her office is earlier vacated in 

accordance with the Articles of the Resulting Issuer or with the provisions of the CBCA. 

 

13.3 Voting Interest of Directors and Officers as a Group 

 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, as a group, the directors and officers of the Issuer hold an 

aggregate of 100,800,000 common shares of the Issuer, representing 57.85% of the issued and 

outstanding common shares in the Issuer.  

 

13.4 Board Committees 

 

The only committee of the board of directors of the Issuer is the audit committee.  The Issuer’s audit 

committee is comprised of Wen Xu, Zu Zheng and Simon Tam.  Mr. Zheng and Mr. Tam are independent 

members of the audit committee.  Wen Xu is not independent due to her position as senior officers of the 

Issuer or its subsidiaries.  All members are considered to be financially literate. 

 

13.5 Principal Occupation of Directors and Officers 

 

Other than as disclosed herein, no director or officer of the Issuer has a principal occupation as a director 

or officer of a company other than the Issuer. 

 

Name of Director or Officer  Name of Other Reporting Issuer 
   

Simon Tam   Dragon Legend Entertainment (Canada) Inc. 

E-Energy Ventures Inc. 

Kaymus Resources Inc. 

North American Potash Developments Inc. 

Quanta Resources Inc. 

United Coal Holdings Limited 

Xemplar Energy Corp. 

 

 

13.6 Cease Trade Orders and Bankruptcy 

 

Other than as set out below, no director or officer of the Issuer, or, to the Issuer’s knowledge, no 

shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Issuer to materially affect the control of the 

Issuer, is or within 10 years prior to the date of this Listing Statement, has been a director or officer of 

any other Issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade or 

similar order, or an order that denied the other Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities 

law, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days: 

 

The Issuer was subject to a cease trade order from January 5, 2017 to December 22, 2017 by the BCSC 

and the OSC for failing to file its annual financial statements for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2016 

and from January 5, 2018 to April 6, 2018 by the OSC for failing to file its annual financial statements for 

the fiscal year ended August 31, 2017. Simon Tam is a director of the following companies which are 

currently subject to cease trade orders for failing to file financial statements: Dragon Legend 

Entertainment (Canada) Inc. (since June 5, 2017 by the BCSC and OSC for failing to file interim financial 

statements for the fiscal period ended March 31, 2017), E-Energy Ventures Inc. (since August 4, 2017 by 

the BCSC for failing to file annual financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2017), North 
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American Potash Developments Inc. (since October 4, 2016 by the BCSC for failing to file annual 

financial statements for the fiscal period ended May 31, 201), Quanta Resources Inc. (since August 6, 

2015 by the BCSC and since August 24, 2015 by the OSC for failing to file annual financial statements 

for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015), United Coal Holdings Limited (since April 7, 2016 by the 

BCSC and since April 11, 2016 by the OSC for failing to file annual financial statements for the fiscal 

year ended November 30, 2015), Xemplar Energy Corp (since May 8, 2015 by the BCSC and since 

August 7, 2015 by the ASC for failing to file annual financial statements for the fiscal period ended 

December 31, 2014)  

 

No director or officer of the Issuer is, or within the 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement, has 

been a director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a 

year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any 

legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 

arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to 

hold its assets. 

 

13.7 Penalties/Sanctions Imposed on Directors/Officers 

 

None. 

 

13.8  

 

Not applicable. 

 

13.9 Bankruptcy of Director/Officer  

 

None. 

 

13.10 Conflicts of Interest 

 

The directors and officers of the Issuer also serve as directors and/or officers of other companies and may 

be presented, from time to time, with situations or opportunities which give rise to apparent conflicts of 

interest. All conflicts of interest will be resolved in accordance with the CBCA and the fiduciary duties of 

the Issuer’s directors and officers. 

 

13.11 Management 

Below is a brief description of the key management of the Issuer.  

Wen (Wendy) Xu: Ms. Xu, age 50, is a co-founder of the Issuer and has an Executive MBA degree and a 

dual bachelor‘s degree in Engineering and Commerce.  She has earned a great reputation as a top manager 

in a renowned state-owned company and is an innovative entrepreneur.  She also has prior experience in 

real estate investments and understands the requirements for the Issuer’s student housing programs.  As a 

successful businesswoman, Ms. Xu believes that the definition of success should not only be determined 

by financial benefits, rather it should be undertaking responsibilities and duties to serve the society.  

Given this, she established the EA Education Group to contribute to the education and cultural exchange 

between China and Canada.  Her success though these endeavors have allowed her to forge lasting 

relationships with many educational authorities, and this led to the creation of the Issuer.  Mrs. Xu intends 

to devote approximately 100% of her working time to the Issuer’s affairs.  Mrs. Xu’s employment 

contract includes provisions relating to non-disclosure and non-competition.  Her contract dictates that 

except as directed by the Issuer or as required by law, she shall not disclose any confidential information 

relating to the Issuer.  Additionally, Mrs. Xu has agreed not to solicit business which directly or indirectly 

relates to the business of the Issuer or the consulting services she provides to it from any of the Issuer’s 
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current clients during the course of the agreement and for a period of one (1) year following its 

termination. 

Weidong (Tony) Wang: Mr. Wang, age 51, is a co-founder of the Issuer, and majored in education and 

administration and has worked as an educator for many years.  Mr. Wang has a great passion for 

education and he maintains a personal dream that every child can be nurtured and raised as an 

independent, successful and well-educated whole person with strong abilities in organizing, leadership, 

networking and so forth.  Mr. Wang has dedicated his professional life to increasing his global 

educational knowledge as well as building an education bridge between China-and-Canada.  He has 

developed and created many international educational and cultural exchange programs and events.  As the 

founder of the Hong Kong-based Kushi Media Group, Mr. Wang has utilized his English and Asian 

media and education experiences to create fast growth strategies for the Issuer.  Mr. Wang devotes 

approximately 100% of his working time to the affairs of the Issuer and anticipates devoting 

approximately 100% of his working time to the affairs of the Issuer.  Mr. Wang’s employment contract 

includes provisions relating to non-disclosure and non-competition.  Mr. Wang may not use for his own 

account or disclose to anyone else during or after his period of employment with the Issuer any 

confidential or proprietary information or material relating to the business or operations of the Issuer, 

except in the normal and proper course of his duties with the Issuer.  Mr. Wang has agreed to not carry on 

or be engaged in a business that is in competition with the Issuer during the period of his employment 

with the Issuer and for a period of 12 months following that period.  Additionally, Mr. Wang is prohibited 

from being an investor, shareholder, joint venture or partner in any enterprise, associate, joint venture or 

partnership if the investment conflicts with the interests of the Issuer or its subsidiaries, or if the 

investment requires Mr. Wang’s involvement in the management or operation of the investment, or if the 

investment interferes with the performance of Mr. Wang’s duties and obligations to the Issuer. 

Zu (Michael) Zheng: Mr. Zheng, age 53, holds an MBA from the University of Ottawa and a Ph.D in 

Economics from Fudan University.  Mr. Zheng has experiences in the areas of private equity investment 

and financial analysis for twenty years.  He has extensive experiences in assisting Chinese companies go 

public in North American and list on stock exchanges.  Mr. Zheng is the executive director of Skyone 

International Securities Corporation.  Prior to founding Skyone, he served as the deputy head of research 

and director of QFII team at Shanghai-based Haitong Securities Co., Ltd.  Mr. Zheng intends to devote 

approximately 15% of his working time to the affairs of the Issuer.  Mr. Zheng has not entered into a non-

competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer.  

Simon Tam: Mr. Simon Tam, age 60, has more than 16 years in managing public companies and has 

been a senior corporate executive and an audit committee member with a number of publicly traded 

companies in Canada.  He has significant experience and knowledge in managing the growth of small cap 

resource companies and currently sits on the board and as an executive officer for several publicly traded 

companies.  Mr. Tam devotes approximately 15% of his working time to the Issuer’s affairs.  Mr. Tam 

has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Issuer.  

 

Stan Grunzeweig: Mr. Grunzeweig is a Director at Skyone International Securities Corporation, an Investor 

Relations Firm for Financial Communications, Listing Services, M&A and Media portal for Mining Data and News.  

Services include: Venture Capital Introductions in Canada and China, Translations, Events and workshops. Mr. 

Grunzeweig worked at the TMX Group, Global Capital markets for Toronto Stock Exchange for 7 years. Mr. 

Grunzeweig launched a TMX event in Shanghai to assist Chinese companies and Chinese institutional investors to 

explore financing and trading opportunities to Canada’s Toronto Stock Exchange. In 2010, TSX First Capital 

Markets Seminar in Shanghai attracted 165 financial Chinese firms including banks, investment companies, and 

Securities firms using the services of Skyone International. Mr. Grunzeweig’s prior experience includes 12 years in 

Sales Management of real-time access of marketable securities, foreign exchange and treasury data, and back-office 

trading platforms, at Dow Jones-Telerate (Owned by Thomson Reuters). 
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14. Capitalization 

The following information is based on there being 174,256,868 shares issued and outstanding.  

Issued Capital Number of 

Securities (non-

diluted) 

Number of 

Securities (fully 

diluted) 

%of 

Issued 

(non- 

diluted) 

% of 

Issued 

(fully 

diluted) 

Public Float     

Total outstanding (A) 174,256,868 174,256,868 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or employees of 

the Issuer or Related Person of the Issuer, 

or by persons or companies who 

beneficially own or control, directly or 

indirectly, more than a 5% voting position 

in the Issuer (or who would beneficially 

own or control, directly or indirectly, more 

than a 5% voting position in the Issuer 

upon exercise or conversion of other 

securities held) (B) 

100,800,000 100,800,000 57.85% 57.85% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 73,456,868 73,456,868 42.15% 42.15% 

     

Freely-Tradeable Float     

Number of outstanding securities subject to 

resale restrictions, including restrictions 

imposed by pooling or other arrangements 

or in a shareholder agreement and securities 

held by control block holders (C) 

0 0 0% 0% 

Total Tradeable Float (A- C) 174,256,868 174,256,868 100% 100% 

14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any class 

of listed securities:  

 

Nil 

 

14.3 There are no listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 

14.2. 

 

15. Executive Compensation 
 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

In this section “Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means (a) the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) (or 

an individual who acted in a similar capacity), (b) the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) (or an individual 

who acted in a similar capacity), (c) each of the Issuer’s three other most highly compensated executive 

officers, or the three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity (except those 

whose total compensation does not exceed $150,000), and (d) each individual who would be a NEO under 

paragraph (c) but for the fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of the Issuer, nor acting 

in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial year.  
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The disclosure below relates to the Issuer’s two NEOs as at the time of the most recently completed 

financial year, namely: (1) the Issuer’s the former President, Simon Tam, and (2) Chief Financial Officer, 

Simon Ma. 

 

The compensation of the executive officers is determined by the Board of Directors, based in part on 

recommendations from the President and Chief Executive Officer. 

 

The Board evaluates individual executive performance with the goal of setting compensation at levels that 

they believe are comparable with executives in other companies of similar size and stage of development 

operating in the same industry. In connection with setting appropriate levels of compensation, the Board 

base their decisions on their general business and industry knowledge and experience and publicly 

available information of comparable companies while also taking into account our relative performance 

and strategic goals. 

 

The executive officer compensation consists of two basic elements: i) base salary; and ii) incentive stock 

options. The details are set out in the Summary Compensation Table. 

 

The base salary established for each executive officer is intended to reflect each individual's 

responsibilities, experience, prior performance and other discretionary factors deemed relevant by the 

Board. In deciding on the salary portion of the compensation of the executive officers, major 

consideration is given to the fact that the Issuer operated as an early stage exploration company and does 

not generate any material revenue and must rely exclusively on funds raised from equity financing. 

Therefore, greater emphasis may be put on incentive stock option compensation. 

 

Summary Compensation Table 
 

The following table provides a summary of the compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to or payable to 

the Named Executive Officers (to the extent that such compensation has been determined) for the most 

recently completed financial years: 

 

Name and Principal 

position 

Year Salary,  

consulting  

fee,  

retainer or  

commission 

($)  

Bonus  

($)  

Committee  

or meeting  

fees  

($)  

Value of 

Perquisites 

($) 

All other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 

compensation 

($) 

Wen (Wendy) Xu 

President, Chair of 

the Board and 

Director 

2017 

2016 

132,000(1) 

117,000(1)(3) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

132,000 

117,000 

Wei Dong (Tony) 

Wang 

CEO and Director 

2017 

2016 

90,000(1) 

77,000(1) 
Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

90,000 

77,000 

Simon Tam 

Director 

2017 

2016 

12,000(1) 

12,000(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

12,000 

12,000 

Zu (Michael) Zheng 

Director 

2017 

2016 

12,0001) 

38,000(1)(2) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

12,000 

38,000 

Stan Grunzeweig 

Director 

2017 

2016 

12,000(1) 

12,000(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

12,000 

12,000 

Winfield Ding 

CFO 

2017 

2016 

58,333 

13,333 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

58,333 

13,333 
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(1) Management fees paid to a director on a month-to-month basis. 

(2) The director has forgiven $14,000 in consulting fees. 

(3) $30,000 salary was forgiven by Wen (Wendy) Xu in 2016. 

 

Stock options are granted to NEOs when the Board wishes to align the NEOs’ interests with those of the 

shareholders. The number of stock options granted to each NEO is determined solely by the Board and 

will be based on the NEO’s performance, his/her consulting fee, if any, and the Issuer’s share price at the 

time these stock options are granted. The Board believes that providing NEOs a vested equity interest in 

the Issuer helps align the interests of the NEOs with those of the shareholders. The granting of stock 

options will comply with applicable securities rules and regulations. 
 
There was no re-pricing of stock options under the Incentive Stock Option Plan or otherwise during the 

Issuer’s financial year ended August 31, 2017. 

 

Option-based Awards 

There are no stock options outstanding. 

 

Pension Plan Benefits 

 

The Issuer does not have any pension plans that provide for payments or benefits to any NEO at, 

following or in connection with their retirement, nor does the Issuer have any defined contribution plans 

relating to any NEO. 

 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 
 

A management company, wholly owned by a director provides management services to the Issuer 

pursuant to an agreement, which can be terminated upon one (1) month's prior written notice. 

 

Neither the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries has any plan or arrangement with respect to compensation to 

its executive officers which would result from the resignation, retirement or any other termination of 

employment of the executive officers' employment with the Issuer and its subsidiaries or from a change of 

control of the Issuer or any subsidiary of the Issuer or a change in the executive officers' responsibilities 

following a change in control. 

 

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 

 

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION TABLE 

(for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2017) 

 
 

The Issuer has no standard arrangement pursuant to which directors of the Issuer are compensated by the 

Issuer for their services in their capacity as directors other than the unissued treasury shares that may be 

issued upon the exercise of the directors' stock options. There has been no other arrangement pursuant to 

which directors were compensated by the Issuer in their capacity as directors except as disclosed herein.  
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16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 

16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

Aggregate Indebtedness  

 
 

AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS ($) 

 

Purpose To the Company or its 

Subsidiaries 

To Another Entity 

(a) (b) (c) 

Share purchases   

Other $773,682  

(as of August 31, 2017) 

nil 
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Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities Purchase and (2) Other 

Programs 

 
INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1) SECURITIES PURCHASE AND 

(2) OTHER PROGRAMS  

Name and 

Principal 

Position 

Involvement 

of Company 

or 

Subsidiary 

Largest Amount 

Outstanding 

During [Most 

Recently 

Completed 

Financial Year] 

($) 

Amount 

Outstanding as at 

[Date within 30 

days] 

($) 

Financially 

Assisted 

Securities 

Purchases 

During 

[Most 

Recently 

Completed 

Financial 

Year] 

(#) 

Security for 

Indebtedness 

Amount 

Forgiven 

During 

[Most 

Recently 

Completed 

Financial 

Year] 

($) 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) 

Securities Purchase Programs 

       

       

Other Programs 

Wen (Wendy) 

Xu and Wei 

Dong Wang 

Company 536,320
(1)

 

721,042
(2)

 

$773,682 N/A N/A N/A 

 

(1) On March 28, 2012, the Company entered into a Strategic Partnership Cooperation Agreement (the “Agreement”) with 

Guangzhou Zhongjiu Education Consulting Co., Ltd (“Zhongjiu”), a company controlled by the controlling shareholders of 

the Company, Ms. Wen Xu, who is a director and the Chairperson of the Company , and Mr. Weidong Wang, who is a 

director and the CEO of the Company. The Agreement is for ten years until March 27, 2022. At the expiry date, the 

Agreement will be automatically renewed for the same period unless one or both of the parties terminates the Agreement. As 

a strategic partner of the Company, Zhongjiu is to represent the Company to collectively market and execute the Company’s 

growth strategy in China. Zhongjiu represents the Company in franchising the Company’s brand and curriculum services to 

local Chinese schools (“EA Clubs”) and helps in the day to day management of the franchising network. Zhongjiu itself also 

owns an EA Club (“Zhongjiu Club”). 

 

 In return, the Company waived Zhongjiu Club’s education service fee until December 31, 2013. The Company has 

continued to charge Zhongjiu for its ongoing management fees and student registration fees since January 1, 2014. In 

addition, when the number of the Company’s EA clubs in China reaches more than 50, 20% of the service fee from these 

clubs will be shared by Zhongjiu. For the year ended August 31, 2016, the revenue from Zhongjiu was $172,773. For the 

year ended August 31, 2016, $54,000 tuition fees of Duke College had been received by Zhongjiu on behalf of the Company 

but was retained by Zhongjiu and was recorded as due from Zhongjiu as at August 31, 2016.  As of August 31, 2017, the 

balance of due from Zhongjiu is nil (2016: $536,320). The balance with interest accrued has been repaid during the year 

ended August 31, 2017. The Company also has a loan receivable from Zhongjiu of $773,682 as of August 31, 2017. 

 

(2) Promissory notes agreements with the related party, Zhongjiu were signed in 2015 for principal amount of $658,000. The 

promissory notes bear interest of 8% per annum and are repayable in one year from the day of advance. The promissory 

notes are guaranteed by the Shareholders personally and it is due on demand. The total balance of the promissory notes plus 

interest is $773,682 as of August 31, 2017 (August 31, 2016 - $721,042). Management expects to receive repayment of the 

promissory notes by December 31, 2018. 

 

(3) The Company expects to receive 100% of the outstanding balance and interest from the related parties, which is guaranteed 

by Ms. Wen Xu and Mr. Weidong Wang and secured on their personal real estate assets in Toronto, by December 31, 2018. 

 

The above related party transactions were in the normal course of business as the related parties acted as agents for the 

Company’s business and collected the payments from the clients before remitting the fund to the Company. The related party 

transactions were initially recognized at the amount expected to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans 

and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method less a provision for impairment. 
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16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Officers under Programs 

There are no programs of the Issuer pursuant to which the Issuer’s directors or officers incurred any debt 

owed to the Issuer. 

 

17. Risk Factors 

 

Risks Related to the Issuer’s Business 

 

Management Experience and Dependence on Key Personnel and Employees 

 

The Issuer's success is currently largely dependent on the performance of the Issuer's directors and 

officers and the EA Founders. 

 

Certain members of the Issuer's management team have experience in the cryptocurrency industry, while 

others have experience in areas including financial management, corporate finance and sales and 

marketing. 

 

The experience of these individuals is a factor which will contribute to the Issuer's continued success and 

growth. The Issuer will initially be relying on the Issuer's board members, as well as independent 

consultants, for certain aspects of the Issuer's business. The amount of time and expertise expended on the 

Issuer's affairs by each of the Issuer's management team and the Issuer's directors will vary according to 

the Issuer's needs. 

 

The Issuer does not intend to acquire any key man insurance policies and there is, therefore, a risk that the 

death or departure of any member of management, the Issuer's board, or any key employee or consultant, 

could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's future. Investors who are not prepared to rely on the 

Issuer's management team should not invest in the Issuer's securities. 

 

Uncertainty of Additional Funding 

 

Education Platform development and enhancement will require additional capital, the ongoing operation 

of its Toronto and Chinese facilities will require ongoing operating costs, and the Issuer will require funds 

to operate as a public company. 

 

There is no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in obtaining any required financing(s) or that such 

financing(s) will be available on terms acceptable to the Issuer. Any future financing(s) may also be 

dilutive to the Issuer's existing shareholders. 

 

Negative Cash Flow 

 

The Issuer has a limited history of operations, and no history of earnings, cash flow or profitability. The 

Issuer has had negative operating cash flow since the Issuer's inception, and the Issuer will continue to 

have negative operating cash flow for the foreseeable future. No assurance can be given that the Issuer 

will ever attain positive cash flow or profitability additional or that additional funding will be available 

for operations. 

 

Share Price Volatility Risk 

 

While the Issuer is listed for trading on the CSE, various external factors outside of the Issuer's control, 

such as announcements of quarterly variations in operating results, revenues and costs, and sentiments 

toward stocks, may have a significant impact on the market price of the Shares. Global stock markets, 
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including the CSE, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations from time to time. There can 

be no assurance that an active or liquid market will develop or be sustained for the Shares. 

 

Increased Costs of Being a Publicly Traded Issuer 

 

As the Issuer will be part of being a subsidiary of a publicly‐ traded company, significant legal, 

accounting and filing fees will be incurred that are not presently being incurred. Securities legislation and 

the rules and policies of the CSE require publicly listed companies to, among other things, adopt 

corporate governance policies and related practices and to continuously prepare and disclose material 

information, all of which will significantly increase legal, financial and securities regulatory compliance 

costs. 

 

Market Risk for Securities 

There can be no assurance that an active trading market for the Shares will be established and sustained. 

Upon Listing, the market price for the Shares could be subject to wide fluctuations. Factors such as 

government regulation, interest rates, share price movements of peer companies and competitors, as well 

as overall market movements, may have a significant impact on the market price of the Issuer’s securities. 

The stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, which have 

often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. 

Speculative Nature of Investment Risk 

An investment in the Shares carries a high degree of risk and should be considered as a speculative 

investment. The Issuer has no history of earnings, limited cash reserves, a limited operating history, has 

not paid dividends, and is unlikely to pay dividends in the immediate or near future. 

Liquidity and Future Financing Risk 

The Issuer will likely operate at a loss until its business becomes established and the Issuer may require 

additional financing in order to fund future operations and expansion plans. The Issuer's ability to secure 

any required financing to sustain operations will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions 

and business success. There can be no assurance that the Issuer will be successful in its efforts to secure 

any additional financing or additional financing on terms satisfactory to management. If additional 

financing is raised by issuance of additional Shares from treasury, control may change and shareholders 

may suffer dilution. If adequate funds are not available, or are not available on acceptable terms, the 

Issuer may be required to scale back its current business plan or cease operating. 

Going-Concern Risk 

The Issuer's Financial Statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis under which an entity is 

considered to be able to realize its assets and satisfy its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The 

Issuer's future operations are dependent upon the identification and successful completion of equity or 

debt financing and the achievement of profitable operations at an indeterminate time in the future. 

There can be no assurances that the Issuer will be successful in completing equity or debt financing or in 

achieving profitability. The Financial Statements do not give effect to any adjustments relating to the 

carrying values and classification of assets and liabilities that would be necessary should the Issuer be 

unable to continue as a going concern. 

General Business Risks 
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Conflicts of Interest 

 

Situations may arise in connection with potential acquisitions or opportunities where the other interests of 

these directors and officers may conflict with the Issuer's interests. 

 

Directors and officers of the Issuer with conflicts of interest will be subject to and must follow the 

procedures set out in applicable corporate and securities legislation, regulations, rules and policies. 

Notwithstanding this, there may be corporate opportunities which the Issuer is not able to procure due to a 

conflict of interest of one or more of the Issuer's directors or officers. 

 

Tax Risk 

 

The Issuer is subject to various taxes including, but not limited to the following: Canadian income tax; 

goods and services tax; provincial sales tax; land transfer tax; and payroll tax. 

 

The Issuer’s tax filings will be subject to audit by various taxation authorities. 

 

While the Issuer intends to base its tax filings and compliance on the advice of its tax advisors, there can 

be no assurance that its tax filing positions will never be challenged by a relevant taxation authority 

resulting in a greater than anticipated tax liability. 

 

 

18. Promoters  

18.1 Promoters  

The Issuer has not retained the services of a promoter since its incorporation and does not currently 

employ an investor relations consultant.  

 

18.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties and Sanctions Involving Promoters 

 

No promoter of the Issuer was a director or executive officer of any person or company that, while the 

promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 

became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was 

subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 

receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets within the last 10 years. 

 

No promoter of the Issuer has, within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, become 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject 

to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver 

manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the promoter. 

 

There have been no penalties or sanctions imposed against promoters or past promoters that would be 

likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 

19. Legal Proceedings 

 

19.1 Legal Proceedings 

 

There are no legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or any subsidiary of the Issuer is 

a party or of which their respective property is the subject matter that is known to the Issuer.  

 

19.2 Regulatory Actions 



FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
June 2, 2018 

Page 28 

 

There are no: 

 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to provincial and 

territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three 

years immediately preceding the date hereof; 

 

(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Issuer 

necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 

securities being listed; and 

 

(c) settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating to provincial and 

territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three 

years immediately preceding the date hereof. 

 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 

20.1 For further particulars of the material interest, direct or indirect, of any of the following persons 

or companies in any transaction within the three years before the date of the Listing Statement, 

or in any proposed transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer or 

a subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 

(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer, see “Section 6, Management’s Discussion 

and Analysis, Related Party Transactions” and “Section 18, Promoters”; 

 

(b) a security holder disclosed in the Listing Statement as holding 10% or more of the 

Issuer’s voting securities, see, “Section 12, Principal Shareholders”, “Section 6, 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Related Party Transactions” and “Section 18, 

Promoters”. 

 

No associates or affiliates of any of the persons referred to above, unless as otherwise disclosed 

herein, have or had a material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three 

years before the date of the Listing Statement that has materially affected or will materially 

affect the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 

21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 

21.1 Auditor Name and Address 

 

The auditor for the Issuer is MNP LLP, of Vancouver, British Columbia.  

 

21.2 Transfer Agent and Registrar Name  

The registrar and transfer agent for the common shares of the Issuer is CST Trust Issuer, 1066 West 

Hastings Street, Suite 1600, Vancouver, BC V6E 3X1. 

 

22. Material Contracts 
 

22.1 Material Contracts for the Issuer 

1. consulting agreement dated August 1, 2013 with Wen (Wendy) Xu whereby Ms. Xu is to provide 

educational consulting services including management leadership and working with board of 

directors, and shall serve as Chairman of the board of EAEG.  The agreement is effective from 
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August 1, 2013 to July 31, 2014 and shall be automatically renewed for another year unless 

changed by mutual agreement or terminated within the provisions of the agreement.  Ms. Xu is 

entitled to receive $75,000 for her services, receipt of such compensation was waived for the first 

year of services. 

2. an employment agreement dated March 1, 2012 with Weidong (Tony) Wang to act as Chief 

Executive Officer of EAEG.  Mr. Wang’s period of employment commenced March 1, 2012 and 

continues until terminated within the provisions of the agreement.  Mr. Wang is entitled to receive 

$60,000 for his services, and is entitled to a four week paid vacation and reimbursement of 

expenses incidental to his employment.  As Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Wang reports to the board 

of directors of EAEG and has such duties and authority as may from time to time be assigned, 

delegated or limited by the board of directors. 

3. a management company, wholly-owned by Simon Tam provides management services to the Issuer 

pursuant to an agreement dated September 1, 2006 which can be terminated upon one (1) month’s 

prior written notice. 

22.2 Copies of any co-tenancy, unitholders’ or limited partnership agreements 

 

None. 

 

23. Interest of Experts 

MNP  LLP, Chartered Accountants, prepared the auditor’s report for the Issuer’s financial statements for 

the years ended August 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.   

 

24. Other Material Facts 

To management’s knowledge, there are no other material facts that are not otherwise disclosed in this 

Listing Statement or are necessary for the Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 

material facts relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

 

25. Financial Statements  

 

Financial statements required pursuant this section are attached as follows: 

 

SCHEDULE “A” – Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of EA Education Group Inc. for 

the years ended August 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and Unaudited Condensed Interim 

Consolidated Financial Statements for the period ended February 28, 2018. 

 

 SCHEDULE “B” – Management Discussion & Analysis of EA Education Group Inc. for the 

 years ended August 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, and for the six month period ended February 28, 

 2018.
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The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a promoter of 

the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying following a fundamental 

change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 

promoter of the target and two directors of the target. 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, EA Education Group Inc. hereby applies 

for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the CSE. The foregoing contains full, true and plain 

disclosure of all material information relating to EA Education Group Inc.  It contains no untrue statement 

of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary 

to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it 

was made. 

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia 

this 2nd day of June, 2018 

 

“Weidong Wang”     “Yongbiao (Winfield) Ding”     

Weidong Wang, CEO                   Yongbiao (Winfield) Ding, CFO  

 

“Wen (Wendy) Xu”      “Simon Tam”      

Wen (Wendy) Xu, Director                    Simon Tam, Director  
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the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying following a fundamental 

change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 

promoter of the target and two directors of the target. 
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SCHEDULE “A”  

 

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. FOR 

THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2017, 2016 AND 2015  

 

AND  

 

UNAUDITED  CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 

PERIOD ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2018 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS OF EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. FOR THE YEARS 

ENDED AUGUST 31, 2017, 2016 AND 2015 

 

 AND  

 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED FEBRUARY 28, 2018 
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UNAUDITED  CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31, 2017 AND 2016 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Shareholders of EA Education Group Inc.:   

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of EA Education Group Inc. and its 
subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at August 31, 2017 
and August 31, 2016, and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board, and for such internal control as management determines necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at August 31, 2017 and August 31, 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 of these consolidated financial statements which state that 
the Company incurred significant operating losses from operations, negative cash flows from operating activities and 
has an accumulated deficit.  This, along with other matters described in Note 1, indicates the existence of a material 
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 

Vancouver, British Columbia
March 28, 2018 

                            Chartered Professional Accountants 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As at August 31, 2017 and 2016
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Notes 2017 2016

Assets

Current

Cash 12,340 62,657

Accounts receivable and other receivables 6 429,376 493,627

Due from related parties 11 - 700,747

Prepaid expenses and deposit 6,232 17,081

447,948 1,274,112

Due from related parties 11 - 202,040

Long term deposit 9,341 -

Loans receivable 12(b) 773,682 721,042

Plant and equipment 7 15,484 53,683

Intangible assets 8 - 89,000

798,507 1,065,765

Total assets 1,246,455 2,339,877

Liabilities

Current

Bank indebtedness 39,802 36,923

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 597,824 529,427

Deferred revenue 284,930 587,593

Due to related parties 11 77,900 26,000

Total liabilities 1,000,456 1,179,943

Equity

Share capital 9 4,517,961 4,517,961

Reserve 9 162,670 162,670

Accumulated other comprehensive income (2,553) (1,432)

Deficit (4,432,079) (3,519,265)

Equity attributable to shareholders 245,999 1,159,934

Total liabilities and equity 1,246,455 2,339,877

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)

Commitments (Note 15)

Events after the reporting period (Note 17)

Signed: "Wendy Xu", Director

Signed: "Weidong Wang", Director

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

As at August 31, 2017 and 2016

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except number of shares)

Notes 2017 2016

$ $

Revenues 816,964 1,178,207

Expenses 

Direct operating costs 494,422 652,117

General and administrative expenses 16 1,218,302 1,315,255

Marketing and promotion 49,217 139,915

Impairment of goodwill 8 - 281,137

Impairment of intangible assets 8 29,000 273,915

Impairment of loan receivable 12(a) - 81,271

Impairment of plant and equipment 7 24,200 -

Gain on forgiveness of consulting fee payable 11(f) - (26,000)

Interest income 11(h) (85,363) (98,401)

1,729,778 2,619,209

Loss before income taxes (912,814) (1,441,002)

Income taxes recovery (expense)       10 - (19,475)

Net loss (912,814) (1,460,477)

Other comprehensive loss 

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to loss: 

Loss on translation of foreign operations (1,121) (1,607)

Total comprehensive loss (913,935) (1,462,084)

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.01) (0.01)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic and diluted 174,256,868 172,194,098

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except number of shares)

Accumulated

other Total

Common shares Share-based comprehensive shareholders'

Notes Shares Amount payment reserve Income (loss) Deficit equity

$ $ $ $ $

Balance at August 31, 2015 171,132,868 4,200,761 167,470 175 (2,058,788) 2,309,618

Net loss for the year - - - - (1,460,477) (1,460,477)

Private placement 9 3,064,000 306,400 - - - 306,400

Exercise of warrants 9 60,000 10,800 (4,800) - - 6,000

Translation of foreign operations - - - (1,607) - (1,607)

Balance at August 31, 2016 174,256,868 4,517,961 162,670 (1,432) (3,519,265) 1,159,934

Net loss for the year - - - - (912,814) (912,814)

Translation of foreign operations - - - (1,121) - (1,121)

Balance at August 31, 2017 174,256,868 4,517,961 162,670 (2,553) (4,432,079) 245,999

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Notes 2017 2016

$ $

Operating activities

Net loss (912,814) (1,460,477)

Items not involving cash

Bad debt expense 16 860 -

Depreciation 16 73,999 87,930

Forgiveness of consulting fee payable - (26,000)

Income taxes - 19,475

Impairment of goodwill - 281,137

Impairment of intangible assets 8 29,000 273,915

Impairment of PPE 7 24,200 -

Impairment of loan receivable - 81,271

Interest income (52,640) (98,401)

Changes in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable 63,391 (422,261)

Receivable from related parties 904,682 -

Deferred revenue (302,663) 299,090

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 68,397 (56,429)

Prepaid expenses (1,508) (1,591)

Due to related party 51,900 193,537

Interest received - 15,604

(53,196) (813,200)

Investing activities

Decrease in loans receivable - 90,000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 - (2,849)

- 87,151

Financing activities

Bank indebtness 2,879 36,923

Issuance of share capital - 312,400

2,879 349,323

Decrease in cash (50,317) (376,726)

Cash, beginning of year 62,657 439,383

Cash, end of year 12,340 62,657

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

EA Education Group Inc. (the “Company” or “EA”) was incorporated pursuant to the provisions of 

the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name “1156261 Ontario Inc.” on November 21, 

1995. The Company changed its name to “Croesus Gold Inc.” on July 19, 1996, and continued 

into British Columbia pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on November 

17, 2006 under the name “Croesus Gold Inc.”. On June 20, 2008, the Company changed its 

name to “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.” (“Kenieba”) that was listed on the Canadian Securities 

Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading symbol “KEN”. Its principal business at the time was to 

acquire, explore and develop mineral property.  

On February 18, 2015, Kenieba acquired 100% ownership of EA Education Group Inc. (“EAEG 

Private”) by issuing 120,000,000 common shares to the shareholders of EAEG Private. This 

resulted in the previous shareholders of EAEG Private obtaining control of the combined entity 

and constituted a reverse takeover (“RTO”). Subsequent to the acquisition, Kenieba 

amalgamated with EAEG and the new Company continued as the name “EA Education Group 

Inc.” and its stock symbol from in CSE changed from “KEN” to “EA”. 

The Company, together with its subsidiaries, provides international educational service and 

comprehensive student housing services in Canada and China. The address of the Company’s 

corporate office and principal place of business is 4576 Yonge Street, Unit 600, Toronto, Ontario 

M2N 6N4. The consolidated financial statements for the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 

were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Company on March 

28, 2018.  

Going Concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 

assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to 

realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. 

Management uses judgment to assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 

the existence of conditions that cast doubt upon the going concern assumption.  

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the Company reported a net loss of $912,814 (2016 - 

$1,460,477) and used net cash in operating activities of $53,196 (2016 - $813,200).  As at August 

31, 2017, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $4,432,079 (2016 - $3,519,265). 

Management’s current plan is to actively work with the Company’s Board to collect its loans and 

accounts receivable, while at the same time looking for new business opportunities to increase 

revenue and exercise careful cost control to sustain operations. The Board believes that there is 

a reasonable expectation that the Company will be successful in collecting its loans and amounts 

due from its related parties and obtaining the necessary financing resolution to address its 

working capital needs and for this reason believes it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going 

concern basis in preparing these consolidated financial statements.   



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to collect its 

loan and amounts due from related parties and ultimately attain and maintain profitable 

operations. Historically, the Company has not yet realized profitable operations and has relied on 

non-operational sources of financing to fund its operations. Whether and when the Company can 

attain profitability and positive cash flows is uncertain. While in the past, the Company has been 

successful in obtaining funding from equity financings, there is no assurance that such initiatives 

will be successful in the future. Accordingly, there is a material uncertainty that may cast 

significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. These consolidated 

financial statements do not reflect any adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities 

and the reported amounts of expenses and statement of financial position classifications that 

would be necessary if the going concern assumption were not appropriate and such adjustments 

could be material. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

Statement of Compliance 

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries have been prepared 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

Basis of Measurement 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except 

for certain financial instruments measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies 

below.  In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual 

basis of accounting.  

Functional and Presentation Currency

The functional currency of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Duke College Inc. 

(“Duke”), is the Canadian dollars, while the functional currency of its other wholly owned 

subsidiary, EA International Education Co., Limited, is Chinese Yuan. These consolidated 

financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars. 



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

the consolidated financial statements. 

Basis of Consolidation  

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries Duke and EA International Education Co., Limited, which are controlled by 

the Company.  

Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

investee.  

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and 

ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

financial statements from the date the Company gains control until the date the Company ceases 

to control the subsidiary. 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealized gains arising from intercompany 

transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

Foreign Currency 

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the 

Company and its subsidiaries at the exchange rate in effect at the transaction date. Monetary 

assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates in effect at date of financial position. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical costs that are denominated in other 

than the functional currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 

transaction except for amortization, which is translated at historical rates. Translation gains or 

losses are included in profit or loss. 

Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments 

arising on acquisition, are translated to the Company’s presentation currency at exchange rates 

at the financial position date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into 

the Company’s presentation currency at average exchange rates for the year. Foreign currency 

differences are recognized as other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated in a separate 

component of shareholders’ equity, described as foreign currency translation adjustment. 



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 
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Business Combinations and Goodwill  

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for the 

acquisition is measured at the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities assumed and the 

equity interests issued at the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration over the fair value 

of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Transaction costs that are incurred 

in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. Any costs associated with 

the issuance of equity securities are recorded as a reduction of share capital. On an acquisition-

by-acquisition basis, any non-controlling interest is measured either at fair value of the non-

controlling interest or at the fair value of the proportionate share of the net assets acquired. 

Any contingent consideration is measured at the fair value on acquisition date and is included as 

part of the consideration transferred. The fair value of the contingent consideration is re-

measured at each reporting date with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in net 

income or loss. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 

transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling interests) and any previous interest 

held over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net 

assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Company re-

assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities 

assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at the 

acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets 

acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in profit or loss. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 

acquisition date, allocated to each of the Company’s cash-generating units that are expected to 

benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 

assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation 

within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in 

the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill 

disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed 

operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

Cash  

Cash consists of cash at banks and or short term deposits with an original maturity of three 

months or less. 
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Accounts Receivable 

Trade receivables are stated at their amortized costs less allowance made for doubtful 

receivables based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end. An allowance for 

doubtful receivables is made when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able 

to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Bad debts are written off 

when identified. 

Plant and Equipment 

Property and equipment are recorded at historical cost (including directly applicable taxes, freight-

in and installation costs), net of accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation is recognized to write off the cost of assets less their residual value over their 

estimated useful lives at the following annual rates:  

• Computer equipment - 30% per annum  

• Furniture and equipment - 20% per annum  

• Leasehold improvements - straight-line over the lesser of lease term and three years 

• Vehicles – 20% per annum 

The Company reviews the estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method at 

each period-end, accounting for the effect of any changes in estimate on a prospective basis. 

Intangible Assets Acquired  

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 

intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of 

acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any.  

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful economic lives and 

assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 

impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite 

useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected 

useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 

asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are 

treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with 

finite lives is recognized in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of 

the intangible assets.  
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Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment 

annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life 

is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, 

the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.  

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in 

the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognized. 

The intangible assets of the Company include curriculum it purchased, and Duke’s education 

licenses and programs on the acquisition of Duke. The useful life of the curriculum and the 

education programs is estimated to be 5 years and amortized accordingly. The useful life of the 

education licenses is estimated to be indefinite. In 2016, the Company tested the impairment of 

the intangible assets and concluded that the education licenses and education program acquired 

from Duke were impaired. See Note 8. In 2017 the Company tested the impairment of the 

intangible assets and concluded that the course program of EA were impaired. See Note 8. 

Impairment of Non-financial Assets  

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each financial 

position date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication 

exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that 

have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually.    

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the higher of its fair value less cost 

of disposal and its value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is defined as the estimated price that 

would be received on the sale of the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants 

at the measurement date.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discounted rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For the purposes of 

impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the 

smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows of other groups of assets (cash generating units or “CGUs”). The 

allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is 

monitored for internal reporting purposes.  

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit 

exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment losses recognized in respect of the cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce 

the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis.  

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  In respect of other assets, impairment 

losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 

loss has decrease or no longer exists.  When impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying 
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amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimated recoverable amount, but to an amount 

that does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 

loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 

immediately in profit or loss. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue 

Revenue is derived from the supply of student housing, educational programs and services, and 

international education exchange events. A summary of the revenue recognition policies for each 

of the Company’s business and services is as follows:  

Revenue from student housing fees is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of student 

housing services.  

The Company provides its brand and curriculum services to local Chinese schools (“EA Clubs”). 

Education program & service is derived from initial royalty fees relating to new EA Clubs opening, 

annual management fee charged with a flat rate to each EA club, one-time student registration 

fees charged by the Company for students enrolled in its EA clubs in China, and tuition fee of 

Duke. Initial royalty fees for new EA clubs are amortized over the term of the service agreements 

between EA and EA Clubs. Annual management fees are recognized in income on a straight-line 

basis unless there is significant uncertainty concerning the collectability of such revenues, in 

which case management fees are recognized when received. One-time student registration fees 

are recognized when new students enroll in the Company’s EA clubs unless there is significant 

uncertainty concerning the collectability of such revenues, in which case one-time student 

registration fees are recognized when received. Tuition fee of Duke is recognized on a straight-

line basis over the period of the courses enrolled for.  

Revenues from international education exchange events are all short term and recognized upon 

completion of the events.  

Deferred revenue 

Deferred revenue represents cash received in advance of revenue recognition for contractually 

obligated services which have not yet been performed. These amounts are recognized in income 

as described above. 

Interest income  

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss when receivable. 
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Income Taxes 

The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income tax. Income tax 

expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit 

or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly 

in equity or in other comprehensive income.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 

using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 

payable in respect of previous years.  

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of unused tax losses and tax credits, as well as for 

temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 

reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized 

for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, 

and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent 

that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future and their timing of the 

reversal can be controlled. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary 

differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured on an 

undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 

the related asset is realized or liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and 

they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on 

different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or 

their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. A deferred tax asset is recognized 

to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 

temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 

are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

Share Capital 

Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of 

common shares, warrants and stock options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of 

any tax effects.  

Earnings (loss) Per Share 

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares. 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common 

shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 

attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares 
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outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all diluted potential common shares, which comprise 

warrants and share options issued using the treasury stock method. 

Segment Reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from 

which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 

transactions with any of the Company’s other components.  Segment results include items 

directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  

Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, head office expenses, and income tax 

assets and liabilities.  

Financial Instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.  Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to 

receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has 

transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized 

when obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. Financial assets and liabilities are offset 

and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 

enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 

basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Classification and measurement 

At initial recognition, financial instruments are classified into the following categories depending 

on the purposes for which the instruments were acquired: 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”):  

A financial asset or liability is classified as FVTPL if acquired principally for the purpose of selling 

or repurchasing in the short-term. Derivatives are also included in this category unless they are 

designated as hedges. Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and 

subsequently at fair value.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are presented in 

the statement of operations within other gains and losses in the period in which they arise. 

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL are classified as current except for the portion expected 

to be realized or paid beyond twelve months of the financial position date, which is classified as 

non-current. 

Available-for-sale: 

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains 

and losses recognized in other comprehensive operations except for losses in value that are 

considered other than temporary or a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that 

investment below its cost in which case the loss is recognized in the Statement of Operations.  

They are included in current assets to the extent they are expected to be realized within twelve 
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months after the end of the reporting period. 

Loans and receivables: 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted in an active market.  Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the 

amount expected to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and 

receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method less a provision for impairment.  They are included in current 

assets to the extent they are expected to be realized within twelve months after the end of the 

reporting period. 

Held-to-maturity investments  

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities that the Company’s management has the positive intention and 

ability to hold to maturity. These assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method less a provision for impairment. They are included in non-current assets, except 

for those which are expected to mature within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.  

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:  

Financial liabilities other than those classified as FVTPL are initially recognized at the amount 

required to be paid less, when material, a discount to reduce the payables to fair value. 

Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial 

liabilities at amortized costs are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within twelve 

months after the end of the reporting period.  Otherwise, they are presented as non-current 

liabilities. 
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The Company classifies its financial assets and liabilities depending on the purpose for which the 
financial instruments were acquired, their characteristics, and management intent as outlined 
below:  

Classification 

Cash  FVTPL 

Accounts receivables Loans and receivables 

Loans receivable Loans and receivables 

Due from related parties Loans and receivables 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other liabilities 

Due to related parties                                                               Other liabilities 

Bank indebtedness Other liabilities 

The Company does not have any derivative financial instruments. 

Effective interest method  

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 

instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition. 

Transaction costs  

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or 
deducted from fair value of financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss.  

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets, other than those classified at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for 
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be 
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment 
have been affected. 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments are those that have a significant risk of causing 

material adjustment and are often applied to matters or outcomes that are inherently uncertain 

and subject to change. As such, management cautions that future events often vary from 

forecasts and expectations and that estimates routinely require adjustment.  



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

18 | P a g e

Management considers the following areas to be those where the significant estimates, which 

may involve assumptions requiring the application of judgments, are used in the preparation of 

the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  

Evaluation of the Company’s Ability to Continue As a Going Concern 

Management has applied judgements in the assessment of the Company's ability to continue as 

a going concern when preparing these consolidated financial statements. Management prepares 

the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless management either 

intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. In 

assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into account 

all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months 

from the end of the reporting period. The assessment of the Company’s ability to execute its 

strategy and finance the operations through achieving positive cash flow from operations or by 

obtaining additional funding through debt or equity financing involves judgments. Management 

monitors future cash requirements to assess the Company’s ability to realize assets and 

discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations. Please refer to Note 1 for more 

information.  

Impairment of Loans, Accounts Receivables and Due From Related Parties 

The impairment assessment of the Company’s loans and receivables measured at amortized 

costs is based on management’s assessment of the business environment, customers’ or 

creditors’ financial conditions, historical collection experience, accounts receivable aging, 

customer disputes and the collectability of specific accounts. Estimates used to determine 

amount of impairment required involve uncertainties. If there were a deterioration of a major 

customer’s or creditors’ creditworthiness, or actual defaults were higher than the Company’s 

historical experience, estimates of the recoverability of amounts due could be overstated, which 

could have an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results. 

Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

The allocation of the purchase price for acquisitions involves determining the fair values for 

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Estimation of fair values involve significant 

judgments, estimates and assumptions.  The acquisitions of Duke are most sensitive to the 

assumptions including gross margin, discount rates, and growth rate.  Please refer to Note 8 for 

more information.  



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

19 | P a g e

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets  

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 

The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales 

transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less 

incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a 

discounted cash flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five 

years and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to or 

significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating 

unit (“CGU”) being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the 

DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation 

purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite 

useful lives recognized by the Company. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable 

amount for the CGUs are disclosed and further explained in Note 8. 

5. IFRS STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

There was no change in the Company’s accounting policies in the year. 

Future accounting standards:  

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement was issued by the IASB 

in October 2010 and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is 

measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The 

approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the 

context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement 

of financial liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The new standard also 

requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment 

methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is available for application, with the mandatory effective date 

expected to be on or after January 1, 2018.  

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued by the IASB in May 2014. 

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use 

in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers.  IFRS 15 will supersede 

the current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 

Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.   

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the 

transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 

consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
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services.  Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:  

 Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 

 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

 Step 3: Determine the transaction price 

 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in 

the contract 

 Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 

performance obligation 

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is 

satisfied, i.e. when 'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular 

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.  Far more prescriptive guidance 

has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.  Furthermore, extensive 

disclosures are required by IFRS 15.   

 In 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of 

performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing 

application guidance. 

The application of IFRS 15 is mandatory for annual reporting periods starting from 1 

January 2018. The Company will apply this standard for the year starting from 

September 1, 2018. The management of the Company is in the process of assessing the 

potential impacts of IFRS 15 in respect of the Company’s contracts with students in 

Canada and franchisees in China, in particular, the identification of performance 

obligations under IFRS 15 and the allocation of total consideration (including tuition fees, 

student housing fee, franchising fee, courses and program fees, and student 

membership fees) to the respective performance obligations that will be based on 

relative fair values.  

• IFRS 12 Income Taxes was amended by the IASB in January 2016 to clarify the 

recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses. The effective date is for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 with earlier application permitted.  

• IFRS 16 Leases was amended by IASB in January 2016 to eliminate the current dual 

accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance 

leases and off-balance sheet operating leases. Under the new standard, a lease 

becomes an on-balance sheet liability that attracts interest, together with a new right-of-

use asset. In addition, lessees will recognize a front-loaded pattern of expense for most 

leases, even when cash rentals are constant. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier adoption permitted. 
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6.  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Accounts receivable consisted of trade receivables of $253,060 (2016 - $361,354) and HST 

receivable of $176,316 (2016 - $132,273) as of August 31, 2017.  The aging of trade receivable, 

net of allowance for doubtful accounts, at each reporting date was as follows: 

2017 2016 

$ $                             

Current to 30 days -  228,259 

31 to 90 days - 8,015 

91 to 365 days -  111,092 

Over 365 days 253,060 13,988 

Total $ 253,060 $ 361,354

During the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016, no trade receivables were written off because 

the Shareholders provided personal guarantee for trade receivables from the EA Clubs. Refer to 

Note 12 for details.  
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7.  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Cost

Lease

Improvements

Furniture and

Equipment

Computer

Equipment
Vehicles Total

Balance, August 31, 2015  $                 14,087  $                    59,393  $               10,632  $      5,673  $      89,785

Additions                            -                          2,849                         -               -           2,849

Balance, August 31, 2016 and

2017
 $                 14,087  $                    62,242  $               10,632  $      5,673  $      92,634

Accumulated amortization

Balance, August 31, 2015  $                   5,635  $                    10,502  $                 3,033  $         851  $      20,021

Depreciation                       4,830                          9,183                    3,953            964          18,930

Balance, August 31, 2016                     10,465                        19,685                    6,986          1,815          38,951

Depreciation                       3,622                          2,872                    3,647          3,858          13,999

Impairment                            -                        24,200                         -               -          24,200

Balance, August 31, 2017  $                 14,087  $                    46,757  $               10,633  $      5,673  $      77,150

Net Carrying Amounts

Balance, August 31, 2016  $                   3,622  $                    42,558  $                 3,646  $      3,858  $      53,683

Balance, August 31, 2017  $                        -  $                    15,484  $                      -  $           -  $      15,484
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8.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

During the year ended August 31, 2017, the Company performed the annual impairment testing on the 

EA’s intangible assets and as a result an impairment loss of $29,000 was recorded for the year ended 

August 31, 2017 (2016 - $Nil). The impairment is due to EA’s under-expectation of business performance 

in China and the revenue from the Clubs in China indicate that the intangible carry value will not be 

recoverable.  

Impairment of Duke’s education licenses, program and goodwill: 

During the year ended August 31, 2016, the Company performed the annual impairment testing on the 

Duke’s intangible assets and goodwill. The calculation of the value in use was based on the following key 

assumptions for the cash-generating units:  

•Cash flows were projected over a five-year period based on past experience and actual operating results.  

• Growth rate applied on revenue is 43% in year one and 15% thereafter.  

• Discount rate applied was 23% to cash generating unit to determine its recoverable amount.

As a result of the annual impairment test, the recoverable amount of Duke’s cash-generating unit was 

lower than its net book value. Therefore, an impairment loss on goodwill of $281,137 and impairment on 

intangible of $273,915 are recorded for the year-ended August 31, 2016.  

EAEG's curriculum

purchased

Duke's education

licenses

Duke's education

programs
Total

Cost

Balance, August 31, 2015,

2016 and 2017
 $                300,000  $                   241,000  $               45,043  $      586,043

Accumulated amortization

And impairment

Balance, August 31, 2015  $                151,000  $                           -  $                 3,128  $      154,128

Amortization  $                 60,000  $                           -  $                 9,000  $        69,000

Impairment  $                        -  $                   241,000  $               32,915  $      273,915

Balance, August 31, 2016  $                211,000  $                   241,000  $               45,043  $      497,043

Amortization  $                 60,000  $                           -  $                      -  $        60,000

Impairment  $                 29,000  $                           -  $                      -  $        29,000

Balance, August 31, 2017  $                300,000  $                   241,000  $               45,043  $      586,043

Net Carrying Amounts

Balance, August 31, 2016  $                 89,000  $                           -  $                      -  $        89,000

Balance, August 31, 2017  $                        -  $                           -  $                      -  $               -
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9. SHARE CAPITAL 

Authorized: 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

Issuances of share capital: 

a) On June 13, 2016, 60,000 common shares were issued on exercise of 60,000 warrants for 

$0.10 per share. 

b) On June 24, 2016, the Company closed a private placement and issued 3,064,000 common 

shares at $0.10 per share for cash consideration of $306,400. 

Securities held in escrow 

Pursuant to the escrow agreement, 120,000,000 common shares issued to the shareholders of 

EAEG Private were escrowed subject to release only with regulatory approval to the release 

provisions of the escrow agreement. As of August 31, 2017, 18,000,000 (August 31, 2016 - 

54,000,000) common shares were still held in escrow.  

Stock options 

Concurrent with the reverse takeover transaction, the Company adopted its existing stock option 

rolling plan to reserve 10% of issued shares for issuance to executive officers, directors, 

employees and consultants of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option is 

set on the date of grant at no less than the discount market price of the Company’s stock as 

determined per the CSE policy. Options granted under the plan have a term not to exceed ten 

years and are subject to vesting provisions as determined by the board of directors. There were 

no stock options granted during the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016. There were no stock 

options outstanding as at August 31, 2017 and 2016. No stock-based compensation expense 

was recognized for the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016. 
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Warrants 

Warrant transactions are summarized as follows: 

Number of 
Warrants

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Weighted 
Average 

Life 
Remaining

Warrants outstanding and exercisable, 
August 31, 2015 6,875,000 $ 0.10 0.80

Warrants exercised (60,000) 0.10 -

Warrants expired (6,815,000) 0.10 -

Warrants outstanding and exercisable,  
August 31, 2016 and 2017 - $ - -
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10. INCOME TAX 

The following table reconciles the expected income tax expense (recovery) at the Canadian 

statutory income tax rates to the amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of 

operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016: 

2017 2016

Loss before income taxes  $ 
(912,814)

$
(1,441,002)

Statutory tax rate 26.00% 26.00%

Expected income tax (recovery) 
(237,332) (374,661)

Non-deductible expense 
264 150,050 

Withholding tax 
- 31,783 

Foreign tax rate difference 
(262) (1,372)

Change in deferred tax asset not 
recognized 

237,330
213,675 

Total income tax expense (recovery)   $ 
- 

$
19,475 

Current tax expense (recovery) 
- 31,783 

Deferred tax expense (recovery) 
- (12,308)

Total income tax expense (recovery)    $ 
- 

 $ 
19,475 

Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax values. Deferred tax assets 

(liabilities) at August 31, 2017 and 2016 are comprised of the following: 

2017 2016

Losses carry forward 
$

12,136 
$ 

15,351 

Equipment - (3,043)

Intangible assets 
(12,136) (12,308)

$
- 

$ 
- 
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Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their corresponding values for tax 

purposes. The unrecognized deductible temporary differences are as follows:   

2017 2016

Property and equipment - Canada $
51,542 

$
11,819 

Intangible assets - Canada 
208,225 119,225 

Charitable donation - Canada 
2,730 2,730 

Financing costs - Canada 83,200 123,757 

Capital losses - Canada  40,636 40,636 

Non-capital loss carry forwards - Canada  2,684,691 1,800,907 

Non-capital loss carry forwards - Hong Kong 19,678 20,382 

Unrecognized deductible temporary 
differences   $ 3,090,702 $ 2,119,456 

As at August 31, 2017, the Company has not recognized a deferred tax asset in respect of non-

capital loss carryforwards of approximately $2,684,691, which may be carried forward to apply 

against future year income tax for Canadian income tax purposes and approximately $19,678 for 

Hong Kong income tax purposes, subject to the final determination by taxation authorities, 

expiring in the following years: 

Expiry Canada Hong Kong

2037 $ 824,783 $
- 

2036 958,556
- 

2035 118,180
- 

2034 757,273
- 

2033 17,882
- 

2032 
8,017 - 

2021 
-  

19,678

TOTAL $ 2,684,691 $ 19,678
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The Company has not recognized a deferred tax asset in respect of capital loss carryforwards of 

approximately $40,636, which may be carried forward indefinitely to apply against future capital 

gains for Canadian income tax purposes, subject to the final determination by taxation authorities. 

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

The Company defines related parties to include significant shareholders, key management and 

officers and directors, as well as companies controlled by them.  

2017 2016

Due from Zhongjiu (a) $ - $ 536,320

Due from Shareholders (b) - 150,538

Due from EA Homestay Inc. (c) - 29,780

Due from Jiuding Group (Canada) (d) - 40,000

Due from Rufeng International (e) - 146,149

Due from related parties $ - $ 902,787

Less: current portion  - 700,747

Due from related parties – non - current $ - $ 202,040

Due to directors and officers (f) (77,900) (26,000)

Due to related parties $ (77,900) $ (26,000)

(a) On March 28, 2012, the Company entered into a Strategic Partnership Cooperation 

Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Guangzhou Zhongjiu Education Consulting Co., Ltd 

(“Zhongjiu”), a company controlled by the controlling shareholders of the Company Ms. Wen 

Xu who is a director and also Chairman of the Company and Mr. Weidong Wang who is 

director and also CEO of the Company. The Agreement is for ten years until March 27, 2022. 

At the expiry date, the Agreement will be automatically renewed for the same period unless 

one or both of the parties terminates the Agreement. As a strategic partner of the Company, 

Zhongjiu is to represent the Company to collectively market and execute the Company’s 

growth strategy in China. Zhongjiu represents the Company in franchising the Company’s 

brand and curriculum services to EA Clubs and helps in the day to day management of the 

franchising network. Zhongjiu itself also owns an EA Club (“Zhongjiu Club”). 

In return, the Company waived Zhongjiu Club’s brand franchising and service fee until 

December 31, 2013. The Company has continued to charge Zhongjiu for its ongoing 

curriculum fees and student registration fees since January 1, 2014. In addition, when the 

number of the EA Clubs in China reaches more than 50, 20% of the service fee from these 

clubs will be shared with Zhongjiu. For the year ended August 31, 2017, the revenue from 

Zhongjiu was $Nil (2016: $172,773). For the year ended August 31, 2016, $54,000 tuition 
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fees of Duke College was received by Zhongjiu on behalf of the Company but was retained 

by Zhongjiu and was recorded as due from Zhongjiu as at August 31, 2016. As of August 31, 

2016, the balance of due from Zhongjiu totaled $536,320 that included interest accrued at 8% 

annually, was unsecured and due on demand. The balance with interest accrued has been 

repaid during the year ended August 31, 2017. The Company also has a loan receivable from 

Zhongjiu of $773,682 (2016 - $721,042) (see Note 12).  

(b) In 2016, the Company made advances of $59,096 to the two significant shareholders of the 

Company (the “Shareholders”) Ms. Wen Xu and Mr. Weidong Wang who are also the officers 

and directors of the Company. In addition, the Shareholders Ms. Wen Xu and Mr. Weidong 

Wang received $90,000 on behalf of the Company. The balance with interest accrued has 

been repaid during the year ended August 31, 2017.  

(c) EA Homestay Inc. is a company controlled by one of the significant shareholders Ms. Wen Xu 

noted in (b) above. In fiscal year 2016, EA Homestay Inc. paid certain expenditures in the 

amount of $17,218 related to the Company’s student housing services on behalf of the 

Company. As at August 31, 2017 there was $nil (August 31, 2016 - $29,780) that was due 

from EA Homestay Inc. The balance, which bore interest at 8% per annum and unsecured, 

was repaid during the year ended August 31, 2017. 

(d) During the year ended August 31, 2016 the Company made an advance of $40,000 to 

Jiuding Group Inc., a company controlled by one of the Shareholders of the Company, Ms. 

Wen Xu, that was unsecured, due on demand and bore interest at 8% per annum. During the 

year ended August 31, 2017 the balance plus interest accrued was repaid. 

(e) During the year ended August 31, 2016 the Company made an advance of $98,230 to 

Rufeng International (China) (“Rufeng”), a company controlled by the Shareholders of the 

Company, Mr Weidong Wang and Ms. Wen Xu, that is unsecured and due on demand. In 

addition, $39,050 tuition fees of Duke College was received by Rufeng on behalf of the 

Company but was retained by Rufeng. These amounts were recorded as due from Rufeng as 

at August 31, 2016. The balance, which bore interest at 8% per annum, was due on demand 

and unsecured. During the year ended August 31, 2017, the balance plus interest accrued 

was repaid. 

(f) Due to directors and officers represents the director fees payable to the Company’s directors  

 Mr. Zu Zheng, Mr. Simon Tam, and Mr. Stan Grunzenweig.  

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred compensation to the 

Company’s officers and directors in the amount as follows.  
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During the year ended August 31, 2016, Mr. Zu Zheng a director of the Company forgave 

consulting fee payable of $40,000, of which $26,000 incurred for the year ended August 31, 

2015 and $14,000 incurred for the year ended August 31, 2016. The Company paid each of 

the Shareholders Ms. Wen Xu and Mr. Weidong Wang $12,000 director fees for the year 

ended August 31, 2017 (2016 - $12,000) that was recorded as a reduction to the balance 

owed by the related parties (Note 11(a)(b)(c)(d)(e)). The Company accrued $12,000 director 

fee for each of the other three directors of which $16,000 was paid during the year in 2017. 

During the year ended August 31, 2016, Ms. Wen Xu the Chairman of the Company forgave 

salary in the amount of $30,000. 

(g) The Company rented one property from one of the Shareholders Ms. Wen Xu for the 

Company’s student housing services and paid rent in the amount of $20,000 for the year 

ended August 31, 2017 (2016 -  $60,000).  

(h) The Company recognized interest income of $85,363 for the year ended August 31, 2017 

(2016 - $98,401) in the consolidated statements of operations related to due from related 

parties and promissory notes from Zhongjiu (Note 12), which all bear interest at 8% per 

annum. 

(i) The above related party transactions were in the normal course of business as the related 

parties acted as agents for the Company’s business and collected the payments from the 

clients before remitting the fund to the Company. The related party transactions were initially 

recognized at the amount expected to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce 

the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision for impairment. 

12. LOAN RECEIVABLE 

Loan receivable consisted of the following: 

(a) A loan agreement with Access International Education Inc., a Canadian public company 

(symbol: AOE) was signed on November 27, 2013 for a principal amount of $150,000. The 

loan receivable was unsecured and bore interest at 8% per annum. The loan receivable is 

renewable every 3 months at the option of the Company. The balance of this loan plus 

interest receivable was $171,271 as of August 31, 2015. In 2016, $90,000 was received by 

2017 2016

Salaries, consultant fees and 

other benefits 256,333$      179,298$      

Directors' fees 60,000 60,000

316,333$      239,298$      



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

31 | P a g e

the Shareholders of the Company and recorded as due from the Shareholders, and the 

balance of $81,271 was written off in the year ended August 31, 2016 due to the balance is 

estimated not to be receivable because Access International Education Inc. had no financial 

resources to meet its liabilities and obligations as at August 31, 2016. 

(b) Promissory notes agreements with the related party, Zhongjiu, were signed in 2015 for a total 

principal amount of $658,000. The promissory notes bear interest at 8% per annum and are 

repayable in one year from the day of advance. The total balance of the promissory notes 

plus interest was $773,682 as of August 31, 2017 (2016 - $721,042). On June 21, 2017, the 

Shareholders have personally signed a Guarantee (the “Guarantee”) to the Company to 

guarantee for the repayment of the loans receivable, due from related party (Note 11) and the 

receivables from EA Clubs before December 31, 2017. One of the Shareholders’ personal 

real estate assets in Toronto is used as collateral that has a fair market value over $10.0 

million and mortgages of $6.9 million.

On January 19, 2018, the Board of the Company has a resolution to agree the extension of 

the repayment to December 31, 2018 for the loans receivable and the accounts receivable 

from EA Clubs guaranteed by the Shareholders. 

(c) Subsequent to the year end, the Shareholders of the Company, Ms. Wen Xu and Mr. 

Weidong Wang have repaid a total of $365,618 to the Company which covered full balance of 

the accounts receivable from EA Clubs and partial balance of the loans receivable. 

13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

Fair Value 

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value must be classified using a three-level hierarchy that 

reflects the significance and transparency of the inputs used in making the fair value 

measurements: 

• Level 1 - inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active 

markets;  

• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and  

• Level 3 - one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique to determine 

fair value are unobserved.  

The carrying amount of the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, due to and due from related 

parties, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values because of the 

short-term nature of these financial instruments. 
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The fair value of loans receivable, which is carried at amortized cost and bears interest at 8% per 

annum, approximates the carrying value considering the counterparties credit risk and relevant 

market interest rates. 

Risk 

The Company's risks exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are 

summarized below:  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 

Company’s exposure to credit risk includes cash, accounts receivable, loans receivable and due 

from related parties. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying 

value of these financial assets. The Company reduces its credit risk by: maintaining its bank 

accounts at large financial institutions, and monitoring accounts receivables. The trade 

receivables, loans receivable as of August 31, 2017 are guaranteed by the Shareholders. Please 

refer to Note 12(b) for details.  

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 

become due. The Company's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that sufficient cash 

and credit facilities are available to meet liabilities when due. As at August 31, 2017, the 

Company had working capital (deficiency) of ($552,378) (2016 - $94,169). The ability to do this 

relies on the Company collecting its trade receivables in a timely manner and receive repayment 

for its loan receivable to maintain sufficient cash in excess of anticipated needs.  

Currency Risk 

The Company is exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. 

A significant change in the currency exchange rate between the Canadian Dollar relative to 

Chinese Yuan would not have a significant effect on the Company’s results of operations during 

the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016. 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Company is only subject to interest rate risk on its bank indebtedness. However, this balance 

is temporary and the fluctuation of the interest rate would not have a significant effect on the 

Company’s results of operations during the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016. 

Capital Management 

The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure sufficient liquidity to support its 

financial obligations and raise the necessary equity financing to execute its operating and 

strategic growth plans. 
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14. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company operates in a single segment, being the provider of education programs to 

students in China and Canada. In presenting information on the basis of geographical information, 

segment revenue is based on the geographical location of the customers. A summary of 

geographical information for the Company’s revenue for the years is as follows: 

 2017  2016

Canada $ 806,727 $ 706,985

China 10,237 471,222

Total $ 816,964 $ 1,178,207

15. COMMITMENTS 

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into operating leases on certain premises and 

motor vehicles, with lease term between one year and four years.  

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at August 31, 2017 is, 

as follows:  

August 31, 2017

Within one year $ 154,358 

After one year but not more than five years 89,117 

Total Commitments $ 243,475 

The Company terminated the lease of one of its premises in December 2016 before the original 

term expiring on May 31, 2017. The Company is required to pay the landlord of the premise sum 

of $57,281. Payment of the settlement funds will occur as follows: $10,000 in June 2017 (paid), 

with the balance of $47,281 payable in nine monthly instalments of $5,000, and a final instalment 

of $2,281, due on the first business day of each month, commencing August 1, 2017. The 

amounts of $42,281 have been accrued as accounts payable as of August 31, 2017. 
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16. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES 

August 31, 2017 August 31, 2016 

Bad debt $                            860  $                               -    

Bank charges                            5,187                            4,309  

Commissions                        192,576                        100,798  

Depreciation and amortization                          73,999                          27,930  

Office expense                          93,883                        101,325  

Other tax expenses                                  -                            27,180  

Payroll and consulting                        605,759                        734,417  

Professional fees                        138,393                        161,023  

Rent                          67,687                          93,529  

Travel, automobile and entertainment                          39,959                          64,744  

 $                 1,218,303   $                1,315,255  

17.          EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

(a) On December 15, 2017 the Company announces that it has terminated the existing Strategic 

Partnership Cooperation Agreement with Zhongjiu signed in 2012.  

(b) On December 22, 2017 the Company has entered into a conditional sale and purchase 

agreement (“the Agreement”) among the Company and Duke (collectively, the “Sellers”) and 

Dong-An Educational Services Canada Inc. (the “Purchaser”) that contemplates the sale to 

the Purchaser of 100% of the issued shares of Duke held by the Company (“Sale Shares”). 

The aggregate purchase price to be paid for the Sale Shares is $258,000, of which $100,000 

has already been paid for subsequent to August 31, 2017 and the balance of $158,000 is 

payable as follows: 

$100,000 is payable approximately one month after the date of closing; and 

$58,000 is payable approximately two months after the date of closing. 

(c) In January 2018, the Board of the Company has a resolution to agree the extension of the 

repayment to December 31, 2018 for the loans receivable and the accounts receivable from 

EA Clubs guaranteed by the Shareholders. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of EA Education Group Inc.: 
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of EA Education Group Inc. and its 

subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at August 

31, 2016 and August 31, 2015, and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, 

changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 

and other explanatory notes. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as Management determines necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the consolidated financial statement. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 

financial position of the Company as at August 31, 2016 and August 31, 2015, and its consolidated financial 

performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 of these consolidated financial statements, which 

states that the Company incurred significant operating losses from operations, negative cash flows from 

operating activities and has an accumulated deficit.  This, along with other matters described in Note 1, 

indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the ability of the 

Company to continue as a going concern. 

 

 

Vancouver, Canada             
June 27, 2017       Chartered Professional Accountants 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.
(FORMERLY, "Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.") 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As at August 31, 2016 and 2015
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Notes 2016                  2015                

Assets

Current

Cash 62,657               439,383          

Accounts receivable 8 493,627            71,366            

Due from related parties 13 700,747            1,048,774       

Loans receivable 14(b) -                     839,673          

Prepaid expenses and deposit 17,081               15,490            

1,274,112         2,414,686       

Due from related parties 13 202,040            -                   

Loans receivable 14(b) 721,042            -                   

Plant and equipment 9 53,683               69,764            

Intangible assets 10 89,000               431,915          

Goodwill 7 & 17 -                     281,137          

1,065,765         782,816          

Total assets 2,339,877         3,197,502       

Liabilities

Current

Bank indebtedness 36,923               -                   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 529,427            554,073          

Deferred revenue 587,593            288,503          

Due to related parties 13 26,000               33,000            

1,179,943         875,576          

Deferred tax liability 12 -                     12,308            

Total liabilities 1,179,943         887,884          

Equity

Share capital 11 4,517,961         4,200,761       

Reserve 11 162,670            167,470          

Accumulated other comprehensive income (1,432)                175                  

Deficit (3,519,265)        (2,058,788)     

Equity attributable to shareholders 1,159,934         2,309,618       

Total liabilities and equity 2,339,877         3,197,502       

Nature and continuance of operations (Note 1)

Commitments (Note 18)

Events after the reporting period (Note 21)

Signed: "Wendy Xu", Director

Signed: "Weidong Wang", Director

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 
(FORMERLY, "Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.") 

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except shares)

Notes 2016                2015                

$ $

Revenues 1,178,207       1,606,346       

Expenses 

Direct operating costs 652,117           902,209           

General and administrative expenses 19    1,315,255       1,356,630       

Marketing and promotion 139,915           314,135           

Impairment of goodwill 17    281,137           -                    

Impairment of intangible assets 10    273,915           -                    

Listing expenses 6       -                    1,006,340       

Impairment of loan receivable 14(a) 81,271             -                    

Gain on forgiveness of consulting fee payable 13(d) (26,000)            -                    

Interest income 13(i) (98,401)            (22,402)            

2,619,209       3,556,912       

Loss before income taxes (1,441,002)      (1,950,566)      

Income taxes recovery (expense)      12 (19,475)            (63,343)            

Net loss (1,460,477)      (2,013,909)      

Other comprehensive (loss) income 

(Loss) gain on translation of foreign operations (1,607)              175                   

Total comprehensive loss (1,462,084)      (2,013,734)      

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.01)                (0.02)                

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic and diluted 172,194,098 99,496,893

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 
(FORMERLY, "Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.") 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except shares)

Accumulated

other Total

Common shares Share-based comprehensive shareholders'

Notes Shares Amount payment reserve Income (loss) Deficit equity

$ $ $ $ $

Balance at September 1, 2014 1,000,001              100                      -                        -                     (44,879)               (44,779)              

Stock exchange related to the reverse takeover 6 (1,000,001)             -                       -                        -                     -                      -                     

Receipt of Kenieba shares 6 120,000,000          -                       -                        -                     -                      -                     

Fair value of Kenieba's previous outstanding shares 6 24,065,868            1,203,293            -                        -                     -                      1,203,293          

Fair value of Kenieba's outstanding warrants 6 -                         -                       167,470                -                     -                      167,470             

Private placement on February 18, 2015 11 15,000,000            750,000               -                        -                     -                      750,000             

Finder's fee paid in cash 11 -                         (60,000)                -                        -                     -                      (60,000)              

Private placement on April 27, 2015 11 8,452,000              1,690,400            -                        -                     -                      1,690,400          

Finder's fee 11 -                         (106,032)              -                        -                     -                      (106,032)            

Issued shres for Duke College acquisition 7 & 11 1,500,000              300,000               -                        -                     -                      300,000             

Private placement on August 24, 2015 11 2,115,000              423,000               -                        -                     -                      423,000             

Net loss for the year -                         -                       -                        -                     (2,013,909)          (2,013,909)         

Other comprehensive income -                         -                       -                        175                    -                      175                    

Balance at August 31, 2015 171,132,868          4,200,761            167,470                175                    (2,058,788)          2,309,618          

Net loss for the year -                         -                       -                        -                     (1,460,477)          (1,460,477)         

Private placement 11 3,064,000              306,400               -                        -                     -                      306,400             

Exercise of warrants 11 60,000                   10,800                 (4,800)                   -                     -                      6,000                 

Translation of foreign operations -                         -                       -                        (1,607)                -                      (1,607)                

Balance at August 31, 2016 174,256,868          4,517,961            162,670                (1,432)                (3,519,265)          1,159,934          

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 
(FORMERLY, "Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.") 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Notes 2016                         2015                       

$ $

Operating activities

Net loss (1,460,477)               (2,013,909)             

Items not involving cash

Bad debt expense -                           139,710                  

Depreciation 9 & 10 87,930                      79,947                    

Forgiveness of consulting fee payable 13(d) (26,000)                    -                         

Listing expenses 6 -                           1,006,340               

Income taxes 19,475                      63,343                    

Impairment of goodwill 17 281,137                    -                         

Impairment of intangible assets 10 273,915                    -                         

Impairment of loan receivable 14 81,271                      -                         

Interest income (98,401)                    (22,402)                  

Changes in non-cash working capital

Accounts receivable (422,261)                  207,944                  

Deferred revenue 299,090                    80,539                    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (56,429)                    121,663                  

Prepaid expenses (1,591)                      (3,448)                    

Due to related party 193,537                    (1,953,958)             

Interest received 13 (b) 15,604                      -                         

(813,200)                  (2,294,231)             

Investing activities

Net cash acquired in reverse takeover -                           1,154,004               

Net cash used in acquisition of Duke -                           (130,525)                

Decrease (increase) in loans receivable 90,000                      (658,000)                

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 (2,849)                      (25,946)                  

87,151                      339,533                  

Financing activities

Issuance of share capital 11 312,400                    2,113,400               

Transaction costs -                           (166,032)                

312,400                    1,947,368               

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (413,649)                  (7,330)                    

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 439,383                    446,713                  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 20 25,734                      439,383                  



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

(FORMERLY, “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.”) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS AND GONING CONCERN 

 

EA Education Group Inc. (formerly “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.”) (the “Company”) was incorporated pursuant 

to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name “1156261 Ontario Inc.” on 

November 21, 1995. The Company changed its name to “Croesus Gold Inc.” on July 19, 1996, and continued 

into British Columbia pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on November 17, 2006 

under the name “Croesus Gold Inc.”. On June 20, 2008, the Company changed its name to “Kenieba 

Goldfields Ltd.” (“Kenieba”) that was listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading 

symbol “KEN”. Its principal business at the time was to acquire, explore and develop mineral property.  

 

On February 18, 2015, Kenieba acquired 100% ownership of EA Education Group Inc. (“EAEG Private”) by 

issuing 120,000,000 common shares to the shareholders of EAEG Private. This resulted in the previous 

shareholders of EAEG Private obtaining control of the combined entity and constituted a reverse takeover 

(“RTO”). Subsequent to the acquisition, Kenieba amalgamated with EAEG and the new Company continued 

as the name “EA Education Group Inc.” and its stock symbol from in CSE changed from “KEN” to “EA”. 

 

The Company, together with its subsidiaries, provides international educational service and comprehensive 

student housing services in Canada and China. The address of the Company’s corporate office and principal 

place of business is 4576 Yonge Street, Unit 600, Toronto, Ontario M2N 6N4. 

 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended August 31, 2016 were approved and authorized 

for issuance by the Board of Directors of the Company on June 27, 2017.  

 

Going Concern 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that 

the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and be able to realize its assets and 

discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. Management uses judgment to 

assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and the existence of conditions that cast doubt 

upon the going concern assumption.  

 

For the year ended August 31, 2016, the Company reported a net loss of $1,460,477 (2015 - $2,013,909) 

and used net cash in operating activities of $813,200 (2015 - $2,294,231).  As at August 31, 2016, the 

Company had an accumulated deficit of $3,519,265 (2015 - $2,058,788). Management’s current plan is to 

actively work with the Company’s Board to collect its loans and amounts due from related parties (Note 13, 

14 & 21), while at the same time focus on increasing revenue and exercise careful cost control to sustain 

operations. The Board believes that there is a reasonable expectation that the Company will be successful 

in collecting its loans and amounts due from its related parties and obtaining the necessary financing 

resolution to address its working capital needs and for this reason believes it is appropriate to continue to 

adopt the going concern basis in preparing these consolidated financial statements.   
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The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to collect its loan and 

amounts due from related parties and ultimately attain and maintain profitable operations. Historically, the 

Company has not yet realized profitable operations and has relied on non-operational sources of financing 

to fund its operations. Whether and when the Company can attain profitability and positive cash flows is 

uncertain. While in the past, the Company has been successful in obtaining funding from equity financings, 

there is no assurance that such initiatives will be successful in the future. Accordingly, there is a material 

uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

These consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments to the carrying values of assets and 

liabilities and the reported amounts of expenses and statement of financial position classifications that 

would be necessary if the going concern assumption were not appropriate and such adjustments could be 

material. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

Statement of Compliance 

 

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries have been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

Basis of Measurement 

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 

financial instruments measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies below.  In addition, 

these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  

 

Functional and presentation currency 

 

The functional currency of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Duke College Inc. (“Duke”), is the 

Canadian dollars, while the functional currency of its other wholly owned subsidiary, EA International 

Education Co., Limited, is Chinese Yuan. These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian 

dollars.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Basis of Consolidation  

 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of EA Education Group Inc. (formerly 

“Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Duke and EA International Education Co., 

Limited, which are controlled by the Company.  

 

Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 

with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.  

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 

when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 

the Company gains control until the date the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealized gains arising from intercompany transactions are 

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

 

Foreign Currency 

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Company 

and its subsidiaries at the exchange rate in effect at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities are 

translated at the exchange rates in effect at date of financial position. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 

measured at historical costs that are denominated in other than the functional currency are translated at 

the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Revenues and expenses are translated at the exchange 

rates prevailing at the date of the transaction except for amortization, which is translated at historical rates. 

Translation gains or losses are included in profit or loss. 

 
Foreign Operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 

acquisition, are translated to the Company’s presentation currency at exchange rates at the financial 

position date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into the Company’s 

presentation currency at average exchange rates for the year. Foreign currency differences are recognized 

as other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated in a separate component of shareholders’ equity, 

described as foreign currency translation adjustment.  
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Business Combinations and Goodwill  

 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for the 

acquisition is measured at the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities assumed and the equity 

interests issued at the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration over the fair value of the identifiable 

net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Transaction costs that are incurred in connection with a 

business combination are expensed as incurred. Any costs associated with the issuance of equity securities 

are recorded as a reduction of share capital. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, any non-controlling 

interest is measured either at fair value of the non-controlling interest or at the fair value of the 

proportionate share of the net assets acquired. 

 

Any contingent consideration is measured at the fair value on acquisition date and is included as part of the 

consideration transferred. The fair value of the contingent consideration is re-measured at each reporting 

date with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in net income or loss. 

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 

and the amount recognized for non-controlling interests) and any previous interest held over the net 

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess 

of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Company re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all 

of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the 

amounts to be recognized at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair 

value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in 

profit or loss. 

 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 

purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 

allocated to each of the Company’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 

combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that 

unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount 

of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances 

is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating 

unit retained. 

 

Cash  

 

Cash consists of cash at banks and or short term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 
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Accounts Receivable 

 

Trade receivables are stated at their amortized costs less allowance made for doubtful receivables based 

on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year end. An allowance for doubtful receivables is made when 

there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 

original terms of receivables. Bad debts are written off when identified. 

 

Plant and Equipment 

 

Property and equipment are recorded at historical cost (including directly applicable taxes, freight-in and 

installation costs), net of accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is 

recognized to write off the cost of assets less their residual value over their estimated useful lives at the 

following annual rates:  

 

• Computer equipment - 30% per annum  

• Furniture and equipment - 20% per annum  

• Leasehold improvements - straight-line over the lesser of lease term and three years 
 

• Vehicles – 20% per annum 
 

The Company reviews the estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method at each period-

end, accounting for the effect of any changes in estimate on a prospective basis. 

Intangible Assets Acquired  

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 

assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 

recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any.  

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful economic lives and assessed for 

impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization 

period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at 

the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of 

consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the 

amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 

amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in profit or loss in the expense 

category consistent with the function of the intangible assets.  
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Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually, 

either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually 

to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from 

indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.  

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of 

profit or loss when the asset is derecognized. 

The intangible assets of the Company include curriculum it purchased, and Duke’s education licenses and 

programs on the acquisition of Duke. The useful life of the curriculum and the education programs is 

estimated to be 5 years and amortized accordingly. The useful life of the education licenses is estimated to 

be indefinite. In 2016, the Company tested the impairment of the intangible assets and concluded that the 

education licenses and education program acquired from Duke were impaired. See Note 10.  

Impairment of Non-financial Assets  

 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each financial position date to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the 

recoverable amount is estimated annually.    

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the higher of its fair value less cost of disposal 

and its value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is defined as the estimated price that would be received on 

the sale of the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-

tax discounted rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset.  For the purposes of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are 

grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 

are largely independent of the cash inflows of other groups of assets (cash generating units or “CGUs”). The 

allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 

internal reporting purposes.  

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 

estimated recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses 

recognized in respect of the cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 

goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit on 

a pro-rata basis.  

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.  In respect of other assets, impairment losses 

recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decrease 
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or no longer exists.  When impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased 

to the revised estimated recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not exceed the carrying amount 

that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  A 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Revenue Recognition  

 

Revenue 

 

Revenue is derived from the supply of student housing, educational programs and services, and 

international education exchange events. A summary of the revenue recognition policies for each of the 

Company’s business and services is as follows:  

Revenue from student housing fees is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of student housing 

services.  

Education program & service is derived from initial royalty fees relating to new EA clubs opening, annual 

management fee charged with a flat rate to each EA club, one-time student registration fees charged by 

the Company for students enrolled in its EA clubs in China, and tuition fee of Duke. Initial royalty fees for 

new EA clubs are amortized over the term of the service agreements between EA and clubs. Annual 

management fees are recognized in income on a straight-line basis unless there is significant uncertainty 

concerning the collectability of such revenues, in which case management fees are recognized when 

received. One-time student registration fees are recognized when new students enroll in the Company’s EA 

clubs unless there is significant uncertainty concerning the collectability of such revenues, in which case 

one-time student registration fees are recognized when received. Tuition fee of Duke is recognized on a 

straight-line basis over the period of the courses enrolled for.  

Revenues from international education exchange events are all short term and recognized upon completion 

of the events.  

Deferred revenue 

 

Deferred revenue represents cash received in advance of revenue recognition for contractually obligated 

services which have not yet been performed. These amounts are recognized in income as described above. 

Interest income  

 

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss when receivable. 
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Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has an obligation, either legal or constructive, as a result of a 

past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. 

Provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, a provision for a liability of 

uncertain timing is recorded. Provisions are measured at the present value of the outflow of resources 

expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money 

and the risk specific to the obligation. Any increase in a provision due to the passage of time is recognized 

as a financing expense. Any increase in a provision due to a change in estimate is expensed. 

Income Taxes 

 

The Company follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income tax. Income tax expense 

comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to 

the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other 

comprehensive income.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 

of previous years.  

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of unused tax losses and tax credits, as well as for temporary 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 

amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: 

the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 

affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries 

and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future and their timing of the reversal can be controlled. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for 

taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured on an 

undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when the 

related asset is realized or liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset, and they relate 

to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 

but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will 

be realized simultaneously. A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets 

are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 

related tax benefit will be realized. 
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Share Capital 

 

Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common 

shares, warrants and stock options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.  

 

Earnings (loss) Per Share 

 

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share data for its common shares. Basic 

earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of 

the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted 

earnings (loss) per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders 

and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all diluted 

potential common shares, which comprise warrants and share options issued.  

 

Segment reporting 

 

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may 

earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 

the Company’s other components.  Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well 

as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, 

head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.  

 

Financial Instruments 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.  Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from 

the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks 

and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when obligations are discharged, cancelled 

or expired. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 

financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

Classification and measurement 

 

At initial recognition, financial instruments are classified into the following categories depending on the 

purposes for which the instruments were acquired: 

 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”):  

A financial asset or liability is classified as FVTPL if acquired principally for the purpose of selling or 

repurchasing in the short-term. Derivatives are also included in this category unless they are designated as 
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hedges. Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value.  Gains 

and losses arising from changes in fair value are presented in the statement of operations within other gains 

and losses in the period in which they arise. Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL are classified as current 

except for the portion expected to be realized or paid beyond twelve months of the financial position date, 

which is classified as non-current. 

 

Available-for-sale: 

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 

recognized in other comprehensive operations except for losses in value that are considered other than 

temporary or a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost in which 

case the loss is recognized in the statement of income (loss).  They are included in current assets to the 

extent they are expected to be realized within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

 

Loans and receivables: 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market.  Loans and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be 

received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, 

loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision 

for impairment.  They are included in current assets to the extent they are expected to be realized within 

12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

 

Held-to-maturity investments  

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 

fixed maturities that the Company’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

These assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision for 

impairment. They are included in non-current assets, except for those which are expected to mature within 

12 months after the end of the reporting period.  

 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:  

Financial liabilities other than those classified as FVTPL are initially recognized at the amount required to 

be paid less, when material, a discount to reduce the payables to fair value. Subsequently, they are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities at amortized costs are 

classified as current liabilities if payment is due within twelve months after the end of the reporting period.  

Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 

  



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

(FORMERLY, “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.”) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

 

17 | P a g e  
 
 

 
The Company classifies its financial assets and liabilities depending on the purpose for which the financial 
instruments were acquired, their characteristics, and management intent as outlined below:  

 

 
Classification 

Cash  FVTPL 
Accounts receivables Loans and receivables 

Loans receivable Loans and receivables 

Due from related parties Loans and receivables 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other liabilities 

 

Other liabilities 

Due to related parties                                                                

Bank indebtedness 

Other liabilities 

Other liabilities 

 

The Company does not have any derivative financial instruments. 

 

Effective interest method  

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
  
Transaction costs  

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from fair 
value of financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognized 
immediately in profit or loss.  

Impairment of financial assets  

Financial assets, other than those classified at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for indicators 
of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there 
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected. 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments are those that have a significant risk of causing material 

adjustment and are often applied to matters or outcomes that are inherently uncertain and subject to 

change. As such, management cautions that future events often vary from forecasts and expectations and 

that estimates routinely require adjustment.  
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Management considers the following areas to be those where the significant estimates, which may involve 

assumptions requiring the application of judgments, are used in the preparation of the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements.  

 
Evaluation of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 

 

Management has applied judgements in the assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going 

concern when preparing these consolidated financial statements. Management prepares the consolidated 

financial statements on a going concern basis unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or 

to cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. In assessing whether the going concern 

assumption is appropriate, management takes into account all available information about the future, 

which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The assessment 

of the Company’s ability to execute its strategy and finance the operations through achieving positive cash 

flow from operations or by obtaining additional funding through debt or equity financing involves 

judgments. Management monitors future cash requirements to assess the Company’s ability to realize 

assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations. Please refer to Note 1 for more 

information.  

 

Impairment of Loans & Receivables  

 

The impairment assessment of the Company’s loans and receivables measured at amortized costs is based 

on management’s assessment of the business environment, customers’ or creditors’ financial conditions, 

historical collection experience, accounts receivable aging, customer disputes and the collectability of 

specific accounts. Estimates used to determine amount of impairment required involve uncertainties. If 

there were a deterioration of a major customer’s or creditors’ creditworthiness, or actual defaults were 

higher than the Company’s historical experience, estimates of the recoverability of amounts due could be 

overstated, which could have an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results.  

 

Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

 

The allocation of the purchase price for acquisitions involves determining the fair values for identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Estimation of fair values involve significant judgments, estimates 

and assumptions.  The acquisitions of Duke are most sensitive to the assumptions including gross margin, 

discount rates, and growth rate.  Please refer to Note 7 for more information.  

 

Assets useful life and residual values 

 

Certain long-lived non-financial assets with finite lives are amortized based on the estimated useful life 

less their estimated residual value. Significant assumptions are involved in the determination of useful life 
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and residual values and no assurance can be given that actual useful lives and residual values will not 

differ significantly from current assumptions. Changes to these estimates may affect the carrying value of 

these assets, net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) in future periods.  

 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets  

 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable 

amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less 

costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s 

length, for similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The 

value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from 

the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet 

committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash 

generating unit (“CGU”) being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the 

DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. 

These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives recognized 

by the Company. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the CGUs are 

disclosed and further explained in Notes 10 and 17.  

 

5. IFRS STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

The following is an overview of accounting standard changes that the Company will be required to adopt in 

future years. The Company is still in the process of assessing the impact on the financial statements of these 

new standards: 

 

• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements was amended by the IASB in December 2014. The 

amendments are designed to further encourage companies to apply professional judgment in 

determining what information to disclose in their financial statements. For example, the amendments 

make clear that materiality applies to the whole of financial statements and that the inclusion of 

immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness of financial disclosures. Furthermore, the 

amendments clarify that companies should use professional judgment in determining where and in 

what order information is presented in the financial disclosures. The effective date is for annual periods 

beginning or after January 1, 2016. Entities may still choose to apply IFRS 1 immediately, but are not 

required to do so.  

 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement was issued by the IASB in October 2010 

and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single 

approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing 

the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial 

instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial 
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liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The new standard also requires a single 

impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is available 

for application, with the mandatory effective date expected to be on or after January 1, 2018.  

 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued by the IASB in May 2014. The core principle 

of the new standard is for companies to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services 

to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration (that is, payment) to which the company 

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new standard will also result in 

enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide guidance for transactions that were not previously 

addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and contract modifications) and improve 

guidance for multiple-element arrangements. The effective date is for annual periods beginning or 

after January 1, 2018. Entities may still choose to apply IFRS 15 immediately, but are not required to 

do so.  

 

• IFRS 12 Income Taxes was amended by the IASB in January 2016 to clarify the recognition of deferred 

tax assets for unrealized losses. The effective date is for annual periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2017 with earlier application permitted.  

 

• IFRS 16 Leases was amended by IASB in January 2016 to eliminate the current dual accounting model 

for lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet 

operating leases. Under the new standard, a lease becomes an on-balance sheet liability that attracts 

interest, together with a new right-of-use asset. In addition, lessees will recognize a front-loaded 

pattern of expense for most leases, even when cash rentals are constant. IFRS 16 is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier adoption permitted. 

 

6. REVERSE TAKEOVER 

On February 18, 2015, Kenieba Goldfields Inc. (“Kenieba”) acquired 100% ownership of EAEG Private by 

issuing 120,000,000 common shares to the shareholders of EAEG Private. The reverse takeover (“RTO”) 

resulted in the previous shareholders of EAEG Private took control of the combined entity and is considered 

a RTO.  

As Kenieba did not qualify as a business prior to the RTO according to the guidance in IFRS 3, for accounting 

purposes, this acquisition is accounted for as a reverse takeover transaction and as a share-based 

transaction in return for the assets acquired and the listing cost.  
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Accounting for the acquisition as a reverse takeover results in the following:  

(i) The consolidated entity is considered to be a continuation of EAEG Private, with the net identifiable 

assets of Kenieba deemed to have been acquired by EAEG Private. 

(ii) Since EAEG Private is deemed to be the acquirer for accounting purposes, its assets and liabilities are 

included in the consolidated financial statements at their historical carrying values.  

(iii) The common shares, warrants, contributed surplus and deficit of Kenieba up to the date of RTO was 

eliminated.  

(iv) The number of shares issued in the consolidated entity is that of Kenieba up to the RTO date on 

February 18, 2015, plus all shares issued on and after the RTO date.  

(v) The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities of Kenieba assumed by EAEG Private are measured at their 

fair values at the acquisition date. Excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred by EAEG 

Private over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities of Kenieba assumed by 

EAEG Private is attributable to the cost of obtaining a listing status. This amount is expensed as it does 

not meet the criteria for recognition as an asset.  

(vi) The fiscal year end was changed from December 31 to August 31 to be consistent with the fiscal year 

end of EAEG Private. 

The following are the fair values of Kenieba’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed by EAEG Private on 

February 18, 2015 and consideration paid by EAEG Private: 

Net Assets (Liabilities) Acquired 

Cash   $ 1,154,004 

GST receivable 7,311 

Accounts payable (46,892) 

Subscription receipts (750,000) 

Net assets acquired: $ 364,423 
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Consideration Paid 

 

Fair value of Kenieba’s 24,065,868 existing common shares deemed 
issued by EAEG Private (at $0.05 per share) 

 
 $ 1,203,293 

  

Fair value of Kenieba’s existing 6,875,000 stock warrants deemed 
issued by EAEG Private (at $0.024* per warrant) 

 
 

167,470 

  
Total consideration paid:  $ 1,370,763 

 

 * The fair value of warrants is valued by using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following      

assumptions: 

Stock price volatility 195% 

Risk free interest rate  0.42% 

Expected life 1.33 year 

Expected dividend yield 0 

 

Costs Attributable to Obtaining a Listing Status: 

 

Total consideration paid $ 1,370,763 

Net assets acquired (364,423) 

Listing expenses: $ 1,006,340 

 

7. ACQUISITION OF DUKE COLLEGE INC. 

 

On June 15, 2015, EA Education Group Inc. (“EA”) closed the acquisition of Duke College Inc. (“Duke”). 

According to the Share Purchase Agreement, EA has acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of 

Duke.  The total purchase consideration of $500,000 includes: 

 

(1) $200,000 cash  

(2) $300,000 in form of 1,500,000 of common shares of the Company at $0.20 per share using the closing 

price of the Company’s common shares on the day immediately preceding the acquisition date.  
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The Net Assets acquired at fair value 

 

Cash $ 69,475 

Accounts receivable  898 

Rent deposit and prepaid rent  5,434 

Leasehold improvement, furniture and equipment  23,280 

Intangible assets  286,043 

Subtotal –Assets  385,130 

   

Accounts payable  (32,598) 

Deferred revenue  (121,361) 

Deferred tax liabilities   (12,308) 

Subtotal – Liabilities:  (166,267) 

   

Goodwill  281,137 

   

Total Net Assets (including Goodwill): $ 500,000 

 

The deferred tax liabilities mainly comprise the tax effect of the accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 

of tangible assets and intangible assets.  

The goodwill of $281,137 comprises the value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition, which is 

not separately recognized. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax 

purposes. 

 

Since the acquisition, Duke College Inc. had sales of $47,565 and loss before taxes of $69,086 up to August 

31, 2015. If the acquisition had occurred on September 1, 2014, management estimates that sales would 

have been $488,284 (unaudited) and loss before taxes for the same year would have been $10,971 

(unaudited). In determining these amounts, management has assumed that the fair value adjustments that 

arose on the acquisition dates would have been the same if the acquisition had occurred on September 1, 

2014. 

 

8.  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE  

 
Accounts receivable consisted of trade receivables of $361,354 (2015 - $20,672) and HST receivable of 

$132,273 (2015: $50,694) as of August 31, 2016.  The aging of trade receivable, net of allowance for doubtful 

accounts, at each reporting date was as follows: 
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 2016  2015  

 $                                                                                                     $                              

Current to 30 days 228,259  -  

31 to 90 days 8,015  6,037  

91 to 365 days 111,092  14,635  

Over 365 days 13,988  -  

Total $ 361,354 $ 20,672  

 

During the year ended August 31, 2015, $139,710 of the trade receivables was written off because 

management determined that the amount is not collectable. During the year ended August 31, 2016, no 

trade receivables were written off because the Shareholders provided personal guarantee for trade 

receivables from the EA Clubs. Refer to Note 21 for details.  

 

9.  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Cost

Lease 

Improvements

Furniture and 

Equipment

Computer 

Equipment
Vehicles Total

Balance, August 31, 2014                    14,087                       15,840                  10,632             -        40,559 

Additions                            -                         43,553                          -          5,673      49,226 

Balance, August 31, 2015                    14,087                       59,393                  10,632        5,673      89,785 

Additions                            -                           2,849                          -               -          2,849 

Balance, August 31, 2016                    14,087                       62,242                  10,632        5,673      92,634 

Accumulated amortization

Balance, August 31, 2014                         805                         1,597                       800             -          3,202 

Amortization                      4,830                         8,905                    2,233           851      16,819 

Balance, August 31, 2015                      5,635                       10,502                    3,033           851      20,021 

Amortization                      4,830                         9,183                    3,953           964      18,930 

Balance, August 31, 2016                    10,465                       19,685                    6,986        1,815      38,951 

Net Carrying Amounts

At August 31, 2015                      8,452                       48,891                    7,599        4,822      69,764 

Balance, August 31, 2016                      3,622                       42,557                    3,646        3,858      53,683 
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10.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
  

  EAEG’s 
curriculum 
purchased 

  Duke’s 
education 

licenses  

  Duke’s 
education 
programs 

 Total 

Cost 
      

 
 

Balance 
      

 
 

at August 31, 2014 $ 300,000 $ - $ - $ 300,000 

Acquisition of Duke College 
 

- 
 

241,000 
 

45,043  286,043 

Balance 
      

 
 

at August 31, 2015 $ 300,000 $ 241,000 $ 45,043 $ 586,043 

Balance 
      

 
 

at August 31, 2016 $ 300,000 $ 241,000 $ 45,043 $ 586,043 
       

 
 

Accumulated amortization 
and impairment  

      
 

 

at August 31, 2014 $ 91,000 $ - $ - $ 91,000 

Amortization 
 

60,000 
 

- 
 

3,128  63,128 

Balance 
      

 
 

at August 31, 2015 $ 151,000 $ - $ 3,128 $ 154,128 

Amortization 
 

60,000 
 

- 
 

9,000  69,000 

Impairment $ - $ 241,000 $ 32,915 $ 273,915 

Balance 
      

 
 

at August 31, 2016 $ 211,000 $ 241,000 $ 45,043 $ 497,043        
 

 

Net Carrying Amounts 
      

 
 

At August 31, 2015 $ 149,000 $ 241,000 $ 41,915 $ 431,915 

At August 31, 2016 $ 89,000 $ - $ - $ 89,000 

 

Impairment of Duke’s education licenses, program and goodwill: 

During the year ended August 31, 2016, the Company performed the annual impairment testing on the Duke’s 

intangible assets and goodwill. The calculation of the value in use was based on the following key assumptions for 

the cash-generating units:  

•Cash flows were projected over a five-year period based on past experience and actual operating results.  

• Growth rate applied on revenue is 43% in year one and 15% thereafter.  

• Discount rate applied was 23% to cash generating unit to determine its recoverable amount (Note 17).  
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As a result of the annual impairment test, the recoverable amount of Duke’s cash-generating unit was lower than 

its net book value. Therefore, an impairment loss on goodwill of $281,137 (2015: nil) (Note 17) and impairment on 

intangible of $273,915 (2015: nil) are recorded for the year-ended August 31, 2016.  

Significant management judgement is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating and economic changes on the 

Company. Critical assumptions include projected operating and administrative expenses, change in capital 

expenditures, growth rates, as well as an appropriate discount rate. If the discount rate decreased to 22%, 

impairment of the intangible asset would decrease by $19,833.  If the ongoing growth rate is increased (decreased) 

by 1% from 15%, the impairment of the intangible asset would decrease by $21,692 ($21,217). 

 

11.       SHARE CAPITAL 

 

Authorized: 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 

Issuances of share capital: 

 

a) On February 18, 2015, in a reverse takeover acquisition, the outstanding shares of EAEG Private were 

exchanged for 120,000,000 common shares of the Company.  

b) Concurrent with the reverse takeover transaction, the Company completed a non-brokered private 

placement for 15,000,000 common shares at $0.05 per share for aggregate proceeds of $750,000. The 

Company paid finder’s fees of $60,000 in cash.  

c) On April 27, 2015, the Company completed the first tranche of a private placement for 8,452,000 

common shares for an aggregate amount of $1,690,400. The Company continues its offering to raise 

up to $4,000,000. The Company paid finder’s fees of $106,032.  

d) On June 15, 2015, 1,500,000 common shares were issued at $0.20 for the acquisition of Duke.  

e) On August 24, 2015, the Company closed on the second tranche of the private placement, which raised 

aggregate gross proceeds of $423,000 by the issuance of 2,115,000 common shares at $0.20 per 

common share. 

f) On June 13, 2016, 60,000 common shares were issued on exercise of 60,000 warrants for $0.10 per 

share. 

g) On June 24, 2016, the Company closed a private placement and issued 3,064,000 common shares at 

$0.10 per share for cash consideration of $306,400.   

 

Securities held in escrow 

 

Pursuant to the escrow agreement, 120,000,000 common shares issued to the shareholders of EAEG Private 

were escrowed subject to release only with regulatory approval to the release provisions of the escrow 

agreement. As of August 31, 2016, 54,000,000 (2015 - 80,000,000) common shares were still held in escrow.  



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

(FORMERLY, “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.”) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

 

27 | P a g e  
 
 

Stock options 

 

Concurrent with the reverse takeover transaction, the Company adopted its existing stock option rolling 

plan to reserve 10% of issued shares for issuance to executive officers, directors, employees and consultants 

of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option is set on the date of grant at no less than 

the discount market price of the Company’s stock as determined per the CSE policy. Options granted under 

the plan have a term not to exceed ten years and are subject to vesting provisions as determined by the 

board of directors. There were no stock options granted during the years ended August 31, 2015 and 2016. 

There were no stock options outstanding as at August 31, 2016 and 2015. No stock-based compensation 

expense was recognized for the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015. 

 

Warrants 

Warrant transactions are summarized as follows: 

 
Number of  

Warrants  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

 
Weighted 

Average Life 
Remaining 

Warrants outstanding and exercisable, 
September1, 2014 6,875,000 $ 0.10 1.80 

Warrants outstanding and exercisable,  August 
31, 2015 6,875,000 $ 0.10 0.80 

Warrants exercised (60,000) $ 0.10 - 

Warrants expired (6,815,000) $ 0.10 - 

Warrants outstanding and exercisable,  August 
31, 2016 - $ - - 
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12.   INCOME TAX 

The following table reconciles the expected income tax expense (recovery) at the Canadian statutory income tax 
rates to the amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the 
years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015: 

 
   2016  2015 

Loss before income taxes   $  (1,441,002) $  (1,950,566) 

Statutory tax rate   26.00%  21.00% 

Expected income tax (recovery)    (374,661)   (409,619) 

Non-deductible expense    150,050    216,763  

Withholding tax    31,783   - 

Change in estimates    (53,880)   (68,144) 

Change in tax rates    (8,115)   -  

Functional currency adjustment    18,134    -  

Foreign tax rate difference    (1,372)   (32,182) 

Change in deferred tax asset not recognized  257,536   293,182  

Total income tax expense   $  19,475  $ - 
      

Current tax expense    31,783  - 

Deferred tax expense (recovery)    (12,308)  - 

Total income tax expense   $  19,475  $ - 

 

Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax values. Deferred tax assets (liabilities) at August 31, 2016 
and 2015 are comprised of the following: 

   2016  2015 

Losses carry forward  $  15,351  $  12,308  

Equipment    (3,043)   -    

Intangible assets  
  (12,308)   (12,308) 

  $  -    $  -    
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Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their corresponding values for tax purposes.  
The unrecognized deductible temporary differences are as follows: 
 

   2016  2015 

      
Property and equipment - Canada  $  131,044  $  85,282  

Charitable donation - Canada    2,730    2,330  

Financing costs -Canada    123,757    153,886  

Capital losses -Canada    40,636    -    

Non-capital loss carry forwards - Canada     1,800,907    734,536  

Non-capital loss carry forwards - Hong Kong    20,382    20,382  

Unrecognized deductible temporary differences  $  2,119,456  $  996,416  

 
 
As at August 31, 2016, the Company has not recognized a deferred tax asset in respect of non-capital loss 
carryforwards of approximately $1,800,907 which may be carried forward to apply against future year income 
tax for Canadian income tax purposes and approximately $20,382 for Hong Kong income tax purposes, subject 
to the final determination by taxation authorities, expiring in the following years: 
 
 

    

Expiry  Canada  Hong Kong 

2036 $ 809,264 $  -    

2035  910,422   -    

2034  81,221  - 

2020   -     20,382 

TOTAL $ 1,800,907 $ 20,382 

 
    

 
The Company has not recognized a deferred tax asset in respect of capital loss carryforwards of approximately 
$40,636, which may be carried forward indefinitely to apply against future capital gains for Canadian income tax 
purposes, subject to the final determination by taxation authorities. 



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

(FORMERLY, “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.”) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

 

30 | P a g e  
 
 

13.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

The Company defines related parties to include significant shareholders, key management and officers 

and directors, as well as companies controlled by them.  

  2016  2015 

Due from Zhongjiu (a) $ 536,320 $ 216,196 

Due from Shareholders (b)  150,538  790,580 

Due from EA Homestay Inc. (c)  29,780  41,998 

Due from Jiuding Group (Canada) (f)  40,000  - 

Due from Rufeng International (g)  146,149  - 

Due from related parties $ 902,787 $ 1,048,774 

Less: current portion   700,747  1,048,774 

Due from related parties – non - current $ 202,040 $ - 

Due to directors (d)  (26,000)  (33,000) 

Due to related parties  $ (26,000) $ (33,000) 

 

(a) On March 28, 2012, the Company entered into a Strategic Partnership Cooperation Agreement (the 

“Agreement”) with Guangzhou Zhongjiu Education Consulting Co., Ltd (“Zhongjiu”), a company 

controlled by significant shareholders of the Company who are also officers and directors of the 

Company. The Agreement is for ten years until March 27, 2022. At the expiry date, the Agreement will 

be automatically renewed for the same period unless one or both of the parties terminates the 

Agreement. As a strategic partner of the Company, Zhongjiu is to represent the Company to collectively 

market and execute the Company’s growth strategy in China. Zhongjiu represents the Company in 

franchising the Company’s brand and curriculum services to local Chinese schools (“EA Clubs”) and 

helps in the day to day management of the franchising network. Zhongjiu itself also owns an EA Club 

(“Zhongjiu Club”). 
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In return, the Company waived Zhongjiu Club’s brand franchising and service fee until December 31, 

2013. The Company has continued to charge Zhongjiu for its ongoing curriculum fees and student 

registration fees since January 1, 2014. In addition, when the number of the EA Clubs in China reaches 

more than 50, 20% of the service fee from these clubs will be shared by Zhongjiu. For the year ended 

August 31, 2016, the revenue from Zhongjiu was $172,773 (2015 - $250,697). In addition, $54,000 

tuition fees of Duke College had been received by Zhongjiu on behalf of the Company but was retained 

by Zhongjiu and was recorded as due from Zhongjiu as at August 31, 2016. $43,440 of Zhongjiu’s 

expenses were paid by the Company on behalf of Zhongjiu and $19,570 receivable from EA clubs had 

been collected by Zhongjiu on behalf of the Company. There is also a foreign currency translation 

difference of $1,626 for the year ended August 31, 2016.  As of August 31, 2016, the balance of due 

from Zhongjiu totaled $536,320 (2015 - $216,196) that included $28,715 interest accrued at 8% 

annually, is unsecured and due on demand. The Company also has a loan receivable from Zhongjiu of 

$721,042 (see Note 14(b)).  

(b) Due from shareholders as at August 31, 2015 comprised promissory notes from the two significant 

shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) who are also the officers and directors of the 

Company. The promissory notes were signed in June 2015 and bore interest of 8% per annum. The 

promissory notes were due on demand of the Company and the principal plus interest of $15,604 were 

paid off by the Shareholders in December 2015. In 2016, the Company made advances of $59,096 to 

the Shareholders, and the Shareholders received $90,000 (Note 14 (a)) on behalf of the Company. See 

also Note 13(e). As at August 31, 2016 the balance from the Shareholders totalled $150,538 (2015 - 

$790,580) that included $1,442 interest accrued at 8% annually, is due on demand and unsecured.  

 

(c) EA Homestay Inc. is a company controlled by one of the significant shareholders noted in the note 13(a) 

above. In the fiscal year of 2016, EA Homestay Inc. paid certain expenditures in the amount of $17,218 

related to the Company’s student housing services on behalf of the Company. As at August 31, 2016 

there was $29,780 (2015: $41,998) that was due from EA Homestay Inc. The balance, which bears 

interest of 8% per annum, is due on demand and unsecured. 
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(d) Due to directors represents the director fees payable to the Company’s directors.  

 

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company incurred compensation to the Company’s 

officers and directors in the amount as follows.  

 

  2016 
 

2015 
Salaries, consultant fees and other benefits 
benefits 

$ 179,298  $            217,124 

Directors' fees  60,000  65,000 

 $ 239,298  $            282,124 

 

During the year ended August 31, 2016, a director of the Company has forgiven consulting fee payable 

of $40,000, of which $26,000 incurred for the year ended August 31, 2015 and $14,000 incurred for 

the year ended August 31, 2016.  

 

During the year ended August 31, 2016, one of the Shareholders of the Company has forgiven salary in 

the amount of $30,000. 

 

(e) The Company rented one property from one of the Shareholders for the Company’s student housing 

services and paid rent in the amount of $60,000 for the fiscal year of 2016 (2015 -  $90,000).  

 

(f) During the year ended August 31, 2016 the Company made an advance of $40,000 to Jiuding Group Inc. 

a company controlled by the Shareholders of the Company that is unsecured, due on demand and bears 

interest of 8% per annum. 

 

(g) During the year ended August 31, 2016 the Company made an advance of $98,230 to Rufeng 

International (China), a company controlled by the Shareholders of the Company that is unsecured and 

due on demand. In addition, $39,050 tuition fees of Duke College had been received by Rufeng 

International (China) on behalf of the Company but was retained by Rufeng and was recorded as due 

from Rufeng as at August 31, 2016. The balance, which bears interest of 8% per annum, is due on 

demand, unsecured. 

 

(h) The Company expects to receive 100% of the outstanding balance and interest from the related parties, 

which is guaranteed by the Shareholders and secured by the Shareholders’ personal real estate asset 

in Toronto, by December 31, 2017 (see Note 21) 

 

(i) The Company recognized interest income of $98,401 (2015 - $10,402) in the consolidated statements 

of operations related to due from related parties and promissory notes from Zhongjiu (Note 14(b)), 

which all bear interest of 8% per annum. 
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14.  LOANS RECEIVABLE 

 

 Loans receivable consisted of the following: 

 

 (a) A loan agreement with Access International Education Inc., a Canadian public company (symbol: AOE) 

was signed on November 27, 2013 for a principal amount of $150,000. The loan receivable is unsecured 

and bears interest of 8% per annum. The loan receivable is renewable every 3 months at the option of the 

Company. The balance of this loan plus interest receivable was $171,271 as of August 31, 2015. In 2016, 

$90,000 was received by the Shareholders of the Company and recorded as due from the Shareholders, and 

the balance of $81,271 was written off in the year ended August 31, 2016 due to the balance is estimated 

not to be receivable because Access International Education Inc. had no financial resources to meet its 

liabilities and obligations as at August 31, 2016. 

 

(b) Promissory notes agreements with the related party, Zhongjiu were signed in 2015 for principal amount 

of $658,000. The promissory notes bear interest of 8% per annum and are repayable in one year from the 

day of advance. The promissory notes are guaranteed by the Shareholders personally and it is due on 

demand. The total balance of the promissory notes plus interest is $721,042 as of August 31, 2016 (2015 - 

$668,402). Management expects to receive repayment of the promissory notes subsequent to August 31, 

2017 and outstanding balance has been classified as long-term. See Note 21. 

 

15.        FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

Fair Value 

 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value must be classified using a three-level hierarchy that reflects the 

significance and transparency of the inputs used in making the fair value measurements: 

 

• Level 1 - inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active markets;  

• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and  

• Level 3 - one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique to determine fair value 

are unobserved.  

 

The Company carried its cash at FVTPL. The carrying values of the Company’s accounts receivable, due to 

and due from related parties, loans receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments. The long 

term portion of due from related parties and loans receivable bear interest of 8% per annum which 

approximate the market rate, so carrying value of the long term portion also approximate their fair values.  
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Risks 

 

The Company's risks exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized 

below:  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the loss associated with counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations. The 

Company’s exposure to credit risk includes cash, accounts receivable, loan receivable and due from related 

parties. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying value of these financial 

assets. The Company reduces its credit risk by: maintaining its bank accounts at large financial institutions, 

and monitoring accounts receivables. The trade receivables, loan receivables and due from related parties 

as of August 31, 2016 are guaranteed by the Shareholders. Please refer to Note 21 (a) for details.  

 

Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become 

due. The Company's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that sufficient cash and credit facilities 

are available to meet liabilities when due. As at August 31, 2016, the Company had working capital of 

$94,169. The ability to do this relies on the Company collecting its trade receivables in a timely manner and 

receive repayment for its loan and/or amounts due from related parties to maintain sufficient cash in excess 

of anticipated needs.  

Currency Risk 

The Company is exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates. A 

significant change in the currency exchange rate between the Canadian Dollar relative to Chinese Yuan 

would not have a significant effect on the Company’s results of operations during the years ended August 

31, 2016 and 2015. 

Capital Management 

The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure sufficient liquidity to support its financial 

obligations and raise the necessary equity financing to execute its operating and strategic growth plans.  
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In the management of capital, the Company includes items in shareholders’ equity (excluding accumulated 

other comprehensive income) in the definition of capital. The Company manages the capital structure and 

makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the 

underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 

management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain future 

development of the business. The Board of Directors oversees the Company’s capital structure and financial 

management, approves matters related to acquisitions, investments and financing and continuously 

monitors the Company’s exposure to financial risks.  

The Company is still currently in its development stage, and has not paid dividends on any occasion, but has 

instead reinvested the generated profits mainly to finance ongoing development activities and thereby 

create growth for the Company. As such, the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its 

activities. In order to carry out the planned business expansion and pay for administrative costs, the 

Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed.  

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 

given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company operates in a single segment, being the provider of education programs to students in China 

and Canada. In presenting information on the basis of geographical information, segment revenue is based 

on the geographical location of the customers. A summary of geographical information for the Company’s 

revenue for the year is as follows: 

 

      2016   2015 

Canada   $ 706,985 $  773,024 

China    471,222  833,322 

Total   $ 1,178,207 $  1,606,346 

 

17. GOODWILL  

The Company performed its annual impairment test as at August 31, 2016 and 2015. For the year ended 

August 31, 2016, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $281,137 (2015: $nil) (Note 10) 

determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets of Duke 

covering a five-year period. The discounting rate used for the testing was 23%. If the discount rate is 

decreased to 22%, impairment of goodwill would remain the same as impairment would be first applied 

against Duke’s goodwill then to Duke’s intangible assets.  
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18. COMMITMENTS 

 

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into operating leases on certain premises and motor 

vehicles, with lease term between one year and four years.  

 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at August 31, 2016 is as follows: 

  August 31, 2016 

Within one year $ 256,855 

After one year but not more than five years  195,435 

More than five years  - 

Total Commitments  452,290 

 

The Company terminated the lease of one of its premises in December 2016 before the original term 

expiring on May 31, 2017. Therefore, the lease payments of $8,025 per month from December 2016 is not 

included in the minimum rental payable above. Please refer to Note 21 for details.  

19. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES 

  2016 2015 

Depreciation and amortization  $ 27,930 16,819 

Bank charges  4,309 4,509 

Professional fees  161,023 270,488 

Payroll and consulting   734,417 574,379 

Travel, automobile and entertainment   64,744 145,986 

Commission  100,798 8,857 

Rent expense  93,529 96,429 

General and administrative  101,325 51,087 

Bad debt   - 139,710 

Other tax expense  27,180 49,403 

Foreign exchange loss (gain)  - (1,037) 

 $ 1,315,255 1,356,630 

 



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

(FORMERLY, “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.”) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

 

37 | P a g e  
 
 

20. CASH  

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

 

     2016   2015 

Cash   $ 62,657 $  439,383 

Bank indebtedness    (36,923)  - 

Total   $ 25,734 $  439,383 

 

21. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

(a) Subsequent to August 31, 2016, the Company collected $828,147 from the related parties as follows:                

 

                 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(b) On June 21, 2017, the Shareholders have personally signed a Guarantee to the Company to guarantee 

for the repayment of the loans receivable, due from related party and the receivables from EA Clubs 

before December 31, 2017. One of the Shareholders’ personal real estate assets in Toronto is used as 

collateral that has an appraisal value of $10.0 million and mortgages of $6.9 million. 

 

(c) A student housing lease agreement expired on January 31, 2017 and renewed to June 30, 2017 at $2,700 

per month.  

 

(d) In December 2016, the Company terminated the lease of one of its premises in December 2016 before 

the original term expiring on May 31, 2017. The Company will pay the landlord of the premise sum of 

$57,281. Payment of the settlement funds will occur as follows: $10,000 in June 2017, with the balance of 

$47,281 payable in nine monthly instalments of $5,000, and a final instalment of $2,281, due on the first 

business day of each month, commencing August 1, 2017. 

  

 Related Parties    Amounts Collected 

Shareholders   $ 151,817 

EA Homestay Inc.    30,602 

Jiuding Group (Canada)    40,934 

Rufeng International    148,902 

Zhongjiu    455,892 

Total   $ 828,147 
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22. COMPARATIVE FIGURES  

The prior year’s comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation. 

 

(a) Wages, directors fee and consulting, commission, rent expense, professional, meal and travel, 

amortization and other have been grouped as general and administration expenses in the 

consolidated statements of operations for the year ended August 31, 2015. The details of the 

general and administration expenses have been disclosed in Note 19 of the consolidated financial 

statements.  

 

(b) Interest receivable from Zhongjiu in the amount of $10,402 has been reclassified from due from 

related parties to loan receivable in the consolidated statements of financial position as at August 

31, 2015.  

 

(c) Withholding tax in the amount of $63,343 has been reclassified from other tax expenses to income 

tax expenses in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended August 31, 2015.  
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Notice of No Auditor Review of Interim Financial Statements 
 
Under National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3(3) (a), if an auditor has not performed a review 

of the consolidated interim financial statements; they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that the 

financial statements have not been reviewed by an auditor.  

The accompanying unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the Company have 

been prepared by and are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 

The Company’s independent auditor has not performed a review of these consolidated interim financial 

statements in accordance with standards established by the International Financial Reporting Standards 

established by the International Accounting Standards Board for a review of interim financial statements 

by an entity’s auditor.  
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.

Unaudited Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As at
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

(Unaudited) (Audited) 

February 28, August 31, 

Notes 2018                  2017                

Assets

Current

Cash and cash equivalents 25,480               12,340             

Accounts receivable 7(a) 19,969               429,376           

Loan receivable 8 799,802             -                   

Prepaid expenses and deposits 24,414               6,232               

869,665             447,948           

Loan receivable 8 -                     773,682           

Prepaid expenses and deposits -                     9,341               

Property, plant and equipment 13,934               15,484             

13,934               798,507           

Total assets 883,599             1,246,455        

Liabilities

Current

Bank indebtedness 46,649               39,802             

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 449,405             597,824           

Deferred revenue 162,890             284,930           

Payments received in advance 12 100,000             -                   

Due to related parties 7 147,802             77,900             

Total liabilities 906,746             1,000,456        

Equity

Share capital 6 4,517,961          4,517,961        

Share based payment reserve 6 162,670             162,670           

Accumulated other comprehensive income (4,464)                (2,553)              

Deficit (4,699,314)         (4,432,079)       

Total equity (23,147)              245,999           

Total liabilities and equity 883,599             1,246,455        

Nature and continuance of operations and going concerin (Note 1)

Commitments (Note 11)

Events after the reporting period (Note 12)

Signed: "Wendy Xu", Director

Signed: "Weidong Wang", Director

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

Unaudited Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

For the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except for per share amount)

3 months 3 months 6 months 6 months 

ended ended ended ended 

February 28, February 28, February 28, February 28,

Notes 2018           2017           2018           2017           

$ $ $ $

Revenues 155,732      260,599      309,391      562,535      

Expenses 

Direct operating costs 112,908      197,629      234,879      382,477      

General and administrative expenses        7 246,247      235,886      406,302      507,893      

Expenses recovery      12 (50,039)       -              (50,039)       -              

Marketing and promotion 3,197          27,258        11,604        32,595        

Interest income (12,520)       (23,731)       (26,120)       (53,046)       

299,793      437,042      576,626      869,919      

Net loss (144,061)     (176,443)     (267,235)     (307,384)     

Other comprehensive (loss) income 

(Loss) gain on translation of foreign operations (1,911)         (1)                (1,911)         (2,342)         

Total comprehensive loss (145,972)     (176,444)     (269,146)     (309,726)     

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.00)           (0.00)           (0.00)           (0.00)           

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic and diluted 174,256,868 174,256,868 174,256,868 174,256,868

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

Unaudited Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except shares)

Accumulated

other Total

Common shares Share-based comprehensive shareholders'

Notes Shares Amount payment reserve Income (loss) Deficit equity

$ $ $ $ $

Balance at August 31, 2016 174,256,868      4,517,961            162,670          (1,432)               (3,519,265)     1,159,934    

Net loss for the period -                    -                       -                  -                    (307,384)        (307,384)      

Other comprehensive income -                    -                       -                  (2,342)               -                 (2,342)          

Balance at February 28, 2017 174,256,868      4,517,961            162,670          (3,774)               (3,826,649)     850,208       

Net loss for the period -                    -                       -                  -                    (605,430)        (605,430)      

Translation of foreign operations -                    -                       -                  1,221                -                 1,221           

Balance at August 31, 2017 174,256,868      4,517,961            162,670          (2,553)               (4,432,079)     245,999       

Net loss for the period -                    -                       -                  -                    (267,235)        (267,235)      

Translation of foreign operations -                    -                       -                  (1,911)               -                 (1,911)          

Balance at February 28, 2018 174,256,868      4,517,961            162,670          (4,464)               (4,699,314)     (23,147)        

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the six months ended February 28, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

6 months 6 months 

ended ended 

February 28, February 28,

Notes 2018                        2017                      

$ $

Operating activities

Net loss (267,235)                 (307,384)                

Items not involving cash

Depreciation 1,550                       35,000                   

Interest income (26,120)                   (53,046)                  

(291,805)                 (325,430)                

Changes in non-cash working capital 304,945                   287,703                 

13,140                     (37,727)                  

Investing activities

-                          -                         

Financing activities

Issuance of share capital -                          -                         

-                          -                         

Decrease in cash 13,140                     (37,727)                  

Cash, beginning of period 12,340                     25,734                   

Cash (indebtedness), end of period 25,480                     (11,993)                  

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS  

 

EA Education Group Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the 

Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name “1156261 Ontario Inc.” on November 21, 

1995. The Company changed its name to “Croesus Gold Inc.” on July 19, 1996, and continued 

into British Columbia pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on November 

17, 2006 under the name “Croesus Gold Inc.”. On June 20, 2008, the Company changed its 

name to “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.” (“Kenieba”) that was listed on the Canadian Securities 

Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading symbol “KEN”. Its principal business at the time was to 

acquire, explore and develop mineral property.  

 

On February 18, 2015, Kenieba acquired 100% ownership of EA Education Group Inc. (“EAEG 

Private”) by issuing 120,000,000 common shares to the shareholders of EAEG Private. This 

resulted in the previous shareholders of EAEG Private obtaining control of the combined entity 

and constituted a reverse takeover (“RTO”). Subsequent to the acquisition, Kenieba 

amalgamated with EAEG and the new Company continued as the name “EA Education Group 

Inc.” and its stock symbol from in CSE changed from “KEN” to “EA”. 

 

The Company, together with its subsidiaries, provides international educational service and 

comprehensive student housing services in Canada and China. The address of the Company’s 

corporate office and principal place of business is 4576 Yonge Street, Unit 600, Toronto, Ontario 

M2N 6N4. 

 

The unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the period ended 

February 28, 2018 were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of the 

Company on April 30, 2018.  

 

Going Concern 
 

These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a 

going concern basis, which assumes the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the 

normal course of business within the foreseeable future. Management uses judgment to assess 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and the existence of conditions that cast 

doubt upon the going concern assumption. It is management’s assessment that the going 

concern assumption is appropriate based on its continued ability to raise funds and its ability to 

develop profitable operations. 

 

For the six months ended February 28, 2018, the Company reported a net loss of $267,235 and 

as at that date had deficit of $4,699,314. While in the past, the Company has been successful in 

obtaining funding from equity financings, shareholders’ loans or through other arrangements, 

there is no assurance that these initiatives will be successful in the future. These unaudited 

condensed interim consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments to the 

carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of expenses and statement of 
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financial position classifications that would be necessary if the going concern assumption were 

not appropriate and such adjustments could be material. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

Statement of Compliance 

 

These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). They were also prepared in accordance with IAS34, Interim 

Financial Reporting. The policies applied in these financial statements are based on the IFRS 

issued and outstanding as at the date the Board of Directors approved these financials for issue.  

 

Basis of Measurement 

 

These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 

historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments measured at fair value, and prepared 

using the accrual basis of accounting.  

 

Basis of Consolidation  

 

These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements include the accounts of EA 

Education Group Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Duke College Inc., and EA International 

Education Co., Limited, which are controlled by the Company.  

 

Control is achieved when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

investee.  

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and 

ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

financial statements from the date the Company gains control until the date the Company ceases 

to control the subsidiary. 

 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealized gains arising from intercompany 

transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The policies used for preparation of these unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial 

statements were the same accounting policies and methods of application as the audited 

consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended August 31, 2017 and were 

consistently applied to all the periods presented unless otherwise noted below. They do not 

include all of the information and disclosures required for annual financial statements. For further 

information, see the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 

August 31, 2017. 

 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 

management to make estimates about and apply assumptions or subjective judgment to future 

events and other matters that affect the reported amounts of the Company’s assets, liabilities, 

expenses and related disclosures. Assumptions, estimates and judgments are based on historical 

experience, expectations, current trends and other factors that management believes to be 

relevant at the time at which the Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared. 

Management reviews, on a regular basis, the Company’s accounting policies, assumptions, 

estimates and judgments in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are 

presented fairly and in accordance with IFRS.  

 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments are those that have a significant risk of causing 

material adjustment and are often applied to matters or outcomes that are inherently uncertain 

and subject to change. As such, management cautions that future events often vary from 

forecasts and expectations and that estimates routinely require adjustment. The critical 

accounting estimates and judgements used for preparation of these unaudited interim condensed 

consolidated financial statements were the same as the audited consolidated financial statements 

of the Company for the year ended August 31, 2017. 

 

5. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURE 

 

There was no change in the Company’s accounting policies in the period. 

 

Future accounting standards:  

 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement was issued by the IASB 

in October 2010 and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is 

measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The 

approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the 

context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement 

of financial liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The new standard also 

requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment 

methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is available for application, with the mandatory effective date 
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expected to be on or after January 1, 2018.  

 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued by the IASB in May 2014. 

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use 

in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers.  IFRS 15 will supersede 

the current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 

Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective.   

 

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the 

transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 

consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 

services.  Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:  

 Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 

 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

 Step 3: Determine the transaction price 

 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in 

the contract 

 Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 

performance obligation 

  

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is 

satisfied, i.e. when 'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular 

performance obligation is transferred to the customer.  Far more prescriptive guidance 

has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.  Furthermore, extensive 

disclosures are required by IFRS 15.   

 

 In 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of 

performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing 

application guidance. 

 

The application of IFRS 15 is mandatory for annual reporting periods starting from 1 

January 2018. The Company will apply this standard for the year starting from 

September 1, 2018. The management of the Company is in the process of assessing the 

potential impacts of IFRS 15 in respect of the Company’s contracts with students in 

Canada and franchisees in China, in particular, the identification of performance 

obligations under IFRS 15 and the allocation of total consideration (including tuition fees, 

student housing fee, franchising fee, courses and program fees, and student 

membership fees) to the respective performance obligations that will be based on 

relative fair values.  

 

• IFRS 16 Leases was amended by IASB in January 2016 to eliminate the current dual 

accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance 

leases and off-balance sheet operating leases. Under the new standard, a lease 

becomes an on-balance sheet liability that attracts interest, together with a new right-of-



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC. 

 

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the six months ended February 28, 2018 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

11 | P a g e  

 

use asset. In addition, lessees will recognize a front-loaded pattern of expense for most 

leases, even when cash rentals are constant. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier adoption permitted. 

 

6. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

Authorized: 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

 

Issuances of share capital: 

 

There were no new shares issued in the reporting periods. 

 

Securities held in escrow 

 

Pursuant to the escrow agreement, 120,000,000 common shares issued to the shareholders of 

EAEG Private were escrowed subject to release only with regulatory approval to the release 

provisions of the escrow agreement. As of February 28, 2018, no more (August 31, 2017 - 

18,000,000) common shares were held in escrow.  

 

Stock options 

 

Concurrent with the reverse takeover transaction, the Company adopted its existing stock option 

rolling plan to reserve 10% of issued shares for issuance to executive officers, directors, 

employees and consultants of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option is 

set on the date of grant at no less than the discount market price of the Company’s stock as 

determined per the CSE policy. Options granted under the plan have a term not to exceed ten 

years and are subject to vesting provisions as determined by the board of directors. There were 

no stock options granted during the years ended August 31, 2017 and the period ended February 

28, 2018. There were no stock options outstanding as at February 28, 2018 and August 31, 2017. 

No stock-based compensation expense was recognized for the periods ended February 28, 2018 

and 2017. 
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7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

The Company defines related parties to include significant shareholders, key management and 

officers and directors, as well as companies controlled by them.  

  
February 28, 

2018  

 
August 31, 

2017 

Due to directors and officers (a) $ (74,900) $ (77,900) 

Due to Shareholders (a)  (72,902)  - 

Due to related parties  $ (147,802) $ (77,900) 

 

 

(a) Due to directors and officers represents the director fees payable to the Company’s directors 

Mr. Zu Zheng, Mr. Simon Tam, and Mr. Stan Grunsenweig, and consulting fees payable to a 

company controlled by the CFO of the Company.  

 

During the six months ended February 28, 2018 the Company accrued $6,000 (2017 - $6,000) 

director fee for each of the above three directors, and $30,000 (2017 - $30,000) to the CFO 

of the Company. 

 

During the six months period ended February 28, 2018 the Company paid $60,000 (2017 - 

$60,000) to Wen Xu the Chairman of the Company and $39,000 (2017 - $39,000) to the 

Weidong Wang the CEO of the Company (the “Shareholders”), and paid each of the 

Shareholders $6,000 director fees (2017 - $6,000). 

 

 
 

As at August 31, 2017 the Company had $253,060 trade accounts receivable from the EA 

Clubs that was guaranteed by the Shareholders. In the six months period ended February 28, 

2018 the Shareholders has repaid the amount in full for the EA Clubs.   

 

(b) The Company rented one property from one of the Shareholders in 2017 for the Company’s 

student housing services and paid rent in the amount of $nil for the period ended February 28, 

2018 (2017 -  $15,000).  

 

February 28, February 28,

2018 2017

Salaries, consultant fees and 

other benefits 129,000$      119,000$      

Directors' fees 30,000          30,000          

159,000$      149,000$      
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(c) The Company recognized interest income of $26,120 for the six months ended February 28, 

2018 (2017 - $53,046) in the consolidated statements of operations related to due from 

related parties and promissory notes from Zhongjiu (Note 8), which all bear interest of 8% per 

annum. 

 

8. LOAN RECEIVABLE 

 

Promissory notes agreements with the related party, Zhongjiu were signed in 2015 for principal 

amount of $658,000. The promissory notes bear interest of 8% per annum and are repayable in 

one year from the day of advance. The total balance of the promissory notes plus interest is 

$799,802 as of February 28, 2017 (August 31, 2017 - $773,682. On June 21, 2017, the 

Shareholders have personally signed a Guarantee (the “Guarantee”) to the Company to 

guarantee for the repayment of the loans receivable, due from related party, and the receivables 

from EA Clubs before December 31, 2017. One of the Shareholders’ personal real estate assets 

in Toronto is used as collateral that has a fair market value over $10.0 million and mortgages of 

$6.9 million. On January 19, 2018, the Board of the Company has a resolution to agree the 

extension of the repayment to December 31, 2018 for the loans receivable and the accounts 

receivable from EA Clubs guaranteed by the Shareholders.  

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

Fair Value 

 

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value must be classified using a three-level hierarchy that 

reflects the significance and transparency of the inputs used in making the fair value 

measurements: 

 

• Level 1 - inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active 

markets;  

• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and  

• Level 3 - one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique to determine 

fair value are unobserved.  

 

The carrying amount of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due to 

and due from related parties, loan receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments. 

 

Risk 

 

There has been no material change to the Company’s risk and risk management activities since 

August 31, 2016. 
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The Company operates in a single segment, being the provider of education programs to 

students in China and Canada. In presenting information on the basis of geographical information, 

segment revenue is based on the geographical location of the customers. A summary of 

geographical information for the Company’s revenue for the period is as follows: 

 

    

Three months 
ended  

February 28, 
2018 

Three months 
ended  

February 28, 
2017 

Six months 
ended  

February 28, 
2018   

Six months 
ended  

February 28, 
2017 

Canada $ 155,732            215,687            309,391            $ 468,644              

China -            44,912            -            93,891            

Total $ 155,732            260,599            309,391            $ 562,535            

 

 

11. COMMITMENTS 

 

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into operating leases on certain premises and 

motor vehicles, with lease term between one year and four years.  

 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at August 31, 2017 is, 

as follows: 

 

 

The Company terminated the lease of one of its premises in December 2016 before the original 

term expiring on May 31, 2017. The Company is required to pay the landlord of the premise sum 

of $57,281. Payment of the settlement funds will occur as follows: $10,000 in June 2017 (paid), 

with the balance of $47,281 payable in nine monthly instalments of $5,000, and a final instalment 

of $2,281, due on the first business day of each month, commencing August 1, 2017. The 

amounts of $42,281 have been accrued as accounts payable as of August 31, 2017. 

 

 

 

  August 31, 2017 

Within one year $ 154,358 

After one year but not more than five years  89,117 

   

Total Commitments  243,475 
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12. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

On December 22, 2017 the Company has entered into a conditional sale and purchase 

agreement (“the Agreement”) among the Company and Duke (collectively, the “Sellers”) and 

Dong-An Educational Services Canada Inc. (the “Purchaser”) that contemplates the sale to the 

Purchaser of 100% of the issued shares of Duke held by the Company (“Sale Shares”). The 

aggregate purchase price to be paid for the Sale Shares is $258,000, of which $100,000 has 

already been paid for the period ended  February 28, 2017 and the balance of $158,000 is 

payable as follows: $100,000 is payable approximately one month after the date of Closing 

expected to be April 30, 2018; and $58,000 is payable approximately two months after the date of 

Closing. In the period the Company also recovered $50,039 from the Purchaser recorded as a 

recovery of expenses for the transition period. 
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Dated:  March 28, 2018 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) reports on the operating results and financial 

conditions of EA Education Group Inc. (“EA” or the “Company”) for the year ended August 31, 2017. This 

MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and 

accompanying notes of the Company for the year ended August 31, 2017 and the MD&A for the year 

then ended. These statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations 

of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Other information 

contained in these documents has also been prepared by management and is consistent with the data 

contained in the Financial Statements. Reference should also be made to the Company’s filings with 

Canadian securities regulatory authorities which are available at www.sedar.com. 

This MD&A is the responsibility of management. The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for 

the review of this disclosure directly and through its audit committee. The audit committee reviews and 

prior to its publication, approves, pursuant to the authority delegated to it by the Board of Directors, 

this disclosure. This MD&A was reviewed and approved by the audit committee and the board on March 

28, 2018. 

All dollars amounts referred to in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars except where indicated 

otherwise. 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements in this report may constitute forward-looking statements that are subject to certain 

risks and uncertainties. A number of important factors could cause actual outcomes and results to differ 

materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future 

events or the Company’s future performance.  All statements other than statements of historical fact 

are forward-looking statements.  The use of any of the words “continue”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, 

“believe”, “should” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  These 

statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 

results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements.  

Consequently, readers should not place any undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. In 

addition, these forward-looking statements relate to the date on which they were made. These forward-

looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements relating to: 
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• The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern; 

• The Company’s ability to raise additional capital through the issuance of equity or debt 

instruments; 

• The Company’s strategies and objectives; 

• General business and economic conditions; 

• The Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations as they become due; 

• The Company’s ability to identify, successful negotiate and/or finance an acquisition of a new 
business opportunity; 

• The negative cash flows from operations and financial viability of new business opportunities; 

• The Company’s ability to manage growth with respect to a new business opportunity; and 

• The Company’s tax position, anticipated tax refunds and the tax rates applicable to the 
Company. 

Readers are cautioned that the lists of risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors are not 
exhaustive.  Events or circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from those estimated 
or projected and expressed in, or implied by these forward-looking statements. Due to the risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions inherent in forward-looking statements, investors in securities of the 
Company should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking 
statements contained in this document are made as of the date hereof. 

OVERVIEW 

EA Education Group Inc. (the “Company” or “EAEG”) was incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the 

Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name “1156261 Ontario Inc.” on November 21, 1995. The 

Company changed its name to “Croesus Gold Inc.” on July 19, 1996, and continued into British Columbia 

pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on November 17, 2006 under the name 

“Croesus Gold Inc.”. On June 20, 2008, the Company changed its name to “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.” 

(“Kenieba”) that was listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading symbol “KEN”. 

Its principal business at the time was to acquire, explore and develop mineral property.  

On February 18, 2015, Kenieba acquired 100% ownership of EA Education Group Inc. (“EAEG Private”) by 

issuing 120,000,000 common shares to the shareholders of EAEG Private. The reverse takeover (“RTO”) 

resulted in the previous shareholders of EAEG Private obtaining control of the combined entity. 

Subsequent to the acquisition, Kenieba amalgamated with EAEG Private and the new Company 

continues as the name “EA Education Group Inc.” and its stock symbol changed from “KEN” to “EA”. 

The Company, together with its subsidiaries, used to provide international educational service and 

comprehensive student housing services in Canada, and to franchise its programs and courses to 
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franchisees China. The address of the Company’s corporate office and principal place of business is 4576 

Yonge Street, Unit 600, Toronto, Ontario,  M2N 6N4. Currently the Company has terminated the above 

business in education and is looking for new business.  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Year ended August 31, 2017 

The Company reported a net loss of $912,814 for the year ended August 31, 2017, compared with a net 

loss of $1,460,477 for the year in 2016. Basic and diluted loss per share was $0.01 for the year 2017 

compare to $0.01 for the year in 2016. 

Revenue 

For the year ended August 31, 2017, revenue was $816,964 compared to $1,178,207 revenue the year 

before. The significant decrease in revenue was mainly due to the franchising revenues from China 

decreased from $471,222 in the year 2016 to $10,237 in the year 2017 due to some Clubs terminated 

the franchising agreements with EA. 

Direct Costs 

For the year ended August 31, 2017, direct costs were $494,422 compared to $652,117 year in 2016 

mainly due to increase in payroll expenses and course development expenses for online courses, and 

increase in rent after moving to new office campus.  

Expenses 

For the yearyear ended August 31, 2017, administrative expenses amounted to $1,218,302 compared to 

$1,315,255  in 2016.  The decrease was mainly due to reduced administrative payroll and consulting 

expenses after combining the EA and Duke campus office and laying off some administrative staff in the 

period. A breakdown of the administrative expenses were as below. 
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2017 2016 

Depreciation and amortization $ 73,999 27,930 

Bank charges 5,187 4,309 

Professional fees 138,393 161,023 

Payroll and consulting  605,759 734,417 

Travel, automobile and entertainment  39,959 64,744 

Commission 192,576 100,798 

Rent expense 67,687 93,529 

Office expense 93,882 101,325 

Bad debt  860 - 

Other tax expense - 27,180 

$ 1,218,302 1,315,255 

The commission paid to student recruiting agent increased in the year 2017 to $192,576 from $100,798 

in 2016 due to change in commission policy and increased revenue of Duke.  

Marketing and promotion expense of $49,217 compared to $139,915 for the year 2016 as there was less 

marketing and promotion activities in 2017.  

For the year 2017, the Company recorded $85,363 interest income (2016 - $98,401), and income taxes 

expenses of $nil (2016 - $19,475). 

Cash flows 

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the operating activities of the Company used a cash of $53,196 

compared to a net use of cash of $813,200 for the year 2016. The investing activities received a net cash 

flow of $Nil (2016 - 87,151). Under IAS 7 paragraph 16(e), cash flows arising from investing activities 

include for example cash advances and loans made to other parties. The Company’s reports the 

amounts to and from related parties for the interest-bearing loans and advances as investing activities 

cash flows.  
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Three months ended August 31, 2017 

The Company reported a net loss of $421,493 for the three months ended August 31, 2017 compared 

with a net loss of $942,599 for the same period in 2016. The basic and diluted loss per share for the 

three months in 2017 was $0.01, compared to $0.01 for the same period in 2016. The significant higher 

loss in the comparative period in 2016 was due to a one-time impairment of goodwill of $281,137 and 

impairment of intangible assets of $273,915. 

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANICAL INFORMATION

August 31, 
2017

August 31, 
2016

August 31, 
2015

Revenues $ 816,964 1,178,207 1,606,346

Net loss $ 912,814 1,460,477 2,013,909

Loss per share, basic and diluted $ 0.01 0.01 0.02

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,340 62,657 439,383

Total current assets $ 447,948 1,274,112 2,414,686

Total assets $ 1,246,585 2,339,877 3,197,502

Total current liabilities $ 1,000,456 1,179,943 875,576

Total long-term liabilities $ Nil Nil 12,308

The annual revenues increased from the year 2014 to 2015, mainly due to expanding of franchising 
network in China, and the acquisition of Duke College Inc. in the year 2015. But the franchising 
network’s operating performance was not as expected and the revenues decreased from 2015 to 2016 
and further in the year 2017 was mainly due to significant decrease of revenue from the franchisees in 
China.  

SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company operated in a single segment, being the provider of education programs to students in 

China and Canada. In presenting information on the basis of geographical information, segment revenue 

is based on the geographical location of the customers. A summary of geographical information for the 

Company’s revenue for the three and yearyears is as follows:
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Year ended 
August 31, 

2017

Year ended 
August 31, 

2016 

Canada $ $ 806,727 $ 570,336            

China 10,237 396,048            

Total $ $ 816,964 $ 966,384            

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

Q4'17 Q3'17 Q2'17 Q1'17

Revenue $ (13,448) $ 267,877 $ 260,599 $ 301,936

Net income 
(loss)  

$ (421,493) $ (159,737) $ (176,443) $ (130,941)

Q4'16 Q3'16 Q2'16 Q1'16

Revenue $ 211,823 $ 226,560 $ 297,824 $ 442,000

Net income 
(loss)  

$ (942,599) $ (337,716) $ (163,008) $ (17,154)

The Company’s business is seasonal, and the results of its operations depend significantly upon the 

nature of its services, the commencing time of student housing services and international education 

exchange events. These potential seasonality factors should also be considered together with the trend  

of the business. The Company’s student housing offering, in relation to international student services, 

are rental and sale of any homestay related services.  At present, the target geographical area of the 

service offering is in the Great Toronto Area.  

The revenue of the Company had been decreasing quarterly since the fourth quarter of 2015, mainly 

due to the significant decrease of revenue from China due to the franchising network did not perform as 

expected. The low revenue in the last quarter of 2017 was due to a year end adjustment of the revenue 

from China for year 2017. The net loss for the fourth quarter of 2016 was significantly higher as it 

included a total impairment loss of $636,323 for impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and loan 

receivable. The high net loss for the third quarter of 2016 was due to low income for that quarter and 

high payroll and consulting expenses. The high loss in the fourth quarter of 2015 was due to an one-time 

listing expenses of $1,006,340 recorded for that quarter.  
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LIQUIDITY AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 

The Company had a working capital deficit of $552,508 as of August 31, 2017 (2016 – $94,169). As of 

August 31, 2017, the Company had a cash balance of $12,340 (2016 - $62,657) but had a bank 

indebtedness of $39,802 (2016 - $36,923), accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $597,824 (2016 - 

$529,427), deferred unearned revenue of $284,930 (2016 - $587,593) and a due to directors and officers 

of $77,900 (2016 - $26,000). The Company was mainly relying on funds from private placements and 

repayment of debts from related parties. In the long run, the management plans to focus on profitability 

through generating revenue growth and improving operating cash flow. In a short period, the 

management has been executing a plan to collect the accounts receivables from customers, and to 

pursue the repayment of the loan receivable and due from related parties, to have cash to meet the 

bank indebtedness and accounts payable and accrued liabilities obligations. In the year 2017 the 

Company was able to collect $752,249 payment from related parties and $150,538 payment from 

shareholders to supporting the operating. The controlling Shareholders have signed agreement to 

guarantee the repayment of the related party balances by the end of December 2018.   

The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the continued financial support 

from its shareholders and related parties, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary debt and 

equity financing to achieve its operating and developing objectives, and the Company’s continuance of 

profitable operations. Management will continue, as appropriate, to seek other sources of financing on 

favourable terms as required; however, there are no assurances that any such financing can be obtained 

on favourable terms, if at all. The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time.  

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS 

Operating leases: 

The Company has entered into various operating lease agreements for leased premises and 

rental properties for student housing in the normal course of operations, with the rents being charged 

to operations incurred during the year.  The minimum operating lease payments in successive years are 

as follows: 

August 31, 2017 

Within one year $ 154,358 

After one year but not more than five years 89,117 

More than five years - 

Total Commitments 243,475 
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The Company terminated the lease of one of its premises in December 2016 before the original 

term expiring on August 31, 2017. The Company will pay the landlord of the premise sum of 

$57,281. Payment of the settlement funds will occur as follows: $10,000 in June 2017 (paid), 

with the balance of $47,281 payable in nine monthly instalments of $5,000 and a final 

instalment of $2,281, due on the first business day of each month, commencing August 1, 2017. 

The amounts of $42,281 have been accrued as accounts payable as of August 31, 2017.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS  

The Company does not enter into off-balance sheet arrangements with special purpose entities in the 

normal course of its business, nor does it have any unconsolidated affiliates.  

SHARE CAPITAL  

As at the date of this report, the Company has 174,256,868 common shares outstanding, no warrants or 

options outstanding. 

Securities held in escrow 

Pursuant to the escrow agreement, 120,000,000 common shares issued to the shareholders of EAEG 

private were escrowed subject to release only with regulatory approval to the release provisions of the 

escrow agreement. As of the date of this MDA, no (2016 - 54,000,000) common shares are still held in 

escrow.  

Stock option plan 

Concurrent with the reverse takeover transaction, the Company adopted its existing stock option rolling 

plan to reserve 10% of issued shares for issuance to executive officers, directors, employees and 

consultants of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option is set on the date of grant 

at no less than the discount market price of the Company’s stock as determined per the CSE policy. 

Options granted under the plan have a term not to exceed ten years and are subject to vesting 

provisions as determined by the board of directors. There were no stock options granted during the 

years ended August 31, 2016 and in the period in 2017. There were no stock options outstanding as at 

August 31, 2017 and 2016. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Fair Value 

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value must be classified using a three-level hierarchy that reflects the 

significance and transparency of the inputs used in making the fair value measurements: 

• Level 1 - inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active markets;  

• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or  
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liability, either directly or indirectly; and  

• Level 3 - one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique to determine fair value are 

unobserved.  

The carrying amount of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due to and due 

from related parties, loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair 

values because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments.

Risks 

Please refer to the Note 15 to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the 

year ended August 31, 2017 for the risks and risk management. There has been no material change to 

the Company’s risk and risk management activities since 2017. 

Capital Management 

The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure sufficient liquidity to support its financial 

obligations and raise the necessary equity financing to execute its operating and strategic growth plans. 

In the management of capital, the Company includes items in shareholders’ equity (excluding 

accumulated other comprehensive income) in the definition of capital. The Company manages the 

capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on 

capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to 

sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors oversees the Company’s capital 

structure and financial management, approves matters related to acquisitions, investments and 

financing and continuously monitors the Company’s exposure to financial risks.  

The Company is still currently in its development stage, and has not paid dividends on any occasion, but 
has instead reinvested the generated cash mainly to finance ongoing development activities and thereby 
create growth for the Company. As such, the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its 
activities. In order to carry out the planned business expansion and pay for administrative costs, the 
Company will spend its funds available and raise additional amounts as needed.  

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The Company defines related parties to include significant shareholders, key management and officers 
and directors, as well as companies controlled by them. 

August 31,
2017

August 31,
2016

Due from Zhongjiu (a) $ $ 536,320

Due from Shareholders (b) - 150,538

Due from EA Homestay Inc. (c) - 29,780

Due from Jiuding Group (Canada) (f) - 40,000

Due from Rufeng International (g) - 146,149

Due from related parties $ - $ 902,787

Less: current portion (Note 12(1)) - 700,747

Due from related parties – non - current $ - $ 202,040

Due to directors and officers (d) (77,900) (26,000)

Due to related parties $ (77,900) $ (26,000)

(a) On March 28, 2012, the Company entered into a Strategic Partnership Cooperation Agreement 
(the “Agreement”) with Guangzhou Zhongjiu Education Consulting Co., Ltd (“Zhongjiu”), a company 
controlled by the controlling shareholders of the Company Ms. Wen Xu who is a director and also 
Chairman of the Company, and Mr. Weidong Wang who is director and also CEO of the Company. The 
Agreement is for ten years until March 27, 2022. At the expiry date, the Agreement will be automatically 
renewed for the same period unless one or both of the parties terminates the Agreement. As a strategic 
partner of the Company, Zhongjiu is to represent the Company to collectively market and execute the 
Company’s growth strategy in China. Zhongjiu represents the Company in franchising the Company’s 
brand and curriculum services to local Chinese schools (“EA Clubs”) and helps in the day to day 
management of the franchising network. Zhongjiu itself also owns an EA Club (“Zhongjiu Club”). 

In return, the Company waived Zhongjiu Club’s brand franchising and service fee until December 31, 
2013. The Company has continued to charge Zhongjiu for its ongoing curriculum fees and student 
registration fees since January 1, 2014. In addition, when the number of the EA Clubs in China reaches 
more than 50, 20% of the service fee from these clubs will be shared by Zhongjiu. For the year ended 
August 31, 2016, the revenue from Zhongjiu was $172,773. For the year ended August 31, 2016, $54,000 
tuition fees of Duke College had been received by Zhongjiu on behalf of the Company but was retained 
by Zhongjiu and was recorded as due from Zhongjiu as at August 31, 2016. As of August 31, 2017, the 
balance of due from Zhongjiu totaled $nil (2016 - $536,320) that included interest accrued at 8% 
annually and was repaid in 2017. The Company also has a loan receivable from Zhongjiu of $760,144 
(see Note 12(b) to the August 31, 2017 audited consolidated financial statements).  



EA EDUCATION GROUP INC.  
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the year ended August 31, 2017 

12 

Subsequent to August 31, 2017, the Company terminated this Strategic Partnership Cooperation 
Agreement with Zhongjiu on October 20, 2017. 

(b) In 2016, the Company made advances of $59,096 to the Shareholders Ms. Wen Xu and Mr. 
Weidong Wang, and the Shareholders received $90,000 on behalf of the Company. In the year 2017 the 
balance from the Shareholders of $150,538 plus $1,280 interest accrued at 8% annually in the period 
was repaid.  

(c) EA Homestay Inc. is a company controlled by one of the significant shareholders Ms. Wen Xu 
noted in the (a) above. In the fiscal year of 2016, EA Homestay Inc. paid certain expenditures in the 
amount of $17,218 related to the Company’s student housing services on behalf of the Company. As at 
August 31, 2017 there was $nil (August 31, 2016 - $29,780) that was due from EA Homestay Inc. The 
balance, which bears interest of 8% per annum and unsecured, was repaid in the year 2017. 

(d) Due to directors represents the director fees payable to the Company’s directors Mr. Zu Zheng, 
Mr. Simon Tam, and Mr. Stan Grunzenweig and the Company’s CFO.  

For the years ended August 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company incurred compensation to the Company’s 
officers and directors in the amount as follows.  

During the year ended August 31, 2016, Mr. Zu Zheng a director of the Company has forgiven consulting 
fee payable of $40,000, of which $26,000 incurred for the year ended August 31, 2015 and $14,000 
incurred for the year ended August 31, 2016. The Company paid each of the Shareholders Ms. Wen Xu 
and Mr. Weidong Wang $12,000 director fees for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2017 (2016 - $12,000) 
that was recorded as a reduction to the balance owed by the related parties (Note 12 to the August 31, 
2017 unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements). The Company accrued $12,000 
director fee for each of the other three directors of which $16,000 was paid during the year in 2017. In 
2017 consulting fee of $58,333 plus HST was charged by a company controlled by the CFO of the 
Company, of which $33,900 was payable as of August 31, 2017. 

During the year ended August 31, 2016, Ms. Wen Xu the Chairman of the Company has forgiven salary in 
the amount of $30,000. 

(e) The Company rented one property from one of the Shareholders Ms. Wen Xu for the 
Company’s student housing services and paid rent in the amount of $20,000 for the year ended August 
31, 2017 (2016 -   $69,000).  

2017 2016

Salaries, consultant fees and 

other benefits 256,333$      179,298$      

Directors' fees 60,000 60,000

316,333$      239,298$      
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(f) During the year ended August 31, 2016 the Company made an advance of $40,000 to Jiuding 
Group Inc. a company controlled by the Shareholders of the Company Ms. Wen Xu that is unsecured, 
due on demand and bears interest of 8% per annum. In the year ended August 31, 2017 the balance plus 
interest accrued was repaid. 

(g) During the year ended August 31, 2016 the Company made an advance of $98,230 to 
Rufeng International (China), a company controlled by the Shareholders of the Company Mr. Weidong 
Wang and Ms. Wen Xu that is unsecured and due on demand. In addition, $39,050 tuition fees of Duke 
College had been received by Rufeng International (China) on behalf of the Company but was retained 
by Rufeng and was recorded as due from Rufeng as at August 31, 2016. The balance, which bears 
interest of 8% per annum, was due on demand, unsecured. In the year ended August 31, 2017, the 
balance plus interest accrued was repaid. 

(h) The Company expects to receive 100% of the outstanding balance and interest from the 
related parties, which is guaranteed by the Shareholders Ms. Wen Xu and Mr. Weidong Wang and 
secured by the Shareholders’ personal real estate asset in Toronto, by December 31, 2018. 

(i) The Company recognized interest income of $85,363 for the year ended August 31, 2017 
(2016 - $98,401) in the consolidated statements of operations related to due from related parties and 
promissory notes from Zhongjiu (Note 12(b) to the August 31, 2017 audited consolidated financial 
statements), which all bear interest of 8% per annum. 

(j) The above related party transactions were in the normal course of business as the related 
parties acted as agents for the Company’s business and collected the payments from the clients before 
remitting the fund to the Company. The related party transactions were initially recognized at the 
amount expected to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and receivables to 
fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method less a provision for impairment. 

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

(a) On December 15, 2017 the Company announces that it has terminated the existing Strategic 
Partnership Cooperation Agreement with Guangzhou Zhongjiu Education Consulting Co., Ltd. Signed in 
2012.  

(b) On December 22, 2017 the Company has entered into a conditional sale and purchase 
agreement (“the Agreement”) among the Company and Duke College Inc. (collectively, the “Sellers”) 
and Dong-An Educational Services Canada Inc. (the “Purchaser”) that contemplates the sale to the 
Purchaser of 100% of the issued shares of Duke College Inc. held by the Company (“Sale Shares”). The 
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aggregate purchase price to be paid for the Sale Shares is $258,000, of which $100,000 has already been 
paid for and the balance of $158,000 is payable as follows: 

$100,000 is payable approximately one month after the date of closing; and 
$58,000 is payable approximately two months after the date of closing. 

(c) In January 2018, the Board of the Company has a resolution to agree the extension of the 

repayment to December 31, 2018 for the loans receivable and the accounts receivable from EA Clubs 
guaranteed by the Shareholders.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments are those that have a significant risk of causing material 

adjustment and are often applied to matters or outcomes that are inherently uncertain and subject to 

change. As such, management cautions that future events often vary from forecasts and expectations 

and that estimates routinely require adjustment.  

Management considers the following areas to be those where the significant estimates, which may 

involve assumptions requiring the application of judgments, are used in the preparation of the 

Company’s consolidated financial statements.  

Evaluation of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 

Management has applied judgements in the assessment of the Company's ability to continue as 

a going concern when preparing these consolidated financial statements. Management prepares 

the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless management either 

intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. In 

assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into 

account all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve 

months from the end of the reporting period. The assessment of the Company’s ability to 

execute its strategy and finance the operations through achieving positive cash flow from 

operations or by obtaining additional funding through debt or equity financing involves 

judgments. Management monitors future cash requirements to assess the Company’s ability to 

realize assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations. Please refer to Note 

1 to the audited 2016 consolidated financial statements for more information.  

Impairment of Loans & Receivables  
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The impairment assessment of the Company’s loans and receivables measured at amortized 

costs is based on management’s assessment of the business environment, customers’ or 

creditors’ financial conditions, historical collection experience, accounts receivable aging, 

customer disputes and the collectability of specific accounts. Estimates used to determine 

amount of impairment required involve uncertainties. If there were a deterioration of a major 

customer’s or creditors’ creditworthiness, or actual defaults were higher than the Company’s 

historical experience, estimates of the recoverability of amounts due could be overstated, which 

could have an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results. 

Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

The allocation of the purchase price for acquisitions involves determining the fair values for 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Estimation of fair values involve significant 
judgments, estimates and assumptions.  The acquisition of Duke College Inc. are most sensitive 
to the assumptions including gross margin, discount rates, and growth rate.  Please refer to Note 
7 to the 2016 audited consolidated financial statements for more information.  

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets  

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in 
use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales 
transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a 
discounted cash flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next 
five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to 
or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash 
generating unit (“CGU”) being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate 
used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for 
extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles 
with indefinite useful lives recognized by the Company. The key assumptions used to determine 
the recoverable amount for the CGUs are disclosed and further explained in Notes 10 and 17 to 
the audited 2016 consolidated financial statements. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND RECENT PRONOUNCEMENTS  

The preparation of financial data is based on accounting principles and practices consistent with those 

used in the preparation of the audited annual financial statements as at August 31, 2017 (Note 3 to the 

2017 audited consolidated financial statements). The Company’s accounting policies did not change in 

the  years since 2016. 
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Future accounting standards:  

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement was issued by the IASB in October 2010 

and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single 

approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, 

replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its 

financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the financial assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and 

measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The new standard also 

requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 

39. IFRS 9 is available for application, with the mandatory effective date expected to be on or after 

January 1, 2018.  

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued by the IASB in May 2014. IFRS 15 was 

issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue 

arising from contracts with customers.  IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition 

guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations 

when it becomes effective.   

 The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of 

promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 

entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  Specifically, the standard 

introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:  

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price 

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 

o Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

 Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 

when 'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is 

transferred to the customer.  Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with 

specific scenarios.  Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.   

 In 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance 

obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance. 
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The application of IFRS is mandatory for annual reporting periods starting from 1 January 2018. The 

Company will apply this standard for the year starting from September 1, 2018. The management of 

the Company is in the process of assessing the potential impacts of IFRS 15 in respect of the 

Company’s contracts with students in Canada and franchisees in China, in particular, the 

identification of performance obligations under IFRS 15 and the allocation of total consideration 

(including tuition fees, student housing fee, franchising fee, courses and program fees, and student 

membership fees) to the respective performance obligations that will be based on relative fair values. 

• IFRS 12 Income Taxes was amended by the IASB in January 2016 to clarify the recognition of deferred 

tax assets for unrealized losses. The effective date is for annual periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2017 with earlier application permitted.  

OUTLOOK 

The demand and requirement for EA’s services are growing as more and more international students 

turn to Canada as a viable learning country.   

The Company’s business is facing some difficulties and the revenues are decreasing. The Company is 

currently reviewing its business and strategies in an effort to find better business strategies to fit into its 

future growing plan. 

The National Instrument 51-102 requires the Company to discuss in its MD&A events and circumstances 

that occurred during the period to which the MD&A relates that are reasonably likely to cause actual 

results to differ materially from material forward-looking information for a period that is not yet 

complete that the reporting issuer previously disclose to the public. The management believes that the 

fact that some EA clubs had terminated their agreements and cooperation with the Company is such an 

event and circumstance, that will cause the actual results of the operating of the year 2016 and the 

coming few years greatly different from what had been previously forecasted and disclosed to the 

public.  
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Dated:  June 27, 2017 

 

 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) reports on the operating results and financial 

conditions of EA Education Group Inc. (“EA” or the “Company”) for the year ended August 31, 2016. This 

MD&A is supplemental to and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial 

statements and accompanying notes of the Company for the year ended August 31, 2016. These 

statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Other information contained in these documents 

has also been prepared by management and is consistent with the data contained in the Financial 

Statements. Reference should also be made to the Company’s filings with Canadian securities regulatory 

authorities which are available at www.sedar.com. 

 

This MD&A is the responsibility of management. The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for 

the review of this disclosure directly and through its audit committee. The audit committee reviews and 

prior to its publication, approves, pursuant to the authority delegated to it by the Board of Directors, this 

disclosure. This MD&A was reviewed and approved by the audit committee and the board on June 27, 

2017. 

 

All dollars amounts referred to in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars except where indicated 

otherwise. 

 

 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 

Certain statements in this report may constitute forward-looking statements that are subject to certain 

risks and uncertainties. A number of important factors could cause actual outcomes and results to differ 

materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future 

events or the Company’s future performance.  All statements other than statements of historical fact are 

forward-looking statements.  The use of any of the words “continue”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, “believe”, 

“should” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  These statements 

involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events 

to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements.  Consequently, readers 

should not place any undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. In addition, these forward-

looking statements relate to the date on which they were made. These forward-looking statements 

include, but are not limited to, statements relating to: 
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• The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern; 

• The Company’s ability to raise additional capital through the issuance of equity or debt 

instruments; 

• The Company’s strategies and objectives; 

• General business and economic conditions; 

• The Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations as they become due; 

• The Company’s ability to identify, successful negotiate and/or finance an acquisition of a new 

business opportunity; 

• The negative cash flows from operations and financial viability of new business opportunities; 

• The Company’s ability to manage growth with respect to a new business opportunity; and 

• The Company’s tax position, anticipated tax refunds and the tax rates applicable to the 

Company. 

 

Readers are cautioned that the lists of risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors are not 

exhaustive.  Events or circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from those estimated 

or projected and expressed in, or implied by these forward looking statements. Due to the risks, 

uncertainties and assumptions inherent in forward-looking statements, investors in securities of the 

Company should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking 

statements contained in this document are made as of the date hereof. 

 

 

OVERVIEW 

 

EA Education Group Inc. (formerly “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.”) (the “Company” or “EAEG”) was 

incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name 

“1156261 Ontario Inc.” on November 21, 1995. The Company changed its name to “Croesus Gold Inc.” on 

July 19, 1996, and continued into British Columbia pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British 

Columbia) on November 17, 2006 under the name “Croesus Gold Inc.”. On June 20, 2008, the Company 

changed its name to “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.” (“Kenieba”) that was listed on the Canadian Securities 

Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading symbol “KEN”. Its principal business at the time was to acquire, 

explore and develop mineral property.  

 

On February 18, 2015, Kenieba acquired 100% ownership of EA Education Group Inc. (“EAEG Private”) by 

issuing 120,000,000 common shares to the shareholders of EAEG Private. The reverse takeover (“RTO”) 

resulted in the previous shareholders of EAEG Private obtaining control of the combined entity. 

Subsequent to the acquisition, Kenieba amalgamated with EAEG Private and the new company continues 

as the name “EA Education Group Inc.” and its stock symbol changed from “KEN” to “EA”. 

 

The Company, together with its subsidiaries, provides international educational service and 

comprehensive student housing services in Canada, and franchises its programs and courses to 
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franchisees China. The address of the Company’s corporate office and principal place of business is 4576 

Yonge Street, Unit 600, Toronto, Ontario  M2N 6N4. 

 

EAEG serves the unique needs of international junior and senior high school students by providing local 

comprehensive student housing services to the students in Canada, and is an active promoter of 

international education & cultural exchange between Canada and China. 

 

EAEG delivers to international students (all of whom are currently from China and most of them are 

teenagers) certain advisory and complimentary services that assist them in undertaking and improving 

their education experiences in both China and Canada. EA services have been focused on:  

 

a) Private Ontario Secondary School diploma program and courses through it wholly owned 

subsidiary Duke College Inc; 

 

b) Student-housing services for international students in Canada.  The student-housing services 

range from basic room-rental arrangements to complete accommodation arrangements and 

ongoing immersion programs. Currently, EA’s offering is mainly located in Toronto for 

international students staying in the Great Toronto Area; 

 

c) Education program & services that provide off-campus education programs. The offering 

provides, through its license franchised partners in China (known as “EA clubs”), training for junior 

and senior high school students in China to explore and expand their career interests, English skills 

and knowledge related to Canadian culture and education system and helps them prepare for 

their future overseas studies. EAEG has encapsulated their education and cultural experiences 

into its proprietary and unique education system referred to as “L-TIP”.  L-TIP includes integration 

of ESL programs, health & physical education, academic courses, career exploration, arts, 

hospitality, etc. The goal of its proprietary training program is to provide sound preparations for 

the overseas studies of these teenage students in the future. The first franchised EA Club in China 

was established in 2012. EA has developed a franchising network of EA Clubs in China. The 

Company delivers services to and aids franchised EA Clubs in operating through a related party in 

China, Guangzhou Zhongjiu Education Consulting Co. Ltd. (“Zhongjiu”).  The franchising revenue 

in China decreased in the year as some EA Clubs have terminated the franchising agreements with 

the Company during the year ended August 31, 2016.   

 

d) Educational and cultural exchange conferences/events/camps in Canada that aim to 

promote international education and culture exchange between Canada and China.          

 

The Company strongly believes that every child has his/her own talents and that the Company tries to 

inspire students to develop all aspects of their character so that to reach their full potential. The Company 
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wants all of its students to be able to experience the ability to realize that they can 

“Dream….Vision….Success”. 

 

GROWTH STRATEGY 

 

The Company's core business growth strategy is to increase the number of students of Duke College Inc. 

to the Company is reviewing the current franchising network in China to seek for a proper strategy. 

 

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

Year ended August 31, 2016 

 

The Company reported a net loss of $1,460,477 for the twelve months ended August 31, 2016, compared 

with a net loss of $2,013,909 for the year in 2015. Basic and diluted loss per share was $0.01 for the twelve 

months in 2016 compare to $0.02 for the year in 2015. 

 

Revenue 

 

For the twelve months ended August 31, 2016, revenue was $1,178,207 compared to $1,606,346 revenue 

last year. The significant decrease in revenue was mainly due to the franchising revenues from China 

decreased from $833,322 in the year 2015 to $471,222 in the year 2016. 

 

Direct Costs 

 

For the twelve months ended August 31, 2016, direct costs were $652,117 compared to $902,209 last 

year.  

 

Expenses 

 

For the year ended August 31, 2016, administrative expenses amounted to $1,315,255 compared to 

$1,356,630 in 2015. In the year 2016, there was $nil on a special listing expense. Compared with 2015, it 

was $1,006,340.   

 

Marketing and promotion expense of $139,915 decreased by $174,220 compared to $314,135 for the 

year 2015. In the year 2016, the Company recorded an impairment of goodwill of $281,137 (2015 - $nil), 

an impairment of intangible assets of $273,915 (2015 - $nil), and an impairment of loan receivable of 

$81,271 (2015 - $nil).  
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For the year 2016, the Company recorded $26,000 special gain on forgiveness of consulting fee payable 

to directors (2016 - $nil), and $98,401 interest income (2015 - $22,402), and income taxes expenses of 

$19,475 (2015 - $63,343). 

 

Cash flows 

 

For the year ended August 31, 2016, the operating activities of the Company used cash of $813,200 

compared to use of cash of $2,294,231 for the year 2015. The investing activities generated cash of 

$87,151, while in last year it generated cash of $339,533 due to cash of $1,154,004 acquired in the reverse 

takeover in last year. In the year 2016 the financing activities generated cash of $312,400 (2015 – 

$1,947,368).  

 

Three months ended August 31, 2016 

 

The Company reported a net loss of $942,599 for the three months ended August 31, 2016 compared 

with a net loss of $727,330 for the same period in 2015. The basic and diluted loss per share for the three 

months in 2016 was $0.01, compared to $0.00 for the same period in 2015. 

 

For the three months ended August 31, 2016, revenue was $211,823 compared to $597,816 for the three 

months last year. Direct costs were $192,016 compared to $439,659 for the same period last year. 

Administrative expenses amounted to $371,614 compared to $730,083 for the same period in 2015. 

Marketing and promotion expense was $26,261 for the three months in 2016 compared to $114,463 for 

the same period in 2015. The decrease in administrative, marketing and promotion expenses is mainly 

due to the decrease in bad debt expense, consulting and professional fees.  

 

For the three months period in 2016, the Company recorded $26,000 special gain on forgiveness of 

consulting fee payable to directors (2016 - $nil), and $34,317 interest income (2015 - $22,402). 
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANICAL INFORMATION 

 

 August 31, 

2016 

August 31, 2015 

Revenues $ 1,178,207 1,606,346 

Net loss $ 1,460,477 2,013,909 

Loss per share, basic and diluted $ 0.01 0.02 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 62,657 439,383 

Total current assets $ 1,274,112 2,414,686 

Total assets $ 2,339,877 3,197,502 

Total current liabilities $ 1,179,943 875,576 

Total long-term liabilities $ Nil 12,308 

 

 

SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The Company operates in a single segment, being the provider of education programs to students in China 

and Canada. In presenting information on the basis of geographical information, segment revenue is 

based on the geographical location of the customers. A summary of geographical information for the 

Company’s revenue for the year is as follows:  

 

       2016   2015 

Canada     706,985 $  773,024 

China     471,222  833,322 

Total     1,178,207 $  1,606,346 

 

 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

 

   Q4'16  Q3'16  Q2'16  Q1'16 

Revenue $ 211,823 $ 226,560 $ 297,824 $ 442,000 

Net income 

(loss)  
$ (942,599) $ (337,716) $ (163,008) $ (17,154) 

 
 

Q4'15  
Q3'15 

(restated)  
Q2'15 

(restated)  
Q1'15 

(restated) 

Revenue $ 597,816 $ 515,892 $ 208,882 $ 283,756 

Net income 

(loss)  
$ (727,330) $ (95,465) $  (1,058,561) $ (132,553) 
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The Company’s business is seasonal, and the results of its operations depend significantly upon the nature 

of its services, the commencing time of student housing services and international education exchange 

events. These potential seasonality factors should also be considered together with the rapid growth of 

the business. The Company’s student housing service, in relation to international student services, are 

rental and sale of any homestay related services.  At present, the target geographical area of the service 

offering is in the Great Toronto Area.  

 

LIQUIDITY AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 

 

The Company had a working capital of $94,169 as of August 31, 2016 (2015 – $1,539,110). The Company 

is mainly relying on funds from private placements and debts from related parties. The management plans 

to focus on profitability through generating revenue growth and improving operating cash flow.  

 

The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the continued financial support 

from its shareholders and related parties, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary debt and equity 

financing to achieve its operating and developing objectives, and the Company’s continuance of profitable 

operations. Management will continue, as appropriate, to seek other sources of financing on favourable 

terms as required; however, there are no assurances that any such financing can be obtained on 

favourable terms, if at all. The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time.  

 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS 

 

Operating leases: 

 

The Company has entered into various operating lease agreements for leased premises and 

rental properties for student housing in the normal course of operations, with the rents being charged to 

operations incurred during the year.  The minimum operating lease payments in successive years are as 

follows: 

  August 31, 2016 

Within one year $ 256,855 

After one year but not more than five years  195,435 

More than five years  - 

Total Commitments  452,290 

 

The Company terminated the lease of one of its premises in December 2016 before the original term 

expiring on May 31, 2017. Therefore, the lease payments of $8,025 per month from December 2016 is 

not included in the minimum rental payable above. Please refer to Note 21 to the 2016 audited 

consolidated financial statements for details.  
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS  

 

The Company does not enter into off-balance sheet arrangements with special purpose entities in the 

normal course of its business, nor does it have any unconsolidated affiliates.  

 

SHARE CAPITAL  

 

As at the date of this report, the Company has 174,256,868 common shares outstanding, no warrants or 

options outstanding. 

 

Securities held in escrow 

 

Pursuant to the escrow agreement, 120,000,000 common shares issued to the shareholders of EAEG 

private were escrowed subject to release only with regulatory approval to the release provisions of the 

escrow agreement. As of the date of this MD&A 36,000,000 (August 31, 2016, 54,000,000) common shares 

are still held in escrow.  

 

Stock option plan 

 

Concurrent with the reverse takeover transaction, the Company adopted its existing stock option rolling 

plan to reserve 10% of issued shares for issuance to executive officers, directors, employees and 

consultants of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option is set on the date of grant 

at no less than the discount market price of the Company’s stock as determined per the CSE policy. 

Options granted under the plan have a term not to exceed ten years and are subject to vesting provisions 

as determined by the board of directors. There were no stock options granted during the years ended 

August 31, 2015 and in the year 2016. There were no stock options outstanding as at August 31, 2016 and 

2015. 

 

 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

Fair Value 

 

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value must be classified using a three-level hierarchy that reflects the 

significance and transparency of the inputs used in making the fair value measurements: 

 

• Level 1 - inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active markets;  

• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or  

liability, either directly or indirectly; and  
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• Level 3 - one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique to determine fair value are 

unobserved.  

 

The carrying amount of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due to and due 

from related parties, loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair 

values because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments. 

 

Risks 

 

Please refer to the Note 15 to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year 

ended August 31, 2016 for the risks and risk management. There has been no material change to the 

Company’s risk and risk management activities since 2015. 

 

Capital Management 

 

The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure sufficient liquidity to support its financial 

obligations and raise the necessary equity financing to execute its operating and strategic growth plans. 

In the management of capital, the Company includes items in shareholders’ equity (excluding 

accumulated other comprehensive income) in the definition of capital. The Company manages the capital 

structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on 

capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to 

sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors oversees the Company’s capital 

structure and financial management, approves matters related to acquisitions, investments and financing 

and continuously monitors the Company’s exposure to financial risks.  

 

The Company is still currently in its development stage, and has not paid dividends on any occasion, but 

has instead reinvested the generated cash mainly to finance ongoing development activities and thereby 

create growth for the Company. As such, the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its 

activities. In order to carry out the planned business expansion and pay for administrative costs, the 

Company will spend its funds available and raise additional amounts as needed.  

 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 

approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

The Company defines related parties to include significant shareholders, key management and officers 

and directors, as well as companies controlled by them. 

  

  2016  2015 

Due from Zhongjiu (a) $ 536,320 $ 216,196 

Due from Shareholders (b)  150,538  790,580 

Due from EA Homestay Inc. (c)  29,780  41,998 

Due from Jiuding Group (Canada) (f)  40,000  - 

Due from Rufeng International (g)  146,149  - 

Due from related parties $ 902,787 $ 1,048,774 

Less: current portion (Note 21(1))  700,747  1,048,774 

Due from related parties – non - current $ 202,040 $ - 

Due to directors (d)  (26,000)  (33,000) 

Due to related parties  $ (26,000) $ (33,000) 

 

(a) On March 28, 2012, the Company entered into a Strategic Partnership Cooperation Agreement 

(the “Agreement”) with Guangzhou Zhongjiu Education Consulting Co., Ltd (“Zhongjiu”), a company 

controlled by significant shareholders of the Company who are also officers and directors of the Company. 

The Agreement is for ten years until March 27, 2022. At the expiry date, the Agreement will be 

automatically renewed for the same period unless one or both of the parties terminates the Agreement. 

As a strategic partner of the Company, Zhongjiu is to represent the Company to collectively market and 

execute the Company’s growth strategy in China. Zhongjiu represents the Company in franchising the 

Company’s brand and curriculum services to local Chinese schools (“EA Clubs”) and helps in the day to 

day management of the franchising network. Zhongjiu itself also owns an EA Club (“Zhongjiu Club”). 

 

In return, the Company waived Zhongjiu Club’s brand franchising and service fee until December 31, 2013. 

The Company has continued to charge Zhongjiu for its ongoing curriculum fees and student registration 

fees since January 1, 2014. In addition, when the number of the EA Clubs in China reaches more than 50, 

20% of the service fee from these clubs will be shared by Zhongjiu. For the year ended August 31, 2016, 

the revenue from Zhongjiu was $172,773 (2015 - $250,697). In addition, $54,000 tuition fees of Duke 

College had been received by Zhongjiu on behalf of the Company but was retained by Zhongjiu and was 

recorded as due from Zhongjiu as at August 31, 2016. $43,440 of Zhongjiu’s expenses were paid by the 

Company on behalf of Zhongjiu and $19,570 receivable from EA clubs had been collected by Zhongjiu on 

behalf of the Company. There is also a foreign currency translation difference of $1,626 for the year ended 

August 31, 2016.  As of August 31, 2016, the balance of due from Zhongjiu totaled $536,320 (2015 - 

$216,196) that included $28,715 interest accrued at 8% annually, is unsecured and due on demand. The 

Company also has a loan receivable from Zhongjiu of $721,042 (see Note 14(b) to the 2016 audited 

consolidated financial statements).  
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(b) Due from shareholders as at August 31, 2015 comprised promissory notes from the two significant 

shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) who are also the officers and directors of the 

Company. The promissory notes were signed in June 2015 and bore interest of 8% per annum. The 

promissory notes were due on demand of the Company and the principal plus interest of $15,604 were 

paid off by the Shareholders in December 2015. In 2016, the Company made advances of $59,096 to the 

Shareholders, and the Shareholders received $90,000 (Note 14 (a) to the 2016 audited consolidated 

financial statements)) on behalf of the Company. See also Note 13(e) to the 2016 audited consolidated 

financial statements. As at August 31, 2016 the balance from the Shareholders totalled $150,538 (2015 - 

$790,580) that included $1,442 interest accrued at 8% annually, is due on demand and unsecured.  

 

(c) EA Homestay Inc. is a company controlled by one of the significant shareholders noted in the 

note 13(a) to the 2016 audited consolidated financial statements. In the fiscal year of 2016, EA Homestay 

Inc. paid certain expenditures in the amount of $17,218 related to the Company’s student housing services 

on behalf of the Company (2015: $41,998). As at August 31, 2016 there was $29,780 that was due from 

EA Homestay Inc. The balance, which bears interest of 8% per annum, is due on demand and unsecured. 

 

(d) Due to directors represents the director fees payable to the Company’s directors.  

 

For the years ended August 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company incurred compensation to the Company’s 

officers and directors in the amount as follows.  

 

  2016 
 

2015 

Salaries, consultant fees and other benefits $ 179,298  $            217,124 

Directors' fees  60,000  65,000 

 $ 239,298  $            282,124 

 

 

During the year ended August 31, 2016, a director of the Company has forgiven consulting fee payable of 

$40,000, of which $26,000 incurred for the year ended August 31, 2015 and $14,000 incurred for the year 

ended August 31, 2016.  

 

During the year ended August 31, 2016, one of the Shareholders of the Company has forgiven salary in 

the amount of $30,000. 

 

(e) The Company rented one property from one of the Shareholders for the Company’s student 

housing services and paid rent in the amount of $60,000 for the fiscal year of 2016 (2015 -  $90,000).  

 

(f) During the year ended August 31, 2016 the Company made an advance of $40,000 to Jiuding 

Group Inc. a company controlled by the Shareholders of the Company that is unsecured, due on demand 

and bears interest of 8% per annum. 

(g) During the year ended August 31, 2016 the Company made an advance of $98,230 to Rufeng 

International (China), a company controlled by the Shareholders of the Company that is unsecured and 

due on demand. In addition, $39,050 tuition fees of Duke College had been received by Rufeng 
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International (China) on behalf of the Company but was retained by Rufeng and was recorded as due from 

Rufeng as at August 31, 2016. The balance, which bears interest of 8% per annum, is due on demand, 

unsecured. 

 

(h) The Company expects to receive 100% of the outstanding balance and interest from the 

related parties, which is guaranteed by the Shareholders and secured by the Shareholders’ personal real 

estate asset in Toronto, by December 31, 2017 (see Note 21 to the 2016 audited consolidated financial 

statements) 

 

(i) The Company recognized interest income of $98,401 (2015 - $10,402) in the consolidated 

statements of operations related to due from related parties and promissory notes from Zhongjiu (Note 

14(b) to the audited 2016 consolidated financial statements), which all bear interest of 8% per annum. 

 

 

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 

(a) Subsequent to August 31, 2016, the Company collected $828,147 from the related parties as follows:                

                                                        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(b) On June 21, 2017, the Shareholders have personally signed a Guarantee to the Company to 

guarantee for the repayment of the loans receivable, due from related party and the receivables from 

EA Clubs before December 31, 2017. One of the Shareholders’ personal real estate assets in Toronto is 

used as collateral that has an appraisal value of $10.0 million and mortgages of $6.9 million. 

 

(c) A student housing lease agreement expired on January 31, 2017 and renewed to June 30, 2017 at 

$2,700 per month.  

 

(d) In December 2016, the Company terminated the lease of one of its premises in December 2016 

before the original term expiring on May 31, 2017. The Company will pay the landlord of the premise 

sum of $57,281. Payment of the settlement funds will occur as follows: $10,000 in June 2017, with the 

balance of $47,281 payable in nine monthly instalments of $5,000, and a final instalment of $2,281, due 

on the first business day of each month, commencing August 1, 2017. 

 

 

 Related Parties    Amounts Collected 

Shareholders   $ 151,817 

EA Homestay Inc.    30,602 

Jiuding Group (Canada)    40,934 

Rufeng International    148,902 

Zhongjiu    455,892 

Total   $ 828,147 
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments are those that have a significant risk of causing material 

adjustment and are often applied to matters or outcomes that are inherently uncertain and subject to 

change. As such, management cautions that future events often vary from forecasts and expectations and 

that estimates routinely require adjustment.  

 

Management considers the following areas to be those where the significant estimates, which may involve 

assumptions requiring the application of judgments, are used in the preparation of the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements.  

 

Evaluation of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 

 

Management has applied judgements in the assessment of the Company's ability to continue as 

a going concern when preparing these consolidated financial statements. Management prepares 

the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless management either intends 

to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. In assessing 

whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into account all 

available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from 

the end of the reporting period. The assessment of the Company’s ability to execute its strategy 

and finance the operations through achieving positive cash flow from operations or by obtaining 

additional funding through debt or equity financing involves judgments. Management monitors 

future cash requirements to assess the Company’s ability to realize assets and discharge its 

liabilities in the normal course of operations. Please refer to Note 1 to the audited 2016 

consolidated financial statements for more information.  

 

Impairment of Loans & Receivables  

 

The impairment assessment of the Company’s loans and receivables measured at amortized costs 

is based on management’s assessment of the business environment, customers’ or creditors’ 

financial conditions, historical collection experience, accounts receivable aging, customer 

disputes and the collectability of specific accounts. Estimates used to determine amount of 

impairment required involve uncertainties. If there were a deterioration of a major customer’s or 

creditors’ creditworthiness, or actual defaults were higher than the Company’s historical 

experience, estimates of the recoverability of amounts due could be overstated, which could have 

an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results.  
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Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

 

The allocation of the purchase price for acquisitions involves determining the fair values for 

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Estimation of fair values involve significant 

judgments, estimates and assumptions.  The acquisition of Duke College Inc. are most sensitive 

to the assumptions including gross margin, discount rates, and growth rate.  Please refer to Note 

7 to the 2016 audited consolidated financial statements for more information.  

 

Assets useful life and residual values 

 

Certain long-lived non-financial assets with finite lives are amortized based on the estimated 

useful life less their estimated residual value. Significant assumptions are involved in the 

determination of useful life and residual values and no assurance can be given that actual useful 

lives and residual values will not differ significantly from current assumptions. Changes to these 

estimates may affect the carrying value of these assets, net income (loss) and comprehensive 

income (loss) in future periods.  

 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets  

 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 

The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales 

transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less 

incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted 

cash flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and 

do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to or significant 

future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating unit (“CGU”) 

being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as 

well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. 

These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives 

recognized by the Company. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for 

the CGUs are disclosed and further explained in Notes 10 and 17 to the audited 2016 consolidated 

financial statements. 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND RECENT PRONOUNCEMENTS  

 

The preparation of financial data is based on accounting principles and practices consistent with those 

used in the preparation of the audited annual financial statements as at August 31, 2016 (Note 3 to the 

2016 audited consolidated financial statements). The Company’s accounting policies did not change in 

the year in 2016. 
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Future accounting standards:  

 

• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements was amended by the IASB in December 2014. The 

amendments are designed to further encourage companies to apply professional judgment in 

determining what information to disclose in their financial statements. For example, the amendments 

make clear that materiality applies to the whole of financial statements and that the inclusion of 

immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness of financial disclosures. Furthermore, the 

amendments clarify that companies should use professional judgment in determining where and in 

what order information is presented in the financial disclosures. The effective date is for annual periods 

beginning or after January 1, 2016. Entities may still choose to apply IFRS 1 immediately, but are not 

required to do so.  

 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement was issued by the IASB in October 2010 

and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single 

approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing 

the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial 

instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 

financial assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial 

liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The new standard also requires a single 

impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is available 

for application, with the mandatory effective date expected to be on or after January 1, 2018.  

 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued by the IASB in May 2014. The core principle 

of the new standard is for companies to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services 

to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration (that is, payment) to which the company 

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new standard will also result in 

enhanced disclosures about revenue, provide guidance for transactions that were not previously 

addressed comprehensively (for example, service revenue and contract modifications) and improve 

guidance for multiple-element arrangements. The effective date is for annual periods beginning or 

after January 1, 2018. Entities may still choose to apply IFRS 15 immediately, but are not required to 

do so.  

 

• IFRS 12 Income Taxes was amended by the IASB in January 2016 to clarify the recognition of deferred 

tax assets for unrealized losses. The effective date is for annual periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2017 with earlier application permitted.  

 

• IFRS 16 Leases was amended by IASB in January 2016 to eliminate the current dual accounting model 

for lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet 

operating leases. Under the new standard, a lease becomes an on-balance sheet liability that attracts 
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interest, together with a new right-of-use asset. In addition, lessees will recognize a front-loaded 

pattern of expense for most leases, even when cash rentals are constant. IFRS 16 is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier adoption permitted. 

OUTLOOK 

 

The demand and requirement for EA’s services are growing as more and more international students turn 

to Canada as a viable learning country.   

 

The Company’s business is facing some difficulties and the revenues are decreasing. The Company is 

currently reviewing its business and strategies in an effort to find better business strategies to fit into its 

future growing plan. 
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Dated:  April 30, 2018 

 

 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 

This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) reports on the operating results and financial 

conditions of EA Education Group Inc. (“EA” or the “Company”) for the period ended February 28, 2018. 

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial 

statements of the Company for the period ended February 28, 2018 and the audited consolidated 

financial statements and accompanying notes of the Company for the year ended August 31, 2017 and 

the MD&A for the year then ended. These statements have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

(“IFRIC”). Other information contained in these documents has also been prepared by management and 

is consistent with the data contained in the Financial Statements. Reference should also be made to the 

Company’s filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities which are available at www.sedar.com. 

 

This MD&A is the responsibility of management. The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility for 

the review of this disclosure directly and through its audit committee. The audit committee reviews and 

prior to its publication, approves, pursuant to the authority delegated to it by the Board of Directors, 

this disclosure. This MD&A was reviewed and approved by the audit committee and the board on April 

30, 2018. 

 

All dollars amounts referred to in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars except where indicated 

otherwise. 

 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 

Certain statements in this report may constitute forward-looking statements that are subject to certain 

risks and uncertainties. A number of important factors could cause actual outcomes and results to differ 

materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future 

events or the Company’s future performance.  All statements other than statements of historical fact 

are forward-looking statements.  The use of any of the words “continue”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, 

“believe”, “should” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  These 

statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 

results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements.  

Consequently, readers should not place any undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. In 
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addition, these forward-looking statements relate to the date on which they were made. These forward-

looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements relating to: 

 

• The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern; 

• The Company’s ability to raise additional capital through the issuance of equity or debt 

instruments; 

• The Company’s strategies and objectives; 

• General business and economic conditions; 

• The Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations as they become due; 

• The Company’s ability to identify, successful negotiate and/or finance an acquisition of a new 

business opportunity; 

• The negative cash flows from operations and financial viability of new business opportunities; 

• The Company’s ability to manage growth with respect to a new business opportunity; and 

• The Company’s tax position, anticipated tax refunds and the tax rates applicable to the 

Company. 

 

Readers are cautioned that the lists of risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors are not 

exhaustive.  Events or circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from those estimated 

or projected and expressed in, or implied by these forward looking statements. Due to the risks, 

uncertainties and assumptions inherent in forward-looking statements, investors in securities of the 

Company should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The forward-looking 

statements contained in this document are made as of the date hereof. 

 

 

OVERVIEW 

 

EA Education Group Inc. (the “Company” or “EAEG”) was incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the 

Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name “1156261 Ontario Inc.” on November 21, 1995. The 

Company changed its name to “Croesus Gold Inc.” on July 19, 1996, and continued into British Columbia 

pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on November 17, 2006 under the name 

“Croesus Gold Inc.”. On June 20, 2008, the Company changed its name to “Kenieba Goldfields Ltd.” 

(“Kenieba”) that was listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the trading symbol “KEN”. 

Its principal business at the time was to acquire, explore and develop mineral property.  

 

On February 18, 2015, Kenieba acquired 100% ownership of EA Education Group Inc. (“EAEG Private”) by 

issuing 120,000,000 common shares to the shareholders of EAEG Private. The reverse takeover (“RTO”) 

resulted in the previous shareholders of EAEG Private obtaining control of the combined entity. 

Subsequent to the acquisition, Kenieba amalgamated with EAEG Private and the new Company 

continues as the name “EA Education Group Inc.” and its stock symbol changed from “KEN” to “EA”. 
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The Company, together with its subsidiaries, used to provide international educational service and 

comprehensive student housing services in Canada, and to franchise its programs and courses to 

franchisees China. The address of the Company’s corporate office and principal place of business is 4576 

Yonge Street, Unit 600, Toronto, Ontario, M2N 6N4. Currently the Company has terminated the above 

business in education and is looking for new business.  

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

Six Months Period ended February 28, 2018 

 

The Company reported a net loss of $267,235 for the period ended February 28, 2018, compared with a 

net loss of $307,384 for the period ended February 28, 2017. Basic and diluted loss per share was $0.00 

for the period ended February 28, 2018 compared to $0.00 for the period ended February 28, 2017. 

 

Revenue 

 

For the six months period ended February 28, 2018, revenue was $309,391 compared to $562,535 

revenue the period ended February 28, 2017. The significant decrease in revenue was mainly due to the 

franchising revenues from China decreased from $93,891 in the period ended February 28, 2016 to $0 in 

the period ended February 28, 2018 due to Clubs terminated the franchising agreements with EA. The 

revenue of Duke in Canada also decreased from $468,644 in the period ended February 28, 2017 to 

$309,391 in the period ended February 28, 2018. 

 

Direct Costs 

 

For the six months period ended February 28, 2018, direct costs were $234,879 compared to $382,477 

period in the period ended February 28, 2017 mainly due to less payroll expenses in the period due to 

less courses, and less rent.  

 

Expenses 

 

For the period ended February 28, 2018, administrative expenses amounted to $406,302  compared to 

$507,893 in the period ended February 28, 2017.  The decrease was mainly due to reduced 

administrative payroll and consulting expenses after combining the EA and Duke campus office and 

laying off some administrative staff in 2017.  

 

Marketing and promotion expense of $11,604 compared to 32,595 for the period ended February 28, 

2017.  
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For the period ended February 28, 2018, the Company recorded $26,120 interest income (2017 - 

$53,046). 

 

Cash flows 

 

For the six period ended February 28, 2018, the operating activities of the Company generated a cash of 

$13,140 compared to a net use of cash of $37,727 for the period ended February 28, 2017.  

 

Three Months Period ended February 28, 2018 

 

For the three months ended February 28, 2018, the Company reported a revenue of $155,732 and a loss 

of $144,061, compared to a revenue of $260,599 and a loss of $176,443 for the three months period a 

year ago.  

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANICAL INFORMATION 

 

 

 February 28, 

2018 

August 31, 

2017 

August 31, 

2016 

Revenues  $ 309,391 816,964 1,178,207 

Net loss $ 267,235 912,814 1,460,477 

Loss per share, basic and diluted $ 0.00 0.01 0.01 

Cash $ 25,480 12,340 62,657 

Total current assets $ 869,665 447,948 1,274,112 

Total assets $ 883,599 1,246,585 2,339,877 

Total current liabilities $ 906,746 1,000,456 1,179,943 

Total long-term liabilities $ Nil Nil Nil 

 

The franchising network’s operating performance was not as expected and the revenues decreased from 

2015 to 2017 and further in the period ended February 28, 2018 was mainly due to significant decrease 

of revenue from the franchisees in China.  
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SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The Company operated in a single segment, being the provider of education programs to students in 

China and Canada. In presenting information on the basis of geographical information, segment revenue 

is based on the geographical location of the customers. A summary of geographical information for the 

Company’s revenue for the three period is as follows:  
 

    

Three months 
ended  

February 28, 
2018 

Three months 
ended  

February 28, 
2017 

Six months 
ended  

February 28, 
2018   

Six months 
ended  

February 28, 
2017 

Canada $ 155,732            215,687            309,391            $ 468,644              

China -            44,912            -            93,891            

Total $ 155,732            260,599            309,391            $ 562,535            

 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

 

   Q2'18  Q1'18  Q4'17  Q3'17 

Revenue $ 155,732 $ 153,659 $ (13,448) $ 267,877 

Net  (loss)  $ (145,972) $ (123,174) $ (421,493) $ (159,737) 

 

 
Q2'17  Q1'17  Q4'16  Q3'16 

Revenue $ 260,599 $ 301,936 $ 211,823 $ 226,560 

Net  (loss)  $ (176,443) $ (130,941) $ (942,599) $ (337,716) 

 

The Company’s business is seasonal, and the results of its operations depend significantly upon the 

nature of its services, the commencing time of student housing services and international education 

exchange events. These potential seasonality factors should also be considered together with the trend  

of the business. The Company’s student housing offering, in relation to international student services, 

are rental and sale of any homestay related services.  At present, the target geographical area of the 

service offering is in the Great Toronto Area.  

 

The revenue of the Company had been decreasing quarterly since the fourth quarter of 2015, mainly 

due to the significant decrease of revenue from China due to the franchising network did not perform as 

expected. The low revenue in the last quarter of 2017 was due to a year end adjustment of the revenue 

from China for year 2017. The net loss for the fourth quarter of 2016 was significantly higher as it 
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included a total impairment loss of $636,323 for impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and loan 

receivable. The high net loss for the third quarter of 2016 was due to low income for that quarter and 

high payroll and consulting expenses.  

 

LIQUIDITY AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS 

 

The Company had a working capital deficit of $37,081 as of February 28, 2018 (August 31, 2017 – 

$552,508). As of February 28, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of $25,480 (August 31, 2017 - 

$12,340) but had a bank indebtedness of $46,649 (August 31, 2017 - $39,802), accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities of $449,405 (August 31, 2017 - $597,824), deferred unearned revenue of $162,890 

(August 31, 2017 - $284,930) and a due to related parties of $147,802 (August 31, 2017 - $77,900). The 

Company was mainly relying on funds from private placements and repayment of debts from related 

parties. In the long run, the management plans to focus on profitability through generating revenue 

growth and improving operating cash flow. In a short period, the management has been executing a 

plan to collect the accounts receivables from customers, and to pursue the repayment of the loan 

receivable and due from related parties, to have cash to meet the bank indebtedness and accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities obligations. In the period ended February 28, 2018 the Company was able 

to collect trade receivables and payment from related parties and shareholders to supporting the 

operating. The controlling Shareholders have signed agreement to guarantee the repayment of the 

related party balances by the end of December 2018.   

 

The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the continued financial support 

from its shareholders and related parties, the ability of the Company to obtain necessary debt and 

equity financing to achieve its operating and developing objectives, and the Company’s continuance of 

profitable operations. Management will continue, as appropriate, to seek other sources of financing on 

favourable terms as required; however, there are no assurances that any such financing can be obtained 

on favourable terms, if at all. The outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time.  

 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS 

 

Operating leases: 

 

The Company has entered into various operating lease agreements for leased premises and 

rental properties for student housing in the normal course of operations, with the rents being charged 

to operations incurred during the period.  The minimum operating lease payments in successive years 

are as follows: 
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  August 31, 2017 

Within one year $ 154,358 

After one year but not more than five years  89,117 

More than five years  - 

Total Commitments  243,475 

 

The Company terminated the lease of one of its premises in December 2016 before the original term 

expiring on May 31, 2017. The Company will pay the landlord of the premise sum of $57,281. Payment 

of the settlement funds will occur as follows: $10,000 in June 2017 (paid), with the balance of $47,281 

payable in nine monthly instalments of $5,000, and a final instalment of $2,281, due on the first 

business day of each month, commencing August 1, 2017. The amounts of $42,281 have been accrued 

as accounts payable as of August 31, 2017. 

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS  

 

The Company does not enter into off-balance sheet arrangements with special purpose entities in the 

normal course of its business, nor does it have any unconsolidated affiliates.  

 

SHARE CAPITAL  

 

As at the date of this report, the Company has 174,256,868 common shares outstanding, no warrants or 

options outstanding. 

 

Securities held in escrow 

 

Pursuant to the escrow agreement, 120,000,000 common shares issued to the shareholders of EAEG 

private were escrowed subject to release only with regulatory approval to the release provisions of the 

escrow agreement. As of the date of this MDA, no more (August 31, 2017 - 18,000,000) common shares 

are held in escrow.  

 

Stock option plan 

 

Concurrent with the reverse takeover transaction, the Company adopted its existing stock option rolling 

plan to reserve 10% of issued shares for issuance to executive officers, directors, employees and 

consultants of the Company. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option is set on the date of grant 

at no less than the discount market price of the Company’s stock as determined per the CSE policy. 
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Options granted under the plan have a term not to exceed ten years and are subject to vesting 

provisions as determined by the board of directors. There were no stock options granted during the 

years ended August 31, 2017 and in the period ended February 28, 2018. There were no stock options 

outstanding as at August 31, 2017 and February 28, 2018. 

 

 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

Fair Value 

 

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value must be classified using a three-level hierarchy that reflects the 

significance and transparency of the inputs used in making the fair value measurements: 

 

• Level 1 - inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active markets;  

• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or  

liability, either directly or indirectly; and  

• Level 3 - one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique to determine fair value are 

unobserved.  

 

The carrying amount of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, due to and due 

from related parties, loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair 

values because of the short-term nature of these financial instruments. 

 

Risks 

 

Please refer to the Note 15 to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the 

year ended August 31, 2017 for the risks and risk management. There has been no material change to 

the Company’s risk and risk management activities since 2017. 

 

Capital Management 

 

The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure sufficient liquidity to support its financial 

obligations and raise the necessary equity financing to execute its operating and strategic growth plans. 

In the management of capital, the Company includes items in shareholders’ equity (excluding 

accumulated other comprehensive income) in the definition of capital. The Company manages the 

capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on 

capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to 
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sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors oversees the Company’s capital 

structure and financial management, approves matters related to acquisitions, investments and 

financing and continuously monitors the Company’s exposure to financial risks.  

 

The Company is still currently in its development stage, and has not paid dividends on any occasion, but 

has instead reinvested the generated cash mainly to finance ongoing development activities and thereby 

create growth for the Company. As such, the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its 

activities. In order to carry out the planned business expansion and pay for administrative costs, the 

Company will spend its funds available and raise additional amounts as needed.  

 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 

approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 

 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

The Company defines related parties to include significant shareholders, key management and officers 

and directors, as well as companies controlled by them. 

  

 

The Company defines related parties to include significant shareholders, key management and 

officers and directors, as well as companies controlled by them.  

  

February 28, 

2018  

 

August 31, 

2017 

Due to directors and officers (a) $ (74,900) $ (77,900) 

Due to Shareholders (a)  (72,902)  - 

Due to related parties  $ (147,802) $ (77,900) 

 

 

(a) Due to directors and officers represents the director fees payable to the Company’s directors 

Mr. Zu Zheng, Mr. Simon Tam, and Mr. Stan Grunsenweig, and consulting fees payable to a company 

controlled by the CFO of the Company.  

 

During the six months ended February 28, 2018 the Company accrued $6,000 (2017 - $6,000) director 

fee for each of the above three directors, and $30,000 (2017 - $30,000) to the CFO of the Company. 

 

During the six months period ended February 28, 2018 the Company paid $60,000 (2017 - $60,000) to 

Wen Xu the Chairman of the Company and $39,000 (2017 - $39,000) to the Weidong Wang the CEO of 

the Company (the “Shareholders”), and paid each of the Shareholders $6,000 director fees (2017 - 

$6,000). 
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As at August 31, 2017 the Company had $253,060 trade accounts receivable from the EA Clubs that was 

guaranteed by the Shareholders. In the six months period ended February 28, 2018 the Shareholders 

has repaid the amount in full for the EA Clubs.   

 

(b) The Company rented one property from one of the Shareholders in 2017 for the Company’s 

student housing services and paid rent in the amount of $nil for the period ended February 28, 2018 

(2017 -  $15,000).  

 

(c) The Company recognized interest income of $26,120 for the six months ended February 28, 

2018 (2017 - $53,046) in the consolidated statements of operations related to due from related parties 

and promissory notes from Zhongjiu (Note 8), which all bear interest of 8% per annum. 

 

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

(a) On December 22, 2017 the Company has entered into a conditional sale and purchase 

agreement (“the Agreement”) among the Company and Duke (collectively, the “Sellers”) and Dong-An 

Educational Services Canada Inc. (the “Purchaser”) that contemplates the sale to the Purchaser of 100% 

of the issued shares of Duke held by the Company (“Sale Shares”). The aggregate purchase price to be 

paid for the Sale Shares is $258,000, of which $100,000 has already been paid for the period ended  

February 28, 2017 and the balance of $158,000 is payable as follows: $100,000 is payable approximately 

one month after the date of Closing expected to be April 30, 2018; and $58,000 is payable 

approximately two months after the date of Closing. In the period the Company also recovered $50,039 

from the Purchaser recorded as a recovery of expenses for the transition period. 

 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments are those that have a significant risk of causing material 

adjustment and are often applied to matters or outcomes that are inherently uncertain and subject to 

change. As such, management cautions that future events often vary from forecasts and expectations 

and that estimates routinely require adjustment.  

 

Management considers the following areas to be those where the significant estimates, which may 

involve assumptions requiring the application of judgments, are used in the preparation of the 

Company’s consolidated financial statements.  

 

 

February 28, February 28,

2018 2017

Salaries, consultant fees and 

other benefits 129,000$      119,000$      

Directors' fees 30,000          30,000          

159,000$      149,000$      
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Evaluation of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 

 

Management has applied judgements in the assessment of the Company's ability to continue as 

a going concern when preparing these consolidated financial statements. Management prepares 

the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless management either 

intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. In 

assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, management takes into 

account all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not limited to, twelve 

months from the end of the reporting period. The assessment of the Company’s ability to 

execute its strategy and finance the operations through achieving positive cash flow from 

operations or by obtaining additional funding through debt or equity financing involves 

judgments. Management monitors future cash requirements to assess the Company’s ability to 

realize assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations. Please refer to Note 

1 to the audited 2017 consolidated financial statements for more information.  

 

Impairment of Loans & Receivables  

 

The impairment assessment of the Company’s loans and receivables measured at amortized 

costs is based on management’s assessment of the business environment, customers’ or 

creditors’ financial conditions, historical collection experience, accounts receivable aging, 

customer disputes and the collectability of specific accounts. Estimates used to determine 

amount of impairment required involve uncertainties. If there were a deterioration of a major 

customer’s or creditors’ creditworthiness, or actual defaults were higher than the Company’s 

historical experience, estimates of the recoverability of amounts due could be overstated, which 

could have an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results.  

 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets  

 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in 

use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is based on available data from binding sales 

transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market prices less 

incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a 

discounted cash flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next 

five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Company is not yet committed to 

or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash 

generating unit (“CGU”) being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate 

used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for 

extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles 
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with indefinite useful lives recognized by the Company. The key assumptions used to determine 

the recoverable amount for the CGUs are disclosed and further explained in Notes 10 and 17 to 

the audited 2016 consolidated financial statements. 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND RECENT PRONOUNCEMENTS  

 

The preparation of financial data is based on accounting principles and practices consistent with those 

used in the preparation of the audited annual financial statements as at August 31, 2017 (Note 3 to the 

2017 audited consolidated financial statements). The Company’s accounting policies did not change in 

the year 2017 and in the period ended February 28, 2018. 

 

Future accounting standards:  

 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement was issued by the IASB in October 2010 

and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single 

approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, 

replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its 

financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the financial assets. Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and 

measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The new standard also 

requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 

39. IFRS 9 is available for application, with the mandatory effective date expected to be on or after 

January 1, 2018.  

 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued by the IASB in May 2014. IFRS 15 was 

issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue 

arising from contracts with customers.  IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition 

guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations 

when it becomes effective.   

 The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of 

promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 

entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  Specifically, the standard 

introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:  

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
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o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 

o Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

 Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 

when 'control' of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is 

transferred to the customer.  Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with 

specific scenarios.  Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.   

 In 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance 

obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance. 

The application of IFRS is mandatory for annual reporting periods starting from 1 January 2018. The 

Company will apply this standard for the year starting from September 1, 2018. The management of 

the Company is in the process of assessing the potential impacts of IFRS 15 in respect of the 

Company’s contracts with students in Canada and franchisees in China, in particular, the 

identification of performance obligations under IFRS 15 and the allocation of total consideration 

(including tuition fees, student housing fee, franchising fee, courses and program fees, and student 

membership fees) to the respective performance obligations that will be based on relative fair values. 

A preliminary assessment is the application of the standard will not result into significant quantitative 

impact on the financial statements of the Company, but will result into more disclosures on the 

financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable and reliable estimate of 

the effect of IFRS 15 until the Company performs a detailed review. 

OUTLOOK 

 

The demand and requirement for EA’s services are growing as more and more international students 

turn to Canada as a viable learning country.   

 

The Company’s business is facing some difficulties and the revenues are decreasing. The Company is 

currently reviewing its business and strategies in an effort to find better business strategies to fit into its 

future growing plan. 

 

The National Instrument 51-102 requires the Company to discuss in its MD&A events and circumstances 

that occurred during the period to which the MD&A relates that are reasonably likely to cause actual 

results to differ materially from material forward-looking information for a period that is not yet 

complete that the reporting issuer previously disclose to the public. The management believes that the 

fact that some EA clubs had terminated their agreements and cooperation with the Company is such an 

event and circumstance, that will cause the actual results of the operating of the year 2017 and the 

coming few years greatly different from what had been previously forecasted and disclosed to the 

public.  
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